# **ROLE OF SUBSTANCE P IN SEPSIS**

## **AKHIL HEGDE**

M.Pharm. (Pharmacology), M.Sc. (Pharmacy) (NUS)

## A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

# DEPARTMENT OF PHARMACOLOGY NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express utmost gratitude to my supervisor, Associate Professor Madhav Bhatia, for his invaluable guidance, training, constant encouragement and unwavering support throughout the project. With his rich experience and positive outlook towards scientific research, he has been a great source of inspiration. Under the able guidance and vision of Prof. Bhatia, I was able to design, execute, analyze the data of this project and prepare this dissertation. I would also like to thank my co-supervisor, Associate Professor Shabbir Moochhala, DSO National Laboratories, for his valuable time and personal attention. He helped me with his immense knowledge and valuable insights on polymicrobial sepsis and kindly allowed me to use the Operation Theatre and Animal Holding Facility at DSO.

I am indebted to the National University of Singapore for allowing me to pursue my graduate program. My sincere gratitude to the Head of Pharmacology, Prof. Peter Wong, for all the help and support. It was a privilege to carry out this work in the Dept. of Pharmacology, NUS. I would like to thank all the friends and colleagues in the group and the Dept. for their help in one way or the other; it was a pleasure working with you all. My special thanks to our lab officer and friend Ms. Shoon Mei Leng for all the technical, logistic and moral support. Without her this research work would not have been such a smooth sail. I would also like to extend my gratitude to the staff of DSO National Laboratories for their help at various stages of this project.

Finally, I wish to thank my parents and wife for their warm support, love, encouragement and sacrifices so that I could come so far in life.

June 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2009

#### Akhil Hegde

i

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	i
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	viii
SUMMARY	X
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
ABBREVIATIONS	XV
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 General overview	1
1.2 Literature review	2
1.2.1 Polymicrobial sepsis	2
1.2.1.1 Pathophysiology of polymicrobial sepsis	3
1.2.1.2 Dysregulated coagulation	5
1.2.1.3 Endothelial cell dysfunction	5
1.2.1.4 Inflammatory mediators in sepsis	6
1.2.1.4.1 Chemokines	6
<b>1.2.1.4.2</b> Cytokines	7
1.2.1.4.3 Novel cytokines	8
1.2.1.4.3.1 High mobility group box-1(HMGB-1)	8
1.2.1.4.3.2 Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF)	9
<b>1.2.1.4.3.3 Receptor for advanced glycation end products</b> (RAGE)	9
1.2.1.4.4 Nitric Oxide (NO)	9
1.2.1.4.5 Carbon monoxide (CO)	10
1.2.1.4.6 Hydrogen sulphide (H <sub>2</sub> S)	11

1.2.2 Substance P (SP)	11
1.2.3 Nuclear factor-кВ (NF-кВ) transcription factor	14
1.2.3.1 The NF-κB family	14
1.2.3.2 Activation of NF-кВ	15
1.2.3.3 NF-кB and diseases	16
1.2.4 Activator protein-1 (AP-1) transcription factor	16
1.2.5 Mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs)	17
1.2.6 Animal models of sepsis	18
1.3 Objectives	19
CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	20
2.1 Materials	
2.2 Animal Ethics	
2.3 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis	
2.4 Myeloperoxidase estimation	
2.5 ELISA analysis	
2.6 Histopathology	
2.7 Substance P estimation	
2.8 Nitric oxide measurement	
2.9 Preparation of nuclear extract	
2.10 NF-κB DNA-binding activity	
2.11 AP-1 DNA-binding activity	
2.12 Western blot experiment	
2.13 RNA isolation and quantification	
2.14 Semiquantitative Reverse transcriptase - polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)	
2.15 Microarray experiments	
2.16 Microarray data analysis	

CHAPTER 3. NEUROKININ-1 RECEPTOR ANTAGONIST TREATMENT IN POLYMICROBIAL SEPSIS		
3.1 Introduction	32	
3.2 Materials and Methods	33	
3.2.1 Animal Ethics	33	
3.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis	33	
3.2.3 Myeloperoxidase estimation	34	
3.2.4 Histopathology	34	
3.2.5 ELISA analysis of chemokines, cytokines and adhesion molecules	34	
3.2.6 Statistical analysis	34	
3.3 Results	35	
3.3.1 Effect of SR140333 treatment on neutrophil sequestration in lung in CLP mice	35	
3.3.2 Effect of SR140333 treatment on chemokine levels in lung	35	
3.3.3 Effect of SR140333 treatment on cytokine levels in lung	40	
3.3.4 Effect of SR140333 treatment on adhesion molecules in lung	45	
3.4 Discussion	50	
CHAPTER 4. MECHANISTIC STUDIES	55	
4.1 Introduction		
4.2 Materials and Methods	56	
4.2.1 Animal Ethics	56	
4.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis	56	
4.2.3 Preparation of nuclear extract	57	
4.2.4 NF-κB DNA-binding activity	57	

4.2.5 AP-1 DNA-binding activity 57

4.2.6 Western blot experiment	57
4.2.7 RNA isolation and quantification	57
4.2.8 Semiquantitative RT-PCR	57
4.2.9 Substance P estimation	59
4.2.10 Nitric oxide measurement	59
4.2.11 Statistical analysis	59
4.3 Results	59
4.3.1 Effect of SR140333 treatment on lung NF-кВ activation after sepsis	59
4.3.2 Effect of SR140333 treatment on lung AP-1 activation after sepsis	62
4.3.3 Effect of SR140333 treatment on MAPKs and PKCa in sepsis	62
4.3.4 Effect of SR140333 treatment on lung NK receptors after sepsis	66
4.3.5 Effect of SR140333 treatment on SP levels in sepsis	66
4.3.6 Effect of SR140333 treatment on NO levels in sepsis	66
4.4 Discussion	66

#### **CHAPTER 5. NEUROKININ-2 RECEPTOR ANTAGONIST TREATMENT IN POLYMICROBIAL SEPSIS** 77 5.1 Introduction 77 5.2 Materials and Methods 78 5.2.1 Animal Ethics 78 5.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis 78 5.2.3 Myeloperoxidase estimation 78 79 5.2.4 ELISA analysis 5.2.5 Statistical analysis 79 5.3 Results 79 5.3.1 Effect of GR159897 treatment on neutrophil sequestration in lung after CLP 79 surgery 5.3.2 Effect of GR159897 treatment on lung chemokine levels in septic mice 79

5.3.3 Effect of GR159897 treatment on lung cytokine levels in septic mice	81
5.4 Discussion	
CHAPTER 6. PPTA GENE DELETION AND POLYMICROBIAL SEPSIS	85
6.1 Introduction	85
6.2 Materials and Methods	86
6.2.1 Animal Ethics	86
6.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis	86
6.2.3 RNA isolation and quantification	86
6.2.4 Microarray experiments	87
6.2.5 Microarray data analysis	87
6.2.6 Semiquantitative Reverse transcriptase - polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)	87
6.2.7 ELISA analysis	89
6.2.8 Statistics	89
6.3 Results	89
6.3.1 Microarray quality control	89
6.3.2 Inflammatory gene profile of wild-type septic mice	90
6.3.3 Inflammatory gene profile of <i>PPTA<sup>-/-</sup></i> septic mice	96
6.3.4 Semiquantitative RT-PCR data	97
6.3.5 IL-1ra protein levels after sepsis	97
6.3.6 Pathway analysis of differentially expressed genes	103
6.4 Discussion	103
CHAPTER 7. PLASMA CYTOKINE PROFILE IN PPTA <sup>-/-</sup> MICE	114
7.1 Introduction	
7.2 Materials and Methods	

7.2.1 Animal Ethics 115

7.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis	115
7.2.3 Plasma cytokine profile using bead array	116
7.2.4 Statistics	119
7.3 Results	119
7.3.1 Cytokine profile as a function of time for the sham groups	119
7.3.2 Cytokine profile as a function of time for the Balb/c septic mice	127
7.3.3 Cytokine profile as a function of time for the <i>PPTA</i> <sup>-/-</sup> septic mice	127
7.3.4 Comparative cytokine profiles for the <i>PPTA<sup>-/-</sup></i> and wild-type septic mice	127
7.3.4.1 Pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles	128
7.3.4.2 Anti-inflammatory cytokine profiles	129
7.4 Discussion	129
CHAPTER 8. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	134

8.1 Concluding remarks	134
8.2 Future directions	137

CHAPTER 9. BIBLIOGRAPHY	138
-------------------------	-----

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

**Hegde, A.**, Zhang, H., Moochhala, S. M., and Bhatia, M. (2007) Neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist treatment protects mice against lung injury in polymicrobial sepsis. *J Leukoc Biol.* 82(3): 678-85.

**Hegde, A.**, Uttamchandani, M., Moochhala, S. M., and Bhatia, M. (2009) Plasma cytokine profile in *preprotachykinin-A*<sup>-/-</sup> mice in sepsis. (*In communication*)

**Hegde, A.**, Tamizhselvi, R., Manikandan, J., Melendez, A. J., Moochhala, S. M., and Bhatia, M. (2009) Substance P in polymicrobial sepsis: molecular fingerprint of lung injury in *preprotachykinin-A*<sup>-/-</sup> mice. (*In communication*)

**Hegde, A.**, Koh, Y. H., Moochhala, S. M., and Bhatia, M. (2009) Neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist treatment in polymicrobial sepsis in mice: molecular insights of protection. (*In communication*)

Puneet, P., **Hegde, A.**, Ng, S. W., Lau, H. Y., Lu, J., Moochhala, S. M., and Bhatia, M. (2006) *Preprotachykinin-A* gene products are key mediators of lung injury in polymicrobial sepsis. *J Immunol.* 176(6):3813-20.

Zhang, H., **Hegde, A.**, Ng, S. W., Adhikari, S., Moochhala, S. M., and Bhatia, M. (2007) Hydrogen sulfide up-regulates substance P in polymicrobial sepsis-associated lung injury. *J Immunol.* 179(6):4153-60.

Ng, S. W., Zhang, H., **Hegde, A.,** and Bhatia, M. (2008) Role of *preprotachykinin-A* gene products on multiple organ injury in LPS-induced endotoxemia. *J Leukoc Biol.* 83: 288-295.

Bhatia, M., and **Hegde, A**. (2007) Treatment with antileukinate, a CXCR2 chemokine receptor antagonist, protects mice against acute pancreatitis and associated lung injury. *Regul. Pept.* 138(1):40-8.

**Hegde, A.**, and Bhatia, M. (2005) Neurogenic inflammation in acute pancreatitis. *JOP*. 6(5):417-21.

Bhatia, M., Sun, J., He, M., Hegde, A., Ramnath, R. D. (2007) *Chemokines in Acute Pancreatitis*. Nova Science Publishers, Inc., New York. 103-116.

## **POSTER PRESENTATION**

**Hegde, A.,** Moochhala, S. M., and Bhatia, M. (2008) "Neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist treatment alleviates CLP-induced polymicrobial sepsis in mice, acting via NF-κB". FASEB J. 22, no. 918.5. San Diego: FASEB J. (EB 2008, 5 - 9 April 2008, San Diego, United States).

## SUMMARY

The pro-inflammatory neuropeptide substance P (SP) is known to play an important role in the pathophysiology of various inflammatory diseases. *Preprotachykinin-A* gene knock-out (*PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup>) mice (lacking SP) are shown to be protected against polymicrobial sepsis. The aim of this study was to evaluate the role of SP in polymicrobial sepsis and associated lung injury and understand the molecular mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of this serious inflammatory disorder.

Pharmacological blocking of the neurokinin receptors with SR140333, a highly potent and selective antagonist of the neurokinin-1 receptors (NK-1R), and GR159897, a neurokinin-2 receptor (NK-2R) antagonist, were studied 8 h after cecal ligation and puncture surgery that induced polymicrobial sepsis in mice. Lung tissue was collected and analyzed for myeloperoxidase activity, histology, chemokines, cytokines and adhesion molecules. Transcription factors nuclear factor kappa B (NF- $\kappa$ B) and activator protein-1 (AP-1) were analyzed to elucidate the mechanism involved. A beneficial effect of treatment with SR140333, but not GR159897, in lung injury in sepsis was observed. NK-1R blocking lowered leukocyte infiltration and lung levels of chemokines, cytokines and adhesion molecules. The mechanistic studies revealed that the inhibition of SP action was mediated through NK-1R and the downstream signaling cascade involving protein kinase C alpha (PKC $\alpha$ ) and NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1 transcription factors modulated the pro-inflammatory mediators in polymicrobial sepsis. The combined data provided further support for the role of SP in polymicrobial sepsis.

In addition to the use of neurokinin receptor blockers, PPTA gene knock-out mice were

subjected to polymicrobial sepsis in order to understand the immunological basis of protection enjoyed by these mice lacking SP. Affymetrix high-density oligonucleotide arrays were used for lung gene expression profiling. Genes that were either consistently increased or decreased were shortlisted and semi-quantitative reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) were used to validate the results for selected differentially expressed genes. Multiplexed bead-based suspension arrays were employed for the time-course measurement of a set of plasma cytokines. Elevated levels of pro- and anti-inflammatory gene and protein expression were observed in the early stages of sepsis in *PPTA* gene knock-out mice. This may help in resolving the infection without excessive immunosuppression in *PPTA* gene knock-out mice. Additional antimicrobial mediators that were observed in the study might have further supported in restoring and maintaining the delicate balance of inflammatory forces.

# **LIST OF TABLES**

		Page no.
Table 4.1	Primer sequences and optimal conditions used in	U
	PCR analysis	58
Table 6.1	Primer sequences and optimal conditions used in	
	PCR analysis	88
Table 6.2	Differentially expressed genes in wild-type and <i>PPTA<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice	
	8 h after cecal ligation and puncture (CLP)-induced sepsis	92
Table 7.1	Bead-analyte association-Procarta Mouse Cytokine	
	Assay Kit	118

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

		Page no.
Fig. 2.1	Cecal Ligation and Puncture	22
Fig. 3.1	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung neutrophil infiltration	36
Fig. 3.2	Morphological changes in H & E stained mouse lung on	
	induction of sepsis	37
Fig. 3.3	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung MIP-2 and RANTES levels in mice	38
Fig. 3.4	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung and plasma MCP-1 levels in mice	41
Fig. 3.5	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines,	
	IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ , in mice	43
Fig. 3.6	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung levels of adhesion molecules, ICAM-1	
	and VCAM-1, in mice	46
Fig. 3.7	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung levels of adhesion molecules, E-selectin	1
	and P-selectin, in mice	48
Fig. 4.1	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung NF-κB DNA-binding activity and IκB-α	X
	level	60
Fig. 4.2	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung AP-1 activity	63
Fig. 4.3	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung Phospho ERK1/2 and Phospho-PKC $\alpha$	64
Fig. 4.4	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
	1 h after CLP, on lung NK-1R and NK-2R mRNA levels	67
Fig. 4.5	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
<b>D</b> : 4 ¢	1 h after CLP, on plasma and lung SP levels	69
F1g. 4.6	Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or	
<b>D</b> ' <b>5</b> 1	I h after CLP, on plasma and lung NO levels	71
Fig. 5.1	Effect of GR159897 administration 1 h after CLP on lung	0.0
<b>D</b> : <b>50</b>	neutrophil infiltration	80
Fig. 5.2	Effect of GR15989/ administration 1 h after CLP on lung	00
<b>D</b> <sup>1</sup> <b>C 2</b>	MIP-2 and MCP-1 levels	82
F1g. 5.3	Effect of GR159897 administration 1 h after CLP on lung	02
$\Gamma^{\prime}$ (1)	IL-Ip and IL-6 levels	83
F1g. 6.1	The box-whisker plot of distribution of normalized intensity	01
$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{C}$	values for each sample	91
г1g. 0.2	runnonary inflammatory and chemotaxis gene transcripts in	00
Eig 62	What type and <i>PP1A</i> mice	98 102
FIG. 0.3	Protein levels of IL-ITA in wild-type and PPIA mice	102
г1g. 0.4	rioposed biological network of differentially expressed genes	104
	in sepsis	104

Fig. 7.1	Schematic workflow of multiplex immunoassay	117
Fig. 7.2	Plasma pro-inflammatory cytokine profile in wild-type and	
	<i>PPTA<sup>-/-</sup></i> septic mice	120
Fig. 7.3	Plasma anti-inflammatory cytokine profile in wild-type and	
	<i>PPTA<sup>-/-</sup></i> septic mice	125
Fig. 8.1	Schematic representation of role of SP in polymicrobial sepsis	135

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

AP-1	activator protein-1
CLP	cecal ligation and puncture
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ERKs	extracellular signal regulated kinases
HMGB-1	high mobility group box-1
IKK	inhibitor kappa B kinase
IL-	interleukin
IL-1ra	interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
JNKs	Jun-N terminal kinases
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MAPKs	mitogen activated protein kinases
МСР	monocyte chemoattractant protein
MIF	macrophage migration inhibitory factor
MIP	macrophage inflammatory protein
MPO	myeloperoxidase
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa B
NK	neurokinin
NO	nitric oxide
РКСа	protein kinase C alpha
PPTA <sup>-/-</sup>	preprotachykinin-A knockout
RAGE	receptor for advanced glycation end products
RANTES	regulated upon activation normal T cell expressed and secreted
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction
s.c	subcutaneous
SEM	standard error of mean
SP	substance P
TLRs	toll-like receptors
TNF	tumor necrosis factor

# **CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION**

## 1.1 General overview

Patients with severe burns, hemorrhage, traumatic injury or abdominal surgery are highly vulnerable to pathogens and opportunistic infections. In addition, critically ill, elderly, pediatric and post-operational patients in the intensive care unit are also susceptible to infections. A minor wound infection in these patients can easily end up in sepsis (Kobayashi et al., 2006). In the United States alone, approximately 750000 people develop sepsis annually and one third of them die of the resulting multiple organ failure (Angus et al., 2001). The incidence of sepsis has been estimated to increase by 1.5% every year with a current annual cost of \$16.7 billion for sepsis treatment in the USA (Angus et al., 2001; Martin et al., 2003). Sepsis has a high death rate (30-47%) especially in immunocompromised conditions such as patients with malignancies, organ transplants or AIDS (Kobayashi et al., 2006; Riedemann et al., 2003). Even in this modern era of medical science, sepsis associated complications are the most common cause of fatalities in the intensive care units. Predominantly supportive treatment, with no effective therapies so far, helps little in reducing the mortality rate of sepsis (Ness et al., 2004).

Sepsis is the intense systemic inflammatory response syndrome caused usually by bacterial infection (Ashare *et al.*, 2005). When the immune defenses of the body fail to eliminate pathogens, infection spreads through blood circulation. The resultant production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines leads to recruitment of neutrophils, tissue damage and multiple organ failure (Ness *et al.*, 2004). However, it is the subsequent excessive production of anti-inflammatory mediators that induces

immunosuppression and fatalities in sepsis (Ashare *et al.*, 2005; van der Poll and Deventer 1999). Balance between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators plays an important role in the pathophysiology of sepsis.

Sepsis is generally caused by mixed infection (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008) and multiple mediators have been reported to be involved in the development of sepsis (Okazaki and Matsukawa 2009; Marshall *et al.*, 2003). Substance P (SP), a *preprotachykinin-A* (*PPTA*) gene product, is an immunoregulatory neuropeptide implicated in various inflammatory diseases. Recent literature reports illustrate evidence of a role for SP in acute pancreatitis, endotoxemia, and polymicrobial sepsis (Ramnath *et al.*, 2006; Ng *et al.*, 2008; Puneet *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2007). However understanding the molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications of the role of SP in sepsis and associated lung injury remains a challenge.

## **1.2 Literature review**

### **1.2.1 Polymicrobial sepsis**

Sepsis is a state of systemic inflammatory response syndrome with a known focus of infection resulting from bacteria, virus, fungus or parasites (Matsuda and Hattori, 2006). Severe sepsis refers to sepsis with at least one organ or organ system dysfunction and septic shock is severe sepsis associated with hypotension (Remick 2007). A staging system has been developed for sepsis based on 4 characteristics represented by the acronym PIRO: P- for the predisposition (pre-existing co-morbid conditions); I- for the insult/infection (clinical knowledge about the pathogen); R- for the response to the infectious challenge (including the development of systemic

inflammatory response syndrome); and O- for organ dysfunction (including coagulation cascade) (Levy *et al.*, 2003).

Sepsis is a common, expensive and often fatal clinical illness caused by an imbalance in the inflammatory response of the body mainly against sustained and overwhelming bacterial infection. The initial pro-inflammatory response to eliminate pathogens is followed by an excessive production of anti-inflammatory mediators that also contributes to the pathophysiology of sepsis (Ashare *et al.*, 2005; Reddy *et al.*, 2001; van der Poll and Deventer 1999). Sepsis is manifested by a varying degree of low blood pressure, coagulopathy, reduced oxygen supply to the tissues and often multiple organ failure. Hemodynamic features of sepsis include cardiovascular instability, reduced ejection fraction and decreased systemic vascular resistance (Wilson *et al.*, 1998).

#### 1.2.1.1 Pathophysiology of polymicrobial sepsis

Pathophysiology of polymicrobial sepsis is generally agreed to be complex and so far no single mediator/system/pathway/pathogen has been reported to drive this multifactorial disease on its own (Remick 2007). It comprises a continuum of clinical and pathophysiological severity induced by a score of pathogens (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008). Although recently gram-positive infections have been documented to be more frequent (Martin *et al.*, 2003), both gram-positive and gram-negative sepsis are common (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008). *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Escherichia coli* are the most common causes of sepsis and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is reported to be the most lethal (Vincent *et al.*, 2000). But many cases of sepsis are due to mixed infection and polymicrobial in origin. Several facets of the interaction between host and pathogen must be considered before unraveling the immune events leading to sepsis. The survival of the host depends on its recognition of invading organism and a quick response. The innate immune response is the primary line of defence against infectious assault. The innate defenses of the host immune system such as neutrophils, macrophages and natural killer cells recognize biochemical patterns displayed by pathogens and trigger active responses either directly or by releasing cytokines or by activating T and B cells. Innate immune system utilizes pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) to recognize these highly conserved pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as bacterial cell-wall components (lipopolysaccharide, LPS) and peptidoglycans. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are a family of pattern-recognition receptors present on mammalian macrophages, dendritic cells and other cells triggering innate immune responses. So far 10 TLRs have been identified with TLR-4 being the first in 1997. TLR-4s recognize endotoxin (LPS) while TLR-2s detect peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acid (Beutler 2002). Once activated, TLRs trigger a cascade of cellular signals and engage a sequence of cytoplasmic interaction that result in activation of transcription factor NF-KB and transcription of target genes (Wiersinga and van der Poll 2007). The resulting gene products act on T and B cells to initiate adaptive immunity. However under pathological conditions, this activation may lead to septic shock as heavy load of pathogens can induce massive quantities of inflammatory cytokines and activation of innate immunity throughout the host. Innate immune sensing is beneficial to the host when the bacterial inoculum is limited, but with massive systemic bacterial contamination the innate immune sensing could be damaging (Beutler 2002).

#### 1.2.1.2 Dysregulated coagulation

Although the coagulation system is not conventionally a part of the immune response to pathogens, both are linked closely in sepsis (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008). Septic patients reportedly have coagulation abnormalities, endothelial cell injury and abnormal blood flow (Remick 2007). The clotting system is activated by the invading pathogens in the blood stream along with a down-regulation of anticoagulant system and fibrinolysis (Wiersinga and van der Poll 2007). Thrombus and clot formation is promoted which in turn leads to more inflammation (Schouten et al., 2008). Although limited intravascular coagulation benefits survival by walling off the damaged and infected tissue, disseminated intravascular coagulation leads to microvascular clogging and impaired organ perfusion (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008; Opal 2004). Thus it is important to limit excessive coagulopathic damage and simultaneously maintain localized clot formation (Esmon 2000). Recombinant human activated protein C (APC) has been introduced as a therapeutic intervention for its anti-coagulant and antiinflammatory properties (Bernard et al., 2001). It is also reported to inhibit neutrophil chemotaxis and NF-KB activation (Amaral et al., 2004). However it is not useful in all septic patients and the beneficial effects are still not completely convincing (Eichacker et al., 2006).

#### 1.2.1.3 Endothelial cell dysfunction

The blocking of peripheral blood vessels and the resulting ischaemia leads to endothelial cell damage (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008). It is worsened by the direct bacterial invasion and loss of barrier function. Platelets bind to the damaged surface resulting in platelet and fibrin accumulation and adhesion molecules attract neutrophils leading to endothelial disruption and plasma extravasations (Remick 2007). However endothelial cells have not been shown to undergo apoptosis during sepsis in *in vivo* animal models (Hotchkiss *et al.*, 2001).

#### **1.2.1.4 Inflammatory mediators in sepsis**

The inflammatory response is an integral part of sepsis. An ideal situation is when the inflammatory response eliminates the infectious assault without harming the host. Inflammatory mediators such as chemokines, cytokines, adhesion molecules, nitric oxide, hydrogen sulfide, SP have been reported to play varied roles in the progression of sepsis. A balance between anti- and pro-inflammatory mediators is crucial in deciding the outcome of sepsis.

#### 1.2.1.4.1 Chemokines

Chemokines are a family of small (8-14 kDa), inducible cytokines secreted by a variety of cells. They play a crucial role in trafficking and recruiting antibacterial leukocytes to the primary sites of innate immune response. Chemokines are classified into 4 subfamilies depending on the relative position of cysteine residues. CC and CXC chemokines are the most widely studied peptides in sepsis. Chemokines produced by bacterial infections play an important role on the improvement or impairment of host antibacterial resistances. While chemokines help to boost the host defenses against invading pathogens, overwhelming levels of the same can lead to the pathogenesis of sepsis. Chemokines bind to a family of G protein-coupled transmembrane receptors on the surface of leukocytes (Ramnath *et al.*, 2006). CCR1, CCR2, CCR4, CXCR1 and CXCR2 are the important chemokine receptors in sepsis.

Chemokine production is increased in animals and humans exposed to pathogens. CXCL8 (interleukin-8, IL-8) systemic levels are reported to be elevated in humans during bacterial sepsis (Aalto *et al.*, 2004). Similarly, plasma levels of CXCL9 (monokine-induced by interferon- $\gamma$ , MIG) (Shin *et al.*, 2003), CCL2 (monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, MCP-1) (Bossink *et al.*, 1995), CCL3 (macrophage inflammatory protein-1 $\alpha$ , MIP-1 $\alpha$ ) (O'Grady *et al.*, 1999), CCL4 (MIP-1 $\beta$ ) (O'Grady *et al.*, 1999; Proulx *et al.*, 2002) and CCL8 (MCP-2) (Bossink *et al.*, 1995) were demonstrated to increase during sepsis. Our group has also reported elevated levels of chemokines in polymicrobial sepsis (Puneet et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2007). In this perspective, various chemokine receptor antagonists have been tried and tested in animal models of sepsis and found to be promising.

#### **1.2.1.4.2** Cytokines

Cytokines are soluble, low-molecular-weight glycoproteins that are synthesized and released in response to tissue damage. Inflammatory mediators released in sepsis are aimed to enhance leukocyte trafficking to the site of infection. Neutrophil mediates clearance of bacteria, but if the neutrophil transmigration is unchecked, significant organ damage may occur by the release of pro-inflammatory granules and enzymes (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008). Activation of TLRs by microorganisms triggers a signaling cascade culminating in the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and transcription of various pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), IL-1 and IL-6 coordinate the initiation of acute phase response in sepsis (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008). The acute phase response that is triggered by the pathogen recognition is important for survival in sepsis. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 exert profound effects on the endothelium, vasculature and coagulation cascade. TNF- $\alpha$  acting through type I and II TNF receptors results in further NF- $\kappa$ B mediated transcription of pro-inflammatory mediators.

The host simultaneously produces anti-inflammatory mediators such as IL-10, sTNFRs to counter-balance the pro-inflammatory response. Mechanisms of the anti-inflammatory response have not been clearly understood so far (Reddy *et al.*, 2001).

#### 1.2.1.4.3 Novel cytokines

Recently, two soluble cytokines and a transmembrane receptor (discussed below) have also been identified as a critical mediator of sepsis.

#### 1.2.1.4.3.1 High Mobility Group Box-1 (HMGB-1)

HMGB-1, a nonhistone, nuclear DNA-binding protein involved in gene transcription, is reported as a late mediator of sepsis (Cinel and Opal 2009). Elevated levels of HMGB-1 are detected in septic patients and are correlated with the degree of organ dysfunction (Sundén-Cullberg et al., 2005; Gibot et al., 2007). When released in large quantities into the extracellular environment in sepsis, it can have harmful proinflammatory effects (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008; Ulloa and Tracey 2005). Apoptotic tissue damage possibly induces the release of HMGB-1, which then binds to bacterial substances and also initiates a second wave of TLR signaling (Zimmerman et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2006; Qin et al., 2006). Macrophages and neutrophils are also capable of actively secreting HMGB-1 to trigger inflammation (Cinel and Opal 2009). LPS and various cytokines release HMGB-1 from activated macrophages and binding of HMGB-1 to receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE), TLR-2, and -4, is reported to activate NF-kB and extracellular regulated kinase 1/2 (Hori et al., 1995; Park et al., 2004). HMGB-1, being a late emerging cytokine of sepsis, provides a wide therapeutic window and is an attractive target for treatment.

#### 1.2.1.4.3.2 Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor (MIF)

MIF, originally found in T cells, is a stress response mediator and pro-inflammatory cytokine (Calandra *et al.*, 1995). It has been detected in clinical sepsis and may have a role in the pathogenesis of sepsis (Cinel and Opal 2009). During endotoxaemia, MIF was shown to be produced by the anterior pituitary gland (Calandra and Roger 2003) although the source of trigger of MIF in humans is not clear (Sprong *et al.*, 2007). Injection of MIF reportedly increased mortality and inhibition of MIF decreased TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  and improved survival in endotoxin-induced shock and sepsis models (Calandra and Roger 2003; Calandra *et al.*, 2000; Bozza *et al.*, 1999). In normal conditions, MIF is found to sensitize macrophages to LPS by promoting the expression of TLR-4 (Roger *et al.*, 2001) and regulate activation-induced apoptosis (Mitchell *et al.*, 2002). However, elevated MIF in sepsis delays the clearance of activated monocytes/macrophages by apoptosis and consequently increases cytokine production and pro-inflammatory response (Cinel and Opal 2009).

1.2.1.4.3.3 Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE)

HMGB-1 is known to activate RAGE, an immunoglobulin superfamily receptor and a part of the innate immune system (Harris and Raucci 2006). RAGE has been shown to decrease inflammation, neutrophil extravasation and migration (Chavakis *et al.*, 2003). Administration of anti-RAGE antibody much later in polymicrobial sepsis in mice has shown to promote survival and thus provided a therapeutic rationale (Lutterloh *et al.*, 2007).

### 1.2.1.4.4 Nitric Oxide (NO)

NO, a ubiquitous biological molecule produced by various cells, is believed to play a key role in the pathogenesis of sepsis, especially the cardiovascular alterations (Panas

et al., 1998). At high concentrations, NO forms peroxynitrite which is reported to be pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic and may cause tissue damage (Chandra et al., 2006). NO contributes to septic shock by means of vasodilatation, myocardial dysfunction, oxidative damage, increased intestinal permeability and subsequent translocation of bacteria, and inhibition of mitochondrial respiration (Vincent et al., 2000). Genetic deletion of inducible NO synthase (iNOS), the enzyme that synthesizes NO from Larginine, has been reported to protect mice from endotoxin-induced mortality (Wei et al., 1995). Selective iNOS inhibitors, Aminoguanidine (Wu et al., 1996) and Lcanavanine (Liaudet et al., 1997) have also been shown to benefit in experimental sepsis. L-NAME (N omega-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester), an NO antagonist, is reported to improve arterial pressure and oxygenation in septic patients (Avontuur et al., 1995). However, few other studies demonstrated that nitric oxide donors may improve splanchnic microcirculation in sepsis (Assadi et al., 2008; Siegemund et al., 2007; Baumgart et al., 2009). With continuing debate over the pros and cons of NO inhibition, more targeted and selective inhibition of NOS isoforms should help better in the management of sepsis (Chandra et al., 2006).

#### 1.2.1.4.5 Carbon monoxide (CO)

Carbon monoxide is a toxic gas that binds strongly to the iron centers of hemecontaining proteins such as hemoglobin, catalase, myoglobin, and cytochrome-coxidase (Alonso *et al.*, 2003; Foresti *et al.*, 2008). Carbon monoxide promotes vasodilatation and the effects are particularly pronounced in the hepatosplanchnic system (Baumgart *et al.*, 2009). It also shows anti-inflammatory properties (Baumgart *et al.*, 2009). Severe sepsis patients have reportedly higher carboxyhemoglobin levels than nonseptic intensive care unit controls (Zegdi *et al.*, 2002). Further, carboxyhemoglobin levels were higher in patients who survived (Zegdi *et al.*, 2002). However, inhalation of carbon monoxide for 1 h by volunteers before endotoxin injection failed to produce any anti-inflammatory effects (Mayr *et al.*, 2005).

### 1.2.1.4.6 Hydrogen Sulphide (H<sub>2</sub>S)

Endogenous hydrogen sulphide is synthesized in mammals from L-cysteine by cystathionine- $\beta$ -synthase (CBS) and cystathionine- $\gamma$ -lyase (CSE) (Szabó 2007). Vasodilator hydrogen sulphide has been shown to regulate hemodynamic parameters in animal models of septic shock (Hui *et al.*, 2003). Pro-inflammatory role of hydrogen sulphide has been reported in polymicrobial sepsis (Zhang *et al.*, 2006) which is mediated through SP and also other mediators (Zhang *et al.*, 2007).

## **1.2.2 Substance P (SP)**

Neuropeptide SP belongs to the tachykinin family, along with other members such as neurokinin A (NKA), neurokinin B (NKB), and two elongated forms of neurokinin A: neuropeptide  $\gamma$  and neuropeptide K (Bhatia *et al.*, 2003; Eulberg *et al.*, 2005). Tachykinins share a common C-terminal sequence Phe-Xaa-Gly-Leu-Met-NH2 that is needed for their interaction with specific receptors and is important for producing most of their biological effects (Bhatia 2003; Kimura *et al.*, 1984). In mammals, the gene *PPTA* or *PPT-I* encodes both SP and NKA, and neurokinin B is encoded by the *preprotachykinin-B* gene (*PPTB* or *PPT-II*) (Harrison and Geppetti 2001; Severini *et al.*, 2002; Bhatia 2003). Another *preprotachykinin* gene (*PPTC*) has been described that encodes a novel tachykinin termed hemokinin-I (Zhang et al., 2000). The *PPTA* gene has been detected in both central and peripheral nervous system, in enteric neurons of the gut and in various cells of the immune system (Bhatia 2003). The *PPTB* gene is expressed almost exclusively in the central nervous system (Bhatia 2003).

SP was discovered in 1931 by Von Euler and Gaddum as an active compound from horse intestine and brain extract that caused intestinal smooth muscle contractions (Maggio 1988). The 11 amino acid sequence of SP was discovered in 1970 by Chang and Leeman (Chang and Leeman 1970). SP is localized in the central nervous system as well as released from nerve endings in several peripheral tissues, including the entire length of the gastrointestinal tract, the pancreas as well as the colon. Immunoregulatory peptide SP is produced at various inflammation sites. It is found in resident macrophages, circulating leukocytes and dendritic cells (Ho et al., 1997; Lai et al., 1998; O'Connor et al., 2004) and is known to have a role in neurogenic inflammation (Chavolla-Calderon et al., 2003). SP is reported to increase postcapillary venule permeability, immune cell influx, and glandular secretion in mammalian airways (Rizzo et al., 1999). It also induces the release of pro-inflammatory mediators, lymphocyte proliferation and chemotaxis (Gronberg et al., 2004). Increased SP immunoreactivity has been found in bronchoalveolar lavage samples from patients suffering from lung diseases (Espiritu et al., 1992).

Three distinct receptors, NK-1R, NK-2R and NK-3R, mediate the biological actions of tachykinins. SP, NKA and NKB are generally considered to be the preferred ligands for NK-1R, NK-2R and NK-3R, respectively (Regoli *et al.*, 1989). However, both NKA and NKB have been shown to be potent in stimulating NK-1R (Hastrup and Schwartz 1999) and all the three mammalian tachykinins (SP, NKA and NKB) are reported to be capable of acting as full agonists on each of the three receptors, with different potencies (Bhatia 2003). SP binds with high affinity to NK-1R, and with low affinity to NK-2 and 3 receptors (Koon and Pothoulakis 2006). The NK receptors

belong to the superfamily of rhodopsin-like, G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) with seven transmembrane spanning segments.

Activation of NK receptors results in the exchange of GDP bound to G $\alpha$  subunit of the G protein for GTP and dissociation into G $\alpha$  and G $\beta\gamma$  subunits (Johnston and Siderovski, 2007; Oldham *et al.*, 2007; Rozengurt 2007). GTP-G $\alpha$  complex activates the  $\beta$  isoforms of phospholipase C (PLC) which catalyses the hydrolysis of phosphatidyl inositol 4,5 bisphosphate (PIP2) in the plasma membrane resulting in inositol 1,4,5 trisphosphate (IP3) and 1,2,diacylglycerol (DAG) (Exton 1996; Rozengurt 1998). Inositol 1,4,5 trisphosphate binds to its intracellular receptor, a ligand gated calcium channel, found in the endoplasmic reticulum to release calcium from the internal stores (Mikoshiba 1997). 1,2,diacylglycerol directly activates enzyme PKC (Nishizuka 1995). Stimulation of peripheral tachykinin receptors leads to smooth muscle contraction, neuronal stimulation, endothelium-dependent vasodilation, plasma protein extravasation, chemotaxis and activation of immune and inflammatory cells, and stimulation of secretion (Maggio 1988; Patacchini and Maggi 2001).

An elevated expression of SP receptor binding sites has been observed in the submucosa of patients suffering from inflammatory bowel disease (Mantyh *et al.*, 1988) and increased NK-1R in lymphoid aggregates, small blood vessels, and enteric neurons was reported in patients with Crohn's disease (Mantyh *et al.*, 1994; Mantyh *et al.*, 1995). Elevated systemic SP levels have been reported in postoperative septic patients (Beer *et al.*, 2002). SP, acting through NK-1R, is reported to play an important role in the pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis (Bhatia *et al.*, 2003; Patto *et al.*, 1992). Genetic deletion of NK-1R as well as pharmacological blockade of NK-1R has been shown to protect mice against acute pancreatitis and associated lung injury (Lau *et al.*,

2005; Bhatia *et al.*, 1998). Genetic deletion of *PPTA* has been reported to ameliorate acute pancreatitis and associated lung injury (Bhatia *et al.*, 2003). Further, *PPTA* knockout mice are protected against polymicrobial sepsis (Puneet *et al.*, 2006) and LPS-induced endotoxemia (Ng *et al.*, 2008). Deletion of *PPTA* gene in those mice significantly attenuated inflammation and damage in the lungs (Puneet *et al.*, 2006; Ng *et al.*, 2008).

#### 1.2.3 Nuclear Factor-кВ (NF-кВ) transcription factor

#### 1.2.3.1 The NF-кВ family

NF-κB is a general term that corresponds to various dimeric complexes of Rel protein family members (Hayden and Gosh 2004; Ghosh and Karin 2002). Various home- and heterodimeric combinations are formed by c-Rel, RelA (p65), RelB, NF-κB1 (p50 and its precursor p105) and NF-κB2 (p52 and its precursor p100), but the p50/p65 heterodimer is the most commonly detected form (Calzado *et al.*, 2007). The DNA binding, dimerization, and nuclear translocation of NF-κB are mediated by N-terminal Rel-homology domain (RHD), shared by all the members (Calzado *et al.*, 2007). NFκB is regulated through its localization in the cell. In normal resting cells, NF-κB is bound to inhibitory IκB proteins such as IκB $\alpha$ , IκB $\beta$  and IκB $\epsilon$  in the cytoplasm (Ghosh and Karin 2002). IκB proteins interact with NF-κB through multiple ankyrin repeats and inhibit its DNA binding (Calzado *et al.*, 2007). IκB $\alpha$  blocks the nuclear translocation of only p65 and IκB $\beta$  masks p65 and p50 (Calzado *et al.*, 2007). IκB $\alpha$ also provides a negative feedback mechanism for the termination of NF-κB response (Arenzana-Seisdedos *et al.*, 1995).

#### 1.2.3.2 Activation of NF-кВ

NF- $\kappa$ B is a ubiquitous transcription factor that is activated by a wide range of signals such as LPS, cytokines, growth factors, viral infection and DNA damage, mediated through three major pathways: canonical and non-canonical pathways (Pomerantz and Baltimore 2002) and a cascade triggered by DNA damage (Janssens and Tschopp 2006). A proteasome-dependent step to generate DNA-binding dimers is common to all the pathways (Ben-Neriah and Schmitz 2004). Canonical pathway involves a cascade of adaptor proteins and protein kinases, stimulating inhibitor kappa B kinase (IKK) complex comprising enzymatically active subunits IKK- $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  (IKB kinases) and their regulatory subunit IKK $\gamma$ /NEMO (NF- $\kappa$ B essential modifier) (Akira and Takeda 2004; Karin and Ben-Neriah 2000). The IKKγ/NF-κB essential modifier subunit binds to Lys 63-linked polyubiquitination allowing subsequent activation of IKK (Wu et al., 2006; Ea et al., 2006). Activated IKKβ phosphorylates IkB, enabling subsequent lysine-48-linked polyubiquitination of IkB $\alpha$  and proteolytic degradation (Calzado et al., 2007). The unmasked nuclear localization sequence of p65 protein allows translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B into the nucleus and binding to its consensus decameric sequence in the promoter region of genes involved in the pro-inflammatory response, encoding immunoreceptors, cell adhesion molecules, cytokines and chemokines (Baeuerle and Baichwal 1997).

The noncanonical activation pathway involves IKK $\alpha$  protein and is independent of IKK $\beta$  (Calzado *et al.*, 2007). It induces a delayed and sustained activation of primarily RelB-containing NF- $\kappa$ B dimmers, unlike the rapid activation observed in canonical pathway (Calzado *et al.*, 2007). DNA damage-triggered NF- $\kappa$ B activation is not very clear yet as ultraviolet-induced NF- $\kappa$ B signaling is independent of IKK activation, but

most other DNA-damaging substances involve an IKK-dependent I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  phosphorylation (Li and Karin 1998).

#### 1.2.3.3 NF-кB and diseases

NF- $\kappa$ B is suggested to have an important role in innate and acquired immunity (Lenardo and Baltimore 1989). Dysregulated NF-κB activity is reported in various diseases including chronic inflammation and cancer. NF-kB activation is a key mediator of the inflammatory response in pancreatitis (Chen et al., 2002). In rheumatoid arthritis, NF- $\kappa$ B activation is reported to precede the onset of disease, and inhibition of NF-kB decreased the production of inflammatory cytokines and ameliorated the disease severity (Firestein et al., 2004; Bacher and Schmitz 2004). Various studies have evaluated the role of NF- $\kappa$ B in sepsis. Elevation of inflammatory mediators during septic shock has been shown to depend on NF-KB activation (Calzado et al., 2007). Bacteria and their components activate NF-KB via TLRs through the classical IKK pathway (Hayden and Gosh 2004). LPS is reported to activate NF-kB via TLR-4 (Murthy et al., 2004) and peptidoglycan, a major component of gram-positive bacteria, utilizing TLR-2. Although NF- $\kappa$ B is an important target in treating diseases, cell-type specific inhibition of NF-kB pathway is a better strategy for drug development as NF-kB is also important for its anti-apoptotic activities and host-defense immune responses.

### **1.2.4 Activator protein – 1 (AP-1) transcription factor**

The transcription factor AP-1 consists of a mixture of heterodimers composed of members of the Jun, Fos and activating transcription factor protein families. AP-1 family includes ATF1-4, c-Fos, c-Jun, c-Myc and C/EBP (Shaywitz and Greenberg 1999; Wisdom 1999). Phosphorylation of AP-1 family members by kinases leads to

transactivation activity. Growth factors, neurotransmitters, polypeptide hormones, inflammatory cytokines, bacterial and viral infections as well as a variety of physical and chemical stresses induce AP-1 via mitogen-activated protein kinase to translate external stimuli into changes of gene expression (Chang and Karin 2001). Transcription factor complex consisting of AP-1 and nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) regulate cytokine genes (Zenz *et al.*, 2008). Nuclear factor of activated T celldependent gene regulation has been demonstrated for IL-2, IL-3, granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, interferon- $\gamma$ (IFN- $\gamma$ ), TNF- $\alpha$ , CD40L, FasL, CD5, Igk, CD25 and the chemokines IL-8 and MIP1 $\alpha$ (Zenz *et al.*, 2008).

### **1.2.5 Mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs)**

MAPKs are a family of serine/threonine kinases that transduce signals from the cell surface to the nucleus (Chang and Karin 2001; Dong *et al.*, 2002; Hazzalin and Mahadevan 2002). Phosphorylation of MAPKs is necessary to activate them. Extracellular signal regulated kinases (ERKs), Jun-N terminal kinases (JNKs) and p38 MAPKs are the 3 major types of MAPKs. ERKs are believed to be involved in the control of cell division; JNKs regulate transcription; and p38 MAPKs are activated by inflammatory cytokines and environmental stress. MAPK cascade consists of MAPKs, the kinases that activate the MAPKs (MAPK kinases such as MEKs) and MAPKK kinase or MEK kinase (MAPKKK or MEKK) (English *et al.*, 1999). MEKs are dual-specificity kinases that recognise and phosphorylate the MAPKs. MEK kinases (MEKKs) located upstream of MEKs activate them (Schramek 2002). Two isoforms of JNK, JNK1 and JNK2, and two isoforms of ERKs, p44 MAPK (ERK1) and p42 MAPK (ERK2) are known. Activated MAPKs lead to the activation of various

transcription factors such as NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1, protein kinases, phospholipases, cytoskeleton-associated proteins, and thus result in biological responses.

### **1.2.6 Animal models of sepsis**

Although various animal models of sepsis have been developed, cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) - induced sepsis model in rodents remains the gold standard (Rittirsch *et al.*, 2007; Remick *et al.*, 2000; Deitch 2005; Buras *et al.*, 2005). Administration of endotoxin, LPS, is practiced by many researchers to study lethal sepsis. However, the endotoxemia model is different from polymicrobial sepsis with respect to a number of characteristics (Riedemann *et al.*, 2003). The kinetics and magnitude of peritoneal and systemic cytokine and chemokine levels in LPS model has been demonstrated to differ from CLP model (Remick *et al.*, 2000).

CLP closely mimics symptoms of clinical sepsis such as hypothermia, tachycardia and tachypnea in rodents. Perforation of cecum serves as an endogenous source of bacterial infection, resulting in bacterial peritonitis, followed by systemic mixed enteric bacteria load (Rittirsch *et al.*, 2009). Bacteremia leads to systemic activation of the inflammatory response, septic shock, multiorgan dysfunction and eventually failure. CLP model has the advantage of inducing sepsis with varied severity for investigating both acute and chronic sepsis (Benjamin *et al.*, 2004; Xiao *et al.*, 2006). However, it is important to use the model with high consistency to obtain reliable and reproducible results, as length of the cecum ligated, size of the needle used and the number of punctures determine the outcome of resulting sepsis (Singleton and Wischmeyer 2003; Baker *et al.*, 1983).

Possible approaches of studying the effects of SP in animal models of sepsis include, depletion of SP with capsaicin, pharmacological blocking of SP receptors and silencing of gene encoding SP (Bhatia *et al.*, 2003). Capsaicin pre-treatment is reported to inhibit microvascular leakage induced by toxic gases in rats and guinea pigs (Solway and Leff 1991). Capsaicin, the active component of chilli pepper, selectively binds to transient receptor potential vanilloid (TRPV)-1 receptors on sensory nerves, depleting presynaptic stored SP from nerve endings. Thus ablation of sensory nerves by capsaicin helps to study neurogenic inflammation. Specific blocking of NK receptors provides another good approach to study SP in various disease models (Bhatia *et al.*, 2003). Further, my access to *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice is a great advantage as silencing of gene encoding SP provides a valuable animal model to study the role of SP in diseases. Indeed, *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice have been reported to be successfully used earlier in disease models such as acute pancreatitis (Bhatia *et al.*, 2003), endotoxemia (Ng *et al.*, 2008), sepsis (Puneet *et al.*, 2006), and nociception (Martin *et al.*, 2004).

## **1.3 Objectives**

The aim of this study is to:

- investigate the role of SP in the pathogenesis of sepsis and associated lung injury in mice
- evaluate the effect of pharmacological blocking of the SP receptors on the severity of sepsis
- 3. analyze the genetic signature of PPTA knock-out animal model of sepsis
- 4. explore the underlying molecular mechanism of SP-NK receptor activation.

Two different strategies were employed:

- 1. Inhibition of the NK receptor by treating the mice with receptor blockers.
- 2. *PPTA* gene knock-out mice were used to study polymicrobial sepsis.

## **CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## 2.1 Materials

SP ELISA kit was purchased from Peninsula Laboratories, Inc., Bachem, San Carlos, CA, USA. SR140333 was provided by Sanofi Synthelabo, France. TRIzol® Reagent (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA), RNeasy® mini kit (QIAGEN, USA) and GelRed<sup>TM</sup> (Biotium, Hayward, CA, USA), were used for the RNA isolation and quantification. GeneChip<sup>®</sup> Mouse Genome 430 2.0 array, GeneChip<sup>®</sup> Hybridization Wash and Stain kit, One-cycle Target labeling and Control Reagents (containing IVT labeling kit, One cycle cDNA Synthesis kit, Sample Cleanup module, Poly-A RNA Control kit, Hybridization Controls) were purchased from Affymetrix, Inc. Santa Clara, CA, USA. NanoDrop<sup>®</sup> ND1000 Spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Inc., Wilmington, DE, USA) was used for RNA quantification. PCR was performed in MyCycler<sup>TM</sup> thermal cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) was used for cDNA synthesis. Primers were synthesized by 1<sup>st</sup> BASE Pte. Ltd., Singapore. GeneChip<sup>®</sup> Fluidics Station 450, GeneChip<sup>®</sup> Hybridization Oven 640, and GeneChip<sup>®</sup> Scanner 3000 at the DSO were used for data collection. Procarta<sup>TM</sup> Cytokine Assay kit (Panomics, Inc.) was used for plasma cytokine profiling.

## 2.2 Animal Ethics

All animal experiments performed were in accordance with the guidelines of the DSO Animal Care and Use Committee (DSOACUC), DMERI, Singapore, which follows
the established International Guiding Principles for Animal Research. Mice were maintained at a controlled temperature (21-24° C) and lighting (12 h light/dark cycle) and fed with standard laboratory chow and drinking water, provided *ad libitum*. Animals were randomly assigned to control or experimental groups using six or more mice for each group. Before the experiment, two days of acclimatization was allowed for all mice.

#### 2.3 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis

Mice were anesthetized lightly with mouse anesthesia cocktail (0.75 ml ketamine (100 mg/ml) and 1 ml medetomindine (1 mg/ml) dissolved in 8.25 ml distilled water) (7.5 ml/kg body weight) (Animal Holding Unit, NUS, Singapore). Polymicrobial sepsis was induced by CLP as described elsewhere (Ayala et al., 1996; Zhou et al., 2001; Baker et al., 1983). Following strict aseptic conditions, the anterior abdomen was shaved and a midline incision was made in the lower part of the abdomen. The peritoneum was opened and the cecum was ligated 3-5 mm below the ileocecal valve with 4/0 silk suture without obstructing the bowel (Fig. 2.1). The cecum was punctured twice with a 22-gauge needle distal to the point of ligation and squeezed gently to extrude the cecal contents. The cecum was placed back in the abdomen and the muscle and skin incision were sutured separately with sterile Permilene 5/0 thread. All the mice were given saline (1 ml, s.c) after the surgery and kept on heat pads for recovery. The same surgical procedure except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. The animals were sacrificed 8 h after surgery by an i.p. injection of a lethal dose of pentobarbitone. Blood was collected by cardiac puncture, heparinized, centrifuged, plasma removed and stored at -80° C. Samples of

21

Fig. 2.1



**Fig. 2.1 Cecal Ligation and Puncture.** The cecum was ligated 3-5 mm below the ileocecal valve with 4/0 silk suture without obstructing the bowel. The cecum was punctured twice with a 22-gauge needle distal to the point of ligation and squeezed gently to extrude the cecal contents.

lung were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C for subsequent measurements.

#### 2.4 Myeloperoxidase estimation

Myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity as a measure of neutrophil sequestration in lung was quantified as described previously (Bhatia *et al.*, 2000; Bhatia *et al.*, 1998). Lung tissue samples were thawed, homogenized in 20 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), centrifuged (10,000 × g, 10 min, 4° C) and the resulting pellet resuspended in 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 6.0) containing 0.5% hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA). The suspension was subject to four cycles of freezing and thawing and further disrupted by sonication (40 sec). The sample was then centrifuged (10,000 × g, 5 min, 4° C) and the supernatant used for the MPO assay. The reaction mixture consisted of the supernatant, 1.6 mM tetramethylbenzidine (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA), 80 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 5.4), and 0.3 mM hydrogen peroxide. This mixture was incubated at 37° C for 110 sec, the reaction terminated with 2 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and the absorbance measured at 450 nm. The absorbance was then corrected for the DNA content of the tissue sample (Labarca and Paigen 1980). Results were expressed as fold increase over control.

#### 2.5 ELISA analysis

Plasma and lung tissue homogenates were assayed to evaluate the level of chemokines, cytokines and adhesion molecules by a sandwich ELISA according to the manufacturer's instructions. Lung sample was homogenized in 1 ml phosphate buffer 20 mM, pH 7.4, centrifuged and the resultant supernatant was used for the assay.

DuoSet ELISA with matched antibody pairs against kits mouse chemokine/cytokine/adhesion molecule were obtained from R&D systems, Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA. Briefly, anti-chemokine/cytokine/adhesion molecule primary antibody was coated onto 96-well ELISA plates and incubated overnight at room temperature. Samples and standards were added to the wells and incubated for 2 h, the wells were washed, and a biotinylated goat anti-mouse chemokine/cytokine/adhesion molecule antibody was added for 2 h. Plates were washed again, and streptavidin conjugated to horseradish peroxidase was added for 20 min. After a further wash, tetramethylbenzidine was added for color development and the reaction was terminated with 2 N H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm. Sample concentration was estimated from the standard curve. DNA assay was performed fluorometrically by using Hoechst dye 33256 (Labarca and Paigen 1980). The sample concentration was then corrected for the DNA content of the tissue (Labarca and Paigen 1980).

#### 2.6 Histopathology

Paraffin-embedded lung samples were sectioned at 5-µm thickness, stained with hematoxylin / eosin (H&E) and qualitatively evaluated by light microscopy and documented by photographs. Eight randomly chosen microscopic fields (x125) were examined for each tissue sample and the extent of cell injury/necrosis, represented by the destruction of histo-architecture of the cells, vacuolization and swelling of cells, all of which have been associated with an inflammatory reaction, was evaluated.

#### 2.7 Substance P estimation

The level of SP in lung tissue was measured using competitive Enzyme Immunoassay kit (Bachem, Peninsula Laboratories, USA) as per the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, the lung tissue (about 100 mg) was homogenized in 1 ml ice-cold SP assay buffer for 20 s. The homogenate was centrifuged (13,000 rpm, 20 min, 4°C) and the supernatant was separated. SP in the supernatant was adsorbed on C18 separation column containing 200 mg C18 (Bachem, Peninsula Laboratories, USA) as described (Castagliuolo *et al.*, 1997). The adsorbed peptide was then eluted with 1.5 ml of 75% v/v acetonitrile and freeze-dried overnight. The lyophilized sample was reconstituted in SP assay buffer and the SP content was then determined using the SP ELISA kit (Bachem, Peninsula Laboratories, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Non-biotinylated SP in the sample competes for the limited amount of immobilized antibody and the color intensity produced by the substrate depends on the quantity of biotinylated SP bound to the immobilized antibody. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm and SP level was read from a standard curve. It was expressed as picograms per milliliter for plasma and picograms per microgram of DNA for lung. DNA assay was performed fluorometrically by using Hoechst dye 33256 (Labarca and Paigen 1980).

#### 2.8 Nitric oxide measurement

Nitrite is determined as an indicator of nitric oxide production in the tissue as NO is rapidly converted to nitrite and nitrate. Formation of nitrite was determined spectrophotometrically by Griess assay as described (Marzinzig *et al.*, 1997). The assay provides for enzymatic reduction of nitrate to nitrite by nitrate reductase, followed by spectrophotometric analysis of total nitrite using Griess reagent.

Absorbance was measured at 540 nm and the total nitrite concentration was then corrected for the DNA content of the tissue.

#### **2.9 Preparation of nuclear extract**

Active Motif nuclear extraction kit (SciMed, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used to prepare nuclear extracts from lung following the instructions from the manufacturer. Briefly, lung tissue (50 mg) was homogenized in hypotonic buffer containing detergent, incubated for 15 min on ice, and then centrifuged at 850 g, 4°C for 10 min. The pellets were resuspended in hypotonic buffer, treated with detergent and centrifuged at 14,000 g, 4°C for 30 s. The nuclei in the pellets were lysed with complete lysis buffer and the nuclear proteins solubilized in the buffer containing protease inhibitors. The nuclear fraction was separated by centrifuging at 14,000 g, 4°C for 10 min and collecting the supernatant. Protein concentration in the nuclear extract was determined by using protein assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, CA, USA). Sample (5  $\mu$ l) was added to 250  $\mu$ l of Bradford reagent (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA), incubated for 5 min and read at 595 nm. Protein concentration was calculated from a standard curve.

#### 2.10 NF-кВ DNA-binding activity

To measure NF- $\kappa$ B binding to DNA and activation, ELISA-based TransAM NF- $\kappa$ B p65 transcription factor assay kit (Active Motif, SciMed, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used. Nuclear proteins (5 µg) from the nuclear extract were added to each well coated with an unlabeled oligonucleotide containing the consensus binding site for NF- $\kappa$ B (5'-GGGACTTTCC-3') (Parry and Mackman 1994) and incubated for 1 h at room temperature to allow the active form of NF- $\kappa$ B to bind. A primary antibody directed

against activated NF- $\kappa$ B p65 subunit was added to detect the NF- $\kappa$ B complex bound to the oligonucleotide. Addition of a secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase provided a sensitive colorimetric estimation by spectrophotometry. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm using microplate reader (Tecan Systems Inc., San Jose, CA, USA). Results were expressed as fold increase over the control group.

#### 2.11 AP-1 DNA-binding activity

TransAM AP-1 c-Jun transcription factor assay kits (Active Motif, SciMed, Carlsbad, CA, USA) were used to detect and quantify AP-1 activation. AP-1 dimers in the nuclear extract (5 µg of nuclear protein) were added to the 96-well microplate with immobilized oligonucleotide that had a 12-O-tetradecanoyl-phorbol-13-acetate (TPA) - responsive element (TRE) (5'-TGA(C/G)TCA-3') to specifically bind to the oligonucleotide. Primary antibody was used to recognize accessible epitopes on c-Jun proteins upon DNA binding. Secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase was added for the colorimetric reaction. Absorbance was read at 450 nm using microplate reader (Tecan Systems Inc., San Jose, CA, USA). Results were expressed as fold increase over the control group.

#### 2.12 Western blot experiment

Lung tissue (50 mg) was homogenised in lysis buffer containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma Chemical Co.) and phosphate inhibitor cocktail (Sigma Chemical Co.). The homogenate was centrifuged at 13,000 g,  $4^{\circ}$  C for 10 min and the protein concentration in the supernatant was determined using Bradford reagent. 80 µg of the protein in the supernatant was separated on a 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel

(Invitrogen) and transferred to PVDF membranes (Millipore) by electrophoresis. Nonspecific binding was blocked by incubating the membrane at room temperature in 5% non-fat dry milk in phosphate buffered saline Tween 20 (PBST) (0.05% Tween 20 in phosphate buffered saline) for 1 h. The blots were incubated overnight at 4° C with primary antibody (rabbit anti-mouse antibody; Cell Signalling Technology) at 1:1000 dilutions in 2.5% non-fat dry milk in phosphate buffered saline Tween 20. The membranes were then washed four times with phosphate buffered saline Tween 20 and incubated with goat anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) at 1:2000 dilutions in 2.5% non-fat dry milk in phosphate buffered saline Tween 20 for 2 h. Visualization of the blot was done using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) detection kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) and exposure to X-ray films (CL-XPosure<sup>TM</sup>, Pierce). Hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase (HPRT) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology; 1:1000 dilution) was used as the housekeeping protein. The band densities were quantified using a UVP® bioimaging system (UVP, Upland, CA, USA). The intensity of bands was analyzed using LabWorks<sup>™</sup> Image Analysis software (UVP, CA, USA).

#### 2.13 RNA isolation and quantification

Total RNA was isolated from the lung tissue (n > 6 for each group) using TRIzol<sup>®</sup> reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNeasy<sup>®</sup> mini kit was used to clean up the total RNA after extraction. Briefly, extracted RNA sample was lysed and homogenized in the presence of a highly denaturing guanidine-thiocyanate-containing buffer to inactivate RNases leaving intact RNA. Ethanol was added for appropriate binding and the sample was applied to an

RNeasy Mini spin column to bind total RNA to the membrane. Contaminants were washed away and high-quality RNA was eluted in 30-100  $\mu$ l water. As all RNA molecules longer than 200 nucleotide were purified by this method, mRNA was enriched and most other RNAs (15-20% of total RNA) were selectively excluded. The quantity of extracted RNA was determined by spectrophotometric analysis (NanoDrop<sup>®</sup>ND1000). RNA samples used were of highest purity with A<sub>260</sub>/A<sub>280</sub> ratios close to 2.0 (range: 1.9–2.1). The integrity of RNA was assessed by 1% w/v denaturing agarose gel electrophoresis using GelRed dye to stain 18S and 28S rRNA bands. The RNA sample was stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until microarray analysis or RT-PCR.

# 2.14 Semiquantitative reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

RNA (1 µg) was reversely transcribed using iScript<sup>TM</sup> cDNA Synthesis Kit (Biorad, Hercules, CA, USA) at 25° C for 5 minutes, 42° C for 30 minutes, followed by 85° C for 5 minutes. The cDNA was used as a template for PCR amplification by  $iQ^{TM}$ Supermix (Biorad, Hercules, CA, USA). PCR amplification was carried out in MyCycler (Bio-Rad). The reaction mixture was first subjected to 95° C for 3-5 min, followed by an optimal cycle of amplification (denaturation, annealing, and elongation) and a final extension at 72° C for 5-7 min. PCR products were analyzed on 1.5% w/v agarose gel containing 0.1 µl/ml GelRed and visualized by the UVP® bioimaging system (UVP, Upland, CA, USA). The intensity of bands was analyzed using LabWorks<sup>TM</sup> Image Analysis software (UVP). Densitometry results from PCR products were normalized to the mouse 18S band densities.

#### 2.15 Microarray experiments

GeneChips were prepared individually for each of the mouse lung sample (n = 3 for each group; n = 12 total) according to Affymetrix GeneChip<sup>®</sup> Expression Analysis Technical Manual. Briefly, double-stranded cDNA was synthesized from total RNA extracted from the mouse lung; an *in vitro* transcription (IVT) and One-cycle Target labeling were done to obtain biotin-labeled cRNA from the cDNA, purified and fragmented before hybridization to the arrays. Biotin labeled RNA fragments ("target") were hybridized to the oligonucleotide probes on the array and stained with streptavidin phycoerythrin conjugate using the Genechip<sup>®</sup> fluidics station. Fluorescent hybridization signal was detected by the GeneChip<sup>®</sup> Scanner 3000, enabled for highresolution scanning. The amount of light emitted at 570 nm was proportional to the bound target at each location on the probe array. GeneChip Operating Software (GCOS) with Affymetrix Microarray Suite 5.0 (MAS5) algorithm was used to define the probe cells and compute intensity for each cell. Each complete probe array was imaged and stored in a separate data file.

#### 2.16 Microarray data analysis

The Expression Console<sup>TM</sup> software was used to enable probe set summarization and to verify if the hybridization results and initial data were of sufficient quality for secondary analysis. Using GeneSpring<sup>TM</sup> 7.3 software (Agilent Technologies, CA, USA), differentially expressed genes that showed a fold change of  $\geq$  2 against sham in at least 1 of 3 mice were selected. Differentially expressed genes were further grouped based on Gene ontology-Biological Process [DAVID Bioinformatics Resources 2008, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), NIH, Gene function

classification Tool (http://niaid.abcc.ncifcrf.gov/)]. Representation of specific inflammatory and immunoregulatory pathways among the differentially expressed genes was analyzed with Pathway Studio<sup>®</sup> software (Ariadne Genomics, Rockville, MD) version 5.0. The software uses information available in the current literature to identify common pathways, targets or regulators that are associated with the altered genes to generate biological interaction networks. Microarray expression data was imported into Pathway Studio<sup>®</sup> to graphically represent all known relationships and potential interactions between the differentially expressed genes. Biological network pathway was proposed according to Pathway Studio<sup>®</sup> definitions regarding gene expression, interactions and regulations. The microarray data have been deposited in NCBI's Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/projects/geo/index.cgi) and are accessible through a GEO Series accession number.

#### **2.17 Statistics**

Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). In all figures, vertical bars denote SEM. The significance of changes was evaluated by using ANOVA when comparing three or more groups and Tukey's method as a post hoc test for comparison among different groups. A p < 0.05 was taken as significant.

### CHAPTER 3. NEUROKININ-1 RECEPTOR ANTAGONIST TREATMENT IN POLYMICROBIAL SEPSIS

#### **3.1 Introduction**

SP binds to NK-1 G protein-coupled receptors on the surface of effector cells and acts as a pro-inflammatory mediator in many inflammatory states (Lai *et al.*, 1998; Bhatia *et al.*, 2003). NK-1R activation has been shown to enhance inflammation by decreasing the vascular tone, increasing the endothelial microvascular permeability and transport of inflammatory cells (Chavolla-Calderón *et al.*, 2003). SP and NK-1R have been implicated in the up-regulation of ICAM-1 on vascular endothelial cells and neutrophil infiltration (Nakagawa *et al.*, 1995) and leukocyte adhesion to the endothelial or epithelial cells in the airways (Baluk *et al.*, 1995; DeRose *et al.*, 1994) in inflammation. Furthermore, *PPTA* gene deletion protected against lung injury and mortality in polymicrobial sepsis (Puneet *et al.*, 2006).

Thus in addition to the use of gene knock-out animal models, it was imperative to pharmacologically block the SP receptor to understand the mechanism of action of SP in sepsis. SR140333 (nolpitantium) is a highly potent and selective antagonist of the tachykinin NK-1R in humans and other animals (Emonds-Alt *et al.*, 1993). It has been shown to reduce the severity of inflammation in trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid-induced colitis in rat colon (Di Sebastiano *et al.*, 1999). SR140333 inhibited mustard oil-induced plasma protein extravasations in the dorsal skin of the rat hind paw (Amann *et al.*, 1995). It is also reported to reduce arachidonate release from alveolar macrophages

in guinea-pigs exposed to SP (Boichot *et al.*, 1998). Recently, SR140333 was found to be effective in the modulation of the inflammatory response and airway remodeling in mice (Veron *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, SR140333 is reported to cause antagonism of the SP-induced relaxations of human isolated intralobar pulmonary arterial rings (Pedersen *et al.*, 2000).

Therefore, this part of the study was aimed at evaluating the role of SP and NK-1R in polymicrobial sepsis in mice. As bowel perforation-induced peritonitis patients are reported to have infection resulting from a mixed intestinal flora (Ellaban *et al.*, 2004), a similar model of polymicrobial sepsis that is reliable and clinically relevant was selected. Thus CLP surgery was used to cause polymicrobial sepsis in mice.

#### **3.2 Materials and Methods**

#### 3.2.1 Animal ethics

All animal experiments performed were in accordance with the guidelines of the DSO Animal Care and Use Committee (DSOACUC), DMERI, Singapore as mentioned in **Section 2.2.** 

#### 3.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis

Swiss male mice (25-30 g) used for the study were randomly assigned to sham or CLP experimental groups (n > 6 in each group). Polymicrobial sepsis was induced in mice by CLP as described in **Section 2.3**. The same surgical procedure except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. Vehicle (DMSO diluted in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml, s.c.) was administered to CLP-operated mice either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The animals were sacrificed 8 h after surgery by an i.p. injection of a lethal

dose of pentobarbitone. Blood was collected by cardiac puncture, heparinized, centrifuged, plasma removed and stored at -80° C. Samples of lung were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C for subsequent measurement of tissue MPO activity and chemokine, cytokine and adhesion molecule levels. Random crosssections of lung were fixed in 4 % neutral phosphate-buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin wax for histopathology examination.

#### **3.2.3 Myeloperoxidase estimation**

MPO activity as a measure of neutrophil sequestration in lung was quantified as described in **Section 2.4**.

#### **3.2.4 Histopathology**

Paraffin-embedded lung sections were stained with hematoxylin / eosin and evaluated by light microscopy as explained in **Section 2.6**.

## 3.2.5 ELISA analysis of chemokines, cytokines and adhesion molecules

Plasma and tissue homogenates were assayed to evaluate the level of chemokines (MCP-1, MIP-2 and RANTES), cytokines (IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ ) and adhesion molecules (E- and P-selectins, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1) by a sandwich ELISA according to **Section 2.5**. Sample concentration was estimated from the respective standard curve.

#### **3.2.6 Statistical analysis**

All values were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. The significance of changes was evaluated by using ANOVA when comparing three or more groups and Tukey's method as a post hoc test for comparison among different groups. A *p* value of < 0.05 was considered to indicate a significant difference.

#### **3.3 Results**

## 3.3.1 Effect of SR140333 treatment on neutrophil sequestration in lung in CLP mice

Neutrophil infiltration was quantified by measuring tissue MPO activity. Increased MPO activities represent recruitment of neutrophils and a state of inflammation. Following 8 h after CLP, MPO activity in lung was significantly increased in vehicle treated, in both pre- and post-CLP, animals when compared to the sham mice (**Fig. 3.1**). Treatment with SR140333, 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, significantly reduced the MPO activity in lung (**Fig. 3.1**).

**Figure 3.2(a-e)** shows representative hematoxylin / eosin stained lung sections from sham and CLP operated mice. Histological evaluation of lung sections showed a significant increase in alveolar thickening, an indicator of edema, as well as inflammatory infiltration in CLP animals treated only with vehicle (**Fig. 3.2b and d**). Lung section from sham group showed little or no edema and inflammatory infiltration (**Fig. 3.2a**). Prophylactic and therapeutic treatment with SR140333 significantly reduced the lung injury, represented by reduced lung edema and neutrophil infiltration (**Fig. 3.2c and e**).

#### 3.3.2 Effect of SR140333 treatment on chemokine levels in lung

Chemokines are produced in response to infection. They act as chemoattractants to various inflammatory cells in sepsis. I determined the levels of CXC chemokine MIP-2 and CC chemokines MCP-1 and RANTES in lung tissue. As expected, lung MIP-2 levels in CLP mice without SR140333 treatment were significantly higher compared to the sham levels (**Fig. 3.3a**). Administration of SR140333, both pre- and post-CLP resulted in a significant decrease in lung MIP-2 levels compared to the corresponding

Fig. 3.1





Figure 3.1 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung neutrophil infiltration. Mice (n = 6-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung MPO activity was determined. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals.

Fig. 3.2 (a-e)



Figure 3.2 Morphological changes in H & E stained mouse lung on induction of sepsis. Panel a, sham: no CLP; Panel b, vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) administered 30 min before CLP – Pre-treatment control; Panel c, SR140333 (1 mg/kg) administered 30 min before CLP – SR140333 pre-treatment; Panel d, vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) administered 1 h after CLP – Post-treatment control; Panel e, SR140333 (1 mg/kg) administered 1 h after CLP – SR140333 post-treatment.

Fig. 3.3a



Fig. 3.3b



**Figure 3.3 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung MIP-2 (Fig. 3.3a) and RANTES (Fig. 3.3b) levels in mice.** Mice (n = 6-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-

operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung MIP-2 and RANTES levels were determined. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals.

levels in vehicle treated CLP mice (**Fig. 3.3a**). CLP procedure slightly increased the production of lung RANTES compared to that in sham animals, with the increase being significant in animals treated with vehicle 1 h after CLP (**Fig. 3.3b**). However, SR140333 when injected either 30 min or 1 h after CLP resulted in a significant decrease in lung RANTES levels compared to the corresponding levels in the absence of SR140333 (**Fig. 3.3b**).

Similarly MCP-1 production increased significantly in the lungs of CLP mice compared to that of sham animals (**Fig. 3.4a**). This increase in MCP-1 levels was reversed significantly by SR140333 administered either pre- or post-CLP surgery (**Fig. 3.4a**). A similar trend was also found in plasma samples (**Fig. 3.4b**). The high level of plasma MCP-1 found in CLP mice was decreased by SR140333 treatment. The reduction observed was especially significant when SR140333 was injected 30 min before CLP (**Fig. 3.4b**).

#### 3.3.3 Effect of SR140333 treatment on cytokine levels in lung

As a primary line of defense against invading pathogens, cytokines are released in large amount by the host immune system. In the CLP sepsis model, I measured the major cytokines, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ , in lung tissue. As shown in **Fig 3.5a**, CLP animals injected only with the vehicle showed a significant increase in lung IL-1 $\beta$ levels compared to that in sham mice. Administration of SR140333, both 30 min before and 1 h after CLP, resulted in a significant reduction in the lung IL-1 $\beta$  levels. Another important cytokine studied - IL-6, showed a similar pattern of increase in CLP induced sepsis (**Fig. 3.5b**). The lung levels of IL-6 in CLP mice injected only with vehicle, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, were significantly higher compared to that in sham operated group. SR140333 when injected either 30 min before or 1 h after

Fig. 3.4a



Fig. 3.4b



**Figure 3.4 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung (Fig. 3.4a) and plasma (Fig. 3.4b) MCP-1 levels in mice.** Mice (n = 6-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-

operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and plasma and lung MCP-1 levels were estimated as described in Methods. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.01 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.01 when sR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals.

Fig. 3.5a

IL-1β (Lung) (fold increase over control)



Fig. 3.5b

IL-6 (Lung) (fold increase over control)



Fig. 3.5c



Figure 3.5 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-1 $\beta$  (Fig. 3.5a), IL-6 (Fig. 3.5b) and TNF- $\alpha$  (Fig. 3.5c), in mice. Mice (n = 6-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  level were estimated. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when sR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.005 when vehicle-treated CLP animals.

CLP significantly decreased the lung IL-6 levels compared to the corresponding values in the absence of SR140333 treatment in CLP mice (**Fig. 3.5b**). The lung TNF- $\alpha$  level was not significantly different between sham operated animals and CLP operated mice treated only with the vehicle (**Fig. 3.5c**). Further, treatment with SR140333 did not lower the lung TNF- $\alpha$  level significantly in both the treatment groups 8 h after CLP, as shown in **Fig 3.5c**.

#### 3.3.4 Effect of SR140333 treatment on adhesion molecules in lung

Adhesion molecules play an important role in the leukocyte-endothelial interactions and resulting leukocyte migration into the site of injury or infection. ELISA assay was performed to analyze the lung levels of adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E- and P-selectin in sepsis. Figure 3.6a represents ICAM-1 levels in lung of sham- operated or CLP-operated mice. Animals with CLP surgery had a significantly higher level of ICAM-1 in lung compared to the level in sham surgery group (Fig. **3.6a**). SR1403333 injected either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP lowered this increase significantly (Fig. 3.6a). Lung VCAM-1 level showed no statistically significant increase with CLP operation compared to the levels in sham operated mice (Fig. 3.6b). Selectins are a major class of adhesion molecules known to play an important role in early inflammation stages in recruiting the leukocytes to the site of inflammation. Next, I investigated the changes in the production of selectins in lungs. Lung Eselectin level was significantly higher after CLP surgery compared to that in shamoperated mice (Fig. 3.7a). This increase was almost completely reversed by SR1403333 when injected either 30 min or 1 h after CLP (Fig. 3.7b). A similar trend was observed in case of another selectin, the P-selectin. When P-selectin levels were determined 8 h after CLP procedure, there was a significant increase in both pre- and

Fig. 3.6a



Fig. 3.6b

V-CAM-1 (Lung) (fold increase over control)



Figure 3.6 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung levels of adhesion molecules, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, in mice. Mice (n = 6-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups.

CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 level were estimated. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.05 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $^{\infty} p < 0.01$  when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals.

Fig. 3.7a



Fig. 3.7b

P-Selectin (Lung) (fold increase over control)



Figure 3.7 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung levels of adhesion molecules, E-selectin (Fig. 3.7a) and P-selectin (Fig. 3.7b), in mice. Mice (n = 6-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and

sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung E-selectin and P-selectin levels were estimated. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.01 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.01 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $\dagger p < 0.05$  when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals.

post-vehicle control groups compared to sham operated mice. Administration of SR140333 30 min before or 1 h after CLP resulted in a significant reduction in lung P-selectin levels. These results indicate that treatment with SR140333 reduced the lung inflammation in CLP sepsis, in terms of neutrophil infiltration, levels of chemokines, cytokines and adhesion molecules.

#### **3.4 Discussion**

Accumulating evidence over the years has emphasized the pro-inflammatory role of SP in various inflammatory states. SP, acting via NK-1R, has been shown to enhance inflammation. SP is also known to activate mast cells and thus stimulate neutrophil extravasation (Yano et al., 1989; Walsh et al., 1995). The importance of SP and NK-1R in inflammation has been evident from the earlier studies using mice deficient in NK-1R (Bhatia et al., 1998) and PPTA gene (Bhatia et al., 2003), which demonstrated a key role of SP in acute pancreatitis and associated lung injury. In addition, treatment with NK-1R antagonist, CP-96345, has been shown to be protective against acute pancreatitis and associated lung injury (Lau et al., 2005; Lau and Bhatia 2006). Recently the role of *PPTA* gene products as key mediators of lung injury in polymicrobial sepsis was reported (Puneet et al., 2006). The study showed that the deletion of PPTA gene in mice delayed the pathology of sepsis with protection against pulmonary tissue damage (Puneet et al., 2006). Results from the present study further substantiate the role of SP in sepsis and demonstrate SP as a potential therapeutic target in sepsis.

SR140333 is a highly selective and potent non-peptide antagonist of NK-1R compared to CP96345 and RP67580, two proto-typical non-peptide antagonists of NK-1R (Emonds-Alt *et al.*, 1993). This competitive blocker has the advantage of being species independent in its potency (Emonds-Alt *et al.*, 1993). Thus we used SR140333 at a dose sufficient enough to inhibit the SP effects of bronchoconstriction and plasma extravasations (Emonds-Alt *et al.*, 1993). CLP was used as the model of polymicrobial sepsis and SR140333 was injected either 30 min before or 1 h after the CLP surgery. The experiment was designed to study the effects of inhibition when SR140333 was given before the surgery as well as after the pathogenic assault has set in. The animals were sacrificed 8 h after CLP to collect blood and tissue as the MPO activity was observed to peak at this time point. Since lung is the main target for damage in sepsis (Cohen 2002), we have focused primarily on pulmonary injury and the levels of inflammatory mediators in lung.

Neutrophil migration to the site of infection is important in the control of infection in sepsis. Neutrophils achieve host defense by releasing proteolytic enzymes and producing reactive oxygen species to degrade invading pathogens. However, excessive production of these factors by overwhelmingly activated neutrophils may lead to host tissue damage during sepsis. MPO activity in lung as a measure of neutrophil infiltration was evaluated 8 h after CLP. MPO activity increased after CLP and was reduced significantly by treatment with SR140333, 30 min before or 1 h after CLP. This was further supported by the histological sections of lung. SR140333 injection clearly reduced the leukocyte infiltration and edema, the signs of lung injury in sepsis. Recruitment of various inflammatory cells including neutrophils is mediated by chemokines (Salkowski *et al.*, 1998). Chemokines, MCP-1 and MIP-2 are known to orchestrate migration of leukocytes during sepsis and lead to tissue injury. We have

shown that MCP-1 and MIP-2 level in lung correlates with neutrophil infiltration in the

51

lung (Puneet *et al.*, 2006). Consistent with the earlier reports, I found a significant increase in the production of MCP-1 and MIP-2 in lung. SR140333 treatment significantly lowered the lung levels of these two chemokines. RANTES levels also reduced significantly with SR140333 administration.

Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1β and TNF-α are needed to control infection in sepsis (Ashare *et al.*, 2005). Although these cytokines recruit and activate cells that defend against pathogens during the early phase of infection, if produced in excess, the same cytokines can damage the tissue (Ness *et al.*, 2004). Further, MCP-1 is known to attract neutrophils by activating resident macrophages, which are the source of many inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Matsukawa *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, next I studied the production of major cytokines IL-6, IL-1β and TNF-α in lung after SR140333 treatment. As the cytokines produced locally in tissue inflammation are more important than that in the serum, I analyzed the levels mainly in lung tissues.

There was a significant increase in the lung levels of both IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$  8 h after CLP. Neuropeptides are known to stimulate cytokine production in macrophages, lymphocytes and mast cells (Dickerson *et al.*, 1998). In addition, SP is reported to influence LPS induced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines which was abolished by NK-1R blocking (Dickerson *et al.*, 1998). SR140333 administration either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP in the present study reversed the increase in IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$ . However, unlike in LPS induced endotoxemia, in CLP model of sepsis TNF- $\alpha$  is not the main mediator of mortality (Eskandari *et al.*, 1992; Villa *et al.*, 1995). Consistently, the present results showed no significant difference in lung TNF- $\alpha$  level after CLP.

Adhesion molecules are important in the activation and adhesion of leukocytes to the endothelium and infiltration into the tissue to fight the infectious organisms (Chandra et al., 2006). Selectins, a major group of adhesion molecules, are involved in the earliest step of acute inflammatory process mediating the rolling of leukocytes (Chandra et al., 2006). High level of pro-inflammatory mediators in sepsis is reported to up-regulate various adhesion molecules (Parent and Eichacker 1999). Absence of ICAM-1 in knock-out mice has been reported to reduce the severity of sepsis by impairing the leukocyte migration and damage of organs (Hildebrand et al., 2005). I found a significant increase in the lung levels of ICAM-1, E- and P-selectin in mice with CLP induced sepsis compared to sham operated group. Treatment with SR140333 lowered the lung levels of ICAM-1, E- and P-selectin significantly. It has been shown that SP induces leukocyte trafficking via the up-regulation of adhesion molecules and treatment with SR140333 reduced the leukocyte rolling, adhesion and emigration (McLean et al., 2000). Thus SR140333 treatment in the present study could have reduced the severity of sepsis by impairing the leukocyte migration via modulating the levels of adhesion molecules. Further there was a significant reduction in VCAM-1 level with SR140333 treatment in CLP mice which is consistent with the reported blocking of SP-induced endothelial VCAM-1 expression in skin cells by a NK-1R antagonist (Quinlan et al., 1999).

As SP levels are known to be increased in sepsis, it can be speculated from the present data that SP acting through NK-1R is one of the major players in sepsis, responsible for the leukocyte responses, inflammatory processes and pulmonary damage. I further hypothesize that chemokines (MCP-1, MIP-2), cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6) and adhesion molecules (ICAM-1, E-selectin, and P-selectin) are modulated downstream by the

action of SP on NK-1R. Thus blocking of NK-1R by SR140333 could ameliorate the inflammatory effects in sepsis.

In summary, data from the present study shows a beneficial role of SR140333 treatment in lung injury in CLP induced mouse sepsis model. SR140333 injected either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP significantly reduced the lung levels of MPO, MIP-2, MCP-1, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, ICAM-1, E-selectin, and P-selectin. As septic lung injury involves various mediators, therapeutic strategies should be targeted at multiple mediators for a successive outcome and NK-1R blocking has a potential therapeutic benefit by lowering the leukocyte infiltration and lung levels of chemokines, cytokines and adhesion molecules. However further clinical studies are needed to establish the benefits of NK-1R blockade in sepsis. Next section provides mechanistic insights into the actions of SP-NK-1R in sepsis.

#### **CHAPTER 4. MECHANISTIC STUDIES**

#### 4.1 Introduction

NF- $\kappa$ B transcription factor system is known to control the expression of a number of genes involved in the innate immune response of the body against infection and inflammation. Genes responsible for immunoreceptors, cytokines, chemokines and apoptosis are all modulated by this important family of transcription factor (Viatour *et al.*, 2005). NF- $\kappa$ B activity is reported to be impaired in chronic inflammation (Calzado *et al.*, 2007) and inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B has been suggested to be beneficial in maintaining the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in inflammatory diseases (Amos *et al.*, 2006). AP-1 is another transcription factor that is induced by inflammatory cytokines and cellular stress. Phosphorylation of AP-1 is necessary for transcriptional activity.

Phosphorylation of NF-κB and AP-1 and thus transcription of pro-inflammatory mediators is facilitated by the activation of various MAPKs. MAPKs in turn are activated by bacterial products, cytokines and chemokines (Brown and Jones 2004; Kyriakis and Avruch 2001). AP-1 c-Jun is reported to be phosphorylated *in vitro* by ERK1 and ERK2 (Pulverer *et al.*, 1993; Pulverer *et al.*, 1991). ERK is also shown to be a regulator of NF-κB activity (Jiang *et al.*, 2004). ERK1/2 reportedly induce NF-κB activation by stimulating downstream MAPK-activated protein kinases (MKs) (Panta *et al.*, 2004; Hayden and Gosh 2004). p38 MAPKs are also activated by inflammatory cytokines and environmental stress.

With NK-1R antagonist treatment showing a beneficial role in lung injury in CLPinduced mouse sepsis model, I next explored the possible mechanism by which SP contributes to sepsis by investigating downstream mediators and transcription factors involved in this effect. Apart from analyzing the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1, protein levels of second messengers and MAPKs, mRNA levels of NK-1R and SP concentrations were also evaluated.

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Animal ethics

All animal experiments performed were in accordance with the guidelines of the DSO Animal Care and Use Committee (DSOACUC), DMERI, Singapore as mentioned in **Section 2.2.** 

#### 4.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis

Swiss mice (male, 25-30 g) used for the study were randomly assigned to sham or CLP experimental groups (n > 6 in each group). Polymicrobial sepsis was induced in mice by CLP as described in **Section 2.3**. The same surgical procedure except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. Vehicle (DMSO diluted in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml, s.c.) was administered to CLP-operated mice either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The animals were sacrificed 8 h after surgery by an i.p. injection of a lethal dose of pentobarbitone. Blood was collected by cardiac puncture, heparinized, centrifuged, plasma removed and stored at -80° C. Samples of lung were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C for subsequent measurement.
#### 4.2.3 Preparation of nuclear extract

Nuclear extracts were prepared from lung tissue and protein concentrations in the extracts were measured as explained in **Section 2.9**.

#### 4.2.4 NF-κB DNA-binding activity

ELISA-based TransAM NF- $\kappa$ B p65 transcription factor assay kit (Active Motif, SciMed, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used to measure NF- $\kappa$ B DNA-binding activity from the nuclear extract (reference: **Section 2.10**).

#### 4.2.5 AP-1 DNA-binding activity

TransAM AP-1 c-Jun transcription factor assay kits (Active Motif, SciMed, Carlsbad, CA, USA) were used to quantify AP-1 activation in the nuclear extract according to **Section 2.11**.

#### 4.2.6 Western blot experiment

Protein levels of  $I\kappa B\alpha$ , ERK1/2, JNK, p38, PKC $\alpha$  in lung homogenates were analyzed by Western blot according to **Section 2.12**.

#### 4.2.7 RNA isolation and quantification

Total RNA was isolated from the lung tissue and quantified as described in **Section 2.13**. RNA samples with  $A_{260}/A_{280}$  ratios close to 2.0 (range: 1.9–2.1) and integrity were used for RT-PCR.

#### 4.2.8 Semiquantitative RT-PCR

Isolated lung RNA (1  $\mu$ g) was reversely transcribed and PCR amplified (Section 2.14). The primer sequences and optimal amplification conditions for NK-1R and NK-2R are given in Table 4.1.

# Table 4.1 Primer sequences and optimal conditions used in PCR analysis

Gene name	Sense primer sequence (5'-3')	Antisense primer sequence (5'-3')	Amplification conditions	No. of amplifi- cation cycles
NK-1R	CTT GCC TTT TGG AAC CGT GTG	CAC TGT CCT CAT TCTCTT GTGGG	95°C 30s; 59°C 30s; 72°C 30s	38
NK-2R	TGC TGT CAT CTG GCT GGT AG	TCT TCC TCG GTT GGT GTC CC	95°C 30s; 61°C 30s; 72°C 30s	42
18S	GTA ACC CGT TGA ACC CCA TT	CCA TCC AAT CGG TAG TAG CG	95°C 30s; 59°C 30s; 72°C 30s	24

#### 4.2.9 Substance P estimation

SP levels were measured in lung and plasma by competitive ELISA method according to **Section 2.7**. The lung SP concentration was then corrected for the DNA content of the tissue.

#### 4.2.10 Nitric oxide measurement

Lung and plasma nitrite levels were determined as an indicator of NO production by spectrophotometric analysis using Griess reagent as described in **Section 2.8**.

#### 4.2.11 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed as mentioned in Section 2.17.

## 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Effect of SR140333 treatment on lung NF-кВ activation after sepsis

As NF- $\kappa$ B is an important transcription factor involved in inflammatory diseases, its activation and nuclear translocation was measured after induction of sepsis and treatment with the NK-1R antagonist. NF- $\kappa$ B activity was significantly increased (p <0.001) in vehicle treated (both prophylactic and therapeutic) mice 8 h after CLP compared to the sham group (Fig 4.1a). Injection of SR140333, both 30 min before and 1 h after CLP, reduced the NF- $\kappa$ B activity significantly (p < 0.001) (Fig 4.1a). Western blot analysis was performed to evaluate the activation and degradation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ . When the inhibitory protein I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  is phosphorylated and degraded, NF- $\kappa$ B is freed for nuclear translocation. As expected, I observed a significant reduction in I $\kappa$ B levels (p < 0.01) in vehicle treated (both prophylactic and therapeutic) mice 8 h after

Fig. 4.1a



Fig. 4.1b



Figure 4.1 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung NF- $\kappa$ B DNA-binding activity and I $\kappa$ B- $\alpha$  level. Mice (n = 6-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung NF- $\kappa$ B DNA-binding activity and I $\kappa$ B- $\alpha$  level were determined. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.001 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals.

CLP compared to the sham group (Fig 4.1b). SR140333 treatment, both 30 min before and 1 h after CLP, restored the I $\kappa$ B levels significantly (p < 0.05) (Fig 4.1a).

# 4.3.2 Effect of SR140333 treatment on lung AP-1 activation after sepsis

Activation of another transcription factor that is involved in sepsis, AP-1 c-Jun, was also measured after induction of sepsis and treatment with the NK-1R antagonist. 8 h after CLP, AP-1 activity was significantly increased (p < 0.001) compared to the sham group in vehicle treated mice (**Fig 4.2**). S.c administration of the NK-1R antagonist, SR140333, both 30 min before and 1 h after CLP, reduced the AP-1 activity significantly (p < 0.05).

#### **4.3.3 Effect of SR140333 treatment on MAPKs and PKCa in sepsis**

To evaluate the link between NK-1R antagonist treatment and transcription factor inhibition, western blot analysis was performed for various MAPKs: ERK1/2, p38 and JNK. Significant activation of ERK1/2 to the phosphorylated form was detected 8 h after CLP in vehicle treated mice lung homogenates (p < 0.05) (Fig 4.3a). SR140333 treatment, both 30 min before and 1 h after CLP, showed a trend to reduce the phospho ERK1/2 levels, although the reduction was not statistically significant (Fig 4.3a).

p38 and JNK MAPKs showed very weak signals and did not show significant differences between the groups (data not shown).

The enzyme PKC $\alpha$  involved in signal transduction of G-protein-coupled receptors was also evaluated in sepsis. Significant phosphorylation and activation of PKC $\alpha$  was observed 8 h after sepsis in mice injected with only vehicle compared to the sham group (p < 0.05) (Fig 4.3b). Prophylactic and therapeutic blocking of NK-1R with SR140333 resulted in a significant reduction in lung PKC $\alpha$  phosphorylation in mice

Fig. 4.2



Figure 4.2 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung AP-1 activity. Mice (n = 8-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pretreatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung AP-1 cJun activity was determined. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals.







Figure 4.3 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung Phospho ERK1/2 (Fig.4.3a) and Phospho-PKCa (Fig. 4.3b). Mice (n = 6 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung Phospho-ERK1/2 and Phospho-PKCa were determined. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.05 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals.

8 h after sepsis induction (p < 0.05).

#### 4.3.4 Effect of SR140333 treatment on lung NK receptors after sepsis

mRNA levels of NK receptors, NK-1R and NK-2R, were analyzed by semiquantitative RT-PCR. CLP-induced sepsis resulted in a significant up-regulation of both the NK receptors in vehicle-treated mice compared to sham group (p < 0.05) (Fig 4.4a and b). NK-1R blocker had no significant changes on the expression of NK-1R and NK-2R.

#### 4.3.5 Effect of SR140333 treatment on SP levels in sepsis

Next I measured the protein levels of SP in plasma and lung. Both systemic (p < 0.01) (Fig 4.5a) and lung tissue (p < 0.01) (Fig 4.5b) SP levels were elevated in mice subjected to CLP surgery as shown previously (Puneet *et al.*, 2006). Treatment with SR140333 did not affect the lung SP levels (Fig 4.5b). However, plasma SP levels were significantly reduced by the NK-1R antagonist, both prophylactically and therapeutically (p < 0.05) (Fig 4.5a).

#### 4.3.6 Effect of SR140333 treatment on NO levels in sepsis

Lung and plasma nitrite levels as a measure of NO were measured. As expected in sepsis, NO levels were significantly higher in plasma (p < 0.05) and lung (p < 0.001) 8 h after CLP procedure (**Fig 4.6a and b**). SR140333 administered s.c. failed to lower the elevated NO levels in lung (**Fig 4.6b**). However, the reduction was significant in plasma for both, prophylactic and therapeutic groups (p < 0.01) (**Fig 4.6a**).

## **4.4 Discussion**

In the previous chapter, the data indicated that SP acting through NK-1R was responsible for the leukocyte responses, inflammatory processes and pulmonary damage in polymicrobial sepsis and various chemokines, cytokines and adhesion

**Fig. 4.4a** 



Fig. 4.4b



**Figure 4.4 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on lung NK-1R (Fig.4.4a) and NK-2R (Fig. 4.4b) mRNA levels.** Mice (n = 6-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal

ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung NK-1R and NK-2R mRNA were determined. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.05 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals.

Fig. 4.5a





Fig. 4.5b



Figure 4.5 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on plasma (Fig 4.5a) and lung (Fig. 4.5b) SP levels. Mice (n = 6-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were

sacrificed and plasma and lung SP levels were determined. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.01 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.05 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals.

#### Fig. 4.6a

NO (Plasma) (fold increase over control)



Fig. 4.6b





Figure 4.6 Effect of SR140333 administration, either 30 min before or 1 h after CLP, on plasma (Fig 4.6a) and lung (Fig. 4.6b) NO levels. Mice (n = 6-7 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or SR140333 (1 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. either 30 min before (pre-treatment) or 1 h after (post-treatment) the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and plasma and lung NO levels were determined. Results shown are the

mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.05 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals; \*\* p < 0.01 when SR140333-treated CLP animals were compared with vehicle-treated CLP animals;  $^{\infty} p < 0.001$  when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals.

molecules modulated the downstream signaling pathway. Blocking of NK-1R was beneficial to the mice in managing the inflammatory effects in sepsis. So my next goal was to explore the underlying mechanisms for these beneficial effects of SR140333 in sepsis. It was important to see how the downstream intracellular signaling was propagated in order to achieve this effect.

It is well known that SP, after binding to NK-1R, up-regulates pro-inflammatory cytokines (Williams et al., 2007). Also, activation of inflammatory mediators in sepsis depends mainly on the activation of pro-inflammatory transcription factor NF-kB (Calzado *et al.*, 2007). NF- $\kappa$ B is activated by a wide range of signals including bacterial LPS, cytokines, viral infection and lung injury. Furthermore, lung epithelial cells have been reported to highly express cytokine genes in response to stimuli or injury (Chang *et al.*, 1998; Hierholzer *et al.*, 1997). My data on NF-κB shows that SP acting through NK-1R was responsible for NF-kB activation and thus expression of pro-inflammatory mediators in sepsis. Treatment of septic mice with NK-1R antagonist resulted in lowering of IkB degradation and reduction in nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B. Although NF- $\kappa$ B inhibition has been reported to improve survival in endotoxin models, the situation is not so straight forward in CLP-induced sepsis (Calzado et al., 2007). Impaired survival has been reported when NF-KB was inhibited by the metal chelator PDTC (Joshi *et al.*, 2002). While inhibition of NF-κB decreases the inflammatory mediators, complete loss of anti-apoptotic actions of NF- $\kappa B$  might be detrimental in the host-defense against invading pathogens (Calzado et al., 2007). I found a lowering of NF-kB activation, but the levels were still elevated compared to the basal levels. SR140333 treatment lowered the activity of AP-1 transcription factor as well in sepsis. AP-1 is reported to regulate various cytokine and

chemokine genes (Zenz *et al.*, 2008). Thus SR140333 appears to modulate inflammatory mediators by regulating the activation of transcription factors NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1.

MAPKs signaling cascade, especially ERK1/2, is known to activate NF-κB transcription (Kyriakis and Avruch 2001; Chen *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2005). *In vitro* treatment of Tacr1-expressing cells with SP is shown to increase phosphorylation of ERK1/2 (Williams *et al.*, 2007). I investigated the potential involvement of ERK in mediating SP-NK-1R induced NF-<sub>π</sub>B activation in sepsis. ERK phosphorylation was significantly increased in CLP induced sepsis, indicating a possible activation of NFκB mediated by this MAPK in sepsis. However, NK-1R blocking did not reduce the ERK level to a significant extent. Tachykinins have the ability to activate NF-κB by multiple mechanisms (Williams *et al.*, 2007). In colonic epithelial cells, SP-induced NF-κB activation was dependent on the activity of PKCδ but not calcium or ERK (Koon *et al.*, 2005; Zhao *et al.*, 2002). Thus, possibly other mechanisms might be involved in the SP-NK-1R mediated signaling in sepsis in addition to ERK.

NK-1R, which mediates the actions of SP, is a G-protein-coupled receptor (Mizuta *et al.*, 2008; Williams *et al.*, 2007) and PKC is a downstream signalling molecule activated by G-protein-coupled receptors (Nishizuka 1995). The serine/threonine PKC family has at least 11 mammalian isozymes and are important components of intracellular signal transduction pathways (Lee *et al.*, 2008). PKC is involved in regulating transcription and mediating immune response (Tan and Parker 2003). It is known to aggregate platelets and constrict bronchial smooth muscles (Harper and Poole 2007; Dempsey *et al.*, 2007). A PKC inhibitor is reported to suppress angiotensin-induced NF-κB expression in vascular smooth muscles (Ji *et al.*, 2009).

PKCα acting upstream of PKCθ is reported to activate the IKK complex and NF- $\kappa$ B in T lymphocytes (Trushin *et al.*, 2003). PKC inhibitor has been shown to block SP induced activation of NF- $\kappa$ B *in vitro* (Williams *et al.*, 2007). I observed a significant phosphorylation and activation of PKCα, 8 h after sepsis and blocking of NK-1R with SR140333 resulted in a significant reduction in lung PKCα levels. Thus it is possible to conclude that SP acting through NK-1R promotes inflammation in polymicrobial sepsis via NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1 activation, mediated also by PKCα.

NK-1R is implicated in mediating pro-inflammatory processes and its expression is reported to be up-regulated in inflammatory conditions (O'Connor *et al.*, 2003; Chu *et al.*, 2000). NK-1R inhibitor is shown to diminish lung inflammation in rats infected with respiratory syncytial virus (King *et al.*, 2001). Increased expression of NK-1 (Adcock *et al.*, 1993) and NK-2 (Bai *et al.*, 1995) receptor mRNA has been reported in asthmatic airways. As expected, expression of NK-1R and NK-2R in the present study was elevated 8 h after CLP-induced sepsis. Treatment with NK-1R antagonist had no significant change in the receptor expression, although it reduced the lung inflammation in sepsis.

Similarly lung and plasma SP levels were elevated in septic mice in the absence of NK-1R blocker. We have earlier shown SP to be a key mediator of sepsis and associated lung damage (Puneet *et al.*, 2006). Tissue (lung) levels of SP were not affected by blocking the actions of SP. However it is intriguing that plasma SP levels were lowered by the NK-1R antagonism. It is possible that blocking of SP actions resulted in its increased clearance from the bloodstream, but the local levels at the site of injury remained elevated; as such the increase in SP levels in CLP was of higher magnitude in tissue compared to plasma. Expression of *PPTA* gene that encodes for SP

and NKA was also observed to be up-regulated 8 h after CLP-induced sepsis and the levels correlated with the corresponding lung and plasma SP concentrations (data not shown).

NO is considered to be a mediator of sepsis and associated tissue damage (Vincent *et al.*, 2000). In normal conditions, vascular endothelial cells produce low levels of NO that regulate blood pressure by mediating smooth-muscle relaxation (Kuhl and Rosen 1998). However, in sepsis, LPS and cytokines induce iNOS to synthesize high levels of NO leading to smooth-muscle relaxation, pressor refractory vasodilation, and shock (Kuhl and Rosen 1998). The present data shows that CLP induced sepsis resulted in a significant increase in lung NO levels and NK-1R blocking had no effect on tissue NO levels. However, plasma NO levels were reduced by SR140333 treatment. The reason for this effect is not clear.

In conclusion, the data reveal that SP acting via NK-1R initiates signaling cascade that is mediated by PKC $\alpha$  and ERK and leads to NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1 activation and further modulates pro-inflammatory mediators in polymicrobial sepsis and the effect of SP is blocked by NK-1R antagonist SR140333. Next, I studied the role of NK-2R antagonism in sepsis.

# CHAPTER 5. NEUROKININ-2 RECEPTOR ANTAGONIST TREATMENT IN POLYMICROBIAL SEPSIS

# **5.1 Introduction**

SP, NKA and NKB are the three major members of tachykinin family, each of which bind to specific neurokinin receptors in a preferential manner and may play a critical role in inflammation. The effects of SP are mediated mainly by NK-1R as it binds NK-1R with high affinity compared to its low affinity to the other tachykinin receptors, NK-2R and NK-3R (Koon and Pothoulakis 2006). NKA and NKB show high binding affinity for NK-2R and NK-3R respectively (Patacchini *et al.*, 2004). NK-2R mRNA, but not NK-3R, has been detected in normal lungs (Lau and Bhatia 2006). A selective NK-2R inhibitor has been reported to inhibit NKA induced bronchoconstriction in asthmatics (Van Schoor *et al.*, 1998).

Although the effects of SP were found to be mediated mainly via NK-1R in sepsis, it was interesting to explore if NK-2R had any role in the actions of SP in sepsis. Both NK-1 and NK-2 receptors are reported to be up-regulated in burn-associated sepsis promoting the formation of oedema and hyperalgesia (Sabato *et al.*, 2003). During the early phase of endotoxemia, endogenous tachykinins have been shown to act through NK-2R affecting lung mechanics and both NK-1 and NK-2 receptors were involved in causing airway microvascular leakage (Tang *et al.*, 2002). GR159897 is a highly potent, selective and long acting non-peptide NK-2R antagonist (Beresford *et al.*, 1995; Advenier 1995). It is proposed to be a useful tool for studying the physiological

and pathophysiological role of NK-2R activation. Thus, I studied the effect of blocking NK-2R with GR159897 in polymicrobial sepsis. Lung MPO activity, chemokine and cytokine levels were measured to evaluate the beneficial effects, if any, of blocking NK-2R in sepsis.

### **5.2 Materials and Methods**

#### 5.2.1 Animal ethics

All animal experiments performed were in accordance with the guidelines of the DSO Animal Care and Use Committee (DSOACUC), DMERI, Singapore as mentioned in **Section 2.2.** 

### 5.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis

Swiss male mice (25-30 g) used for the study were randomly assigned to sham or CLP experimental groups (n > 6 in each group). Polymicrobial sepsis was induced in mice by CLP as described in **Section 2.3**. The same surgical procedure except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. Vehicle (DMSO diluted in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or GR159897 (0.12 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml, s.c.) was administered to CLP-operated mice 1 h after the CLP. The animals were sacrificed 8 h after surgery by an i.p. injection of a lethal dose of pentobarbitone. Samples of lung were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C for subsequent measurement of tissue MPO activity and chemokine and cytokine levels.

#### **5.2.3 Myeloperoxidase estimation**

MPO activity as a measure of neutrophil sequestration in lung was quantified as described in **Section 2.4**.

#### 5.2.4 ELISA analysis

Lung tissue homogenates were assayed to evaluate the level of chemokines (MCP-1 and MIP-2), and cytokines (IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$ ) by a sandwich ELISA according to **Section 2.5**. Sample concentration was estimated from the respective standard curve.

#### 5.2.5 Statistical analysis

All values were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). The significance of changes was evaluated by using ANOVA when comparing three or more groups and Tukey's method as a post hoc test for comparison among different groups. A *p* value of < 0.05 was considered to indicate a significant difference.

#### 5.3 Results

# 5.3.1 Effect of GR159897 treatment on neutrophil sequestration in lung after CLP surgery

Tissue MPO activity as a measure of neutrophil infiltration was quantified as increased MPO activities indicate neutrophil recruitment and a state of inflammation. As expected, 8 h after CLP, MPO activity in lung was significantly increased in vehicle treated animals when compared to the sham mice (p < 0.001) (Fig. 5.1). However treatment with the NK-2R antagonist, GR159897, 1 h after CLP, did not significantly reduce the MPO activity in lung (Fig. 5.1).

# 5.3.2 Effect of GR159897 treatment on lung chemokine levels in septic mice

Chemokines produced in response to infection attract various inflammatory cells in sepsis. I measured the levels of major CXC chemokine, MIP-2 and CC chemokine,

Fig. 5.1



Figure 5.1 Effect of GR159897 administration 1 h after CLP on lung neutrophil infiltration. Mice (n = 6-8 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or GR159897 (0.12 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. 1 h after the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung MPO activity was determined. Results shown are the mean ± SEM. \* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals.

MCP-1 in lung homogenates. CLP-induced sepsis resulted in a significantly higher MIP-2 levels in vehicle treated mice compared to the sham group (p < 0.001) (Fig. 5.2a). However, GR159897 treatment did not change the elevated lung MIP-2 levels observed 8 h after CLP surgery in vehicle control group (Fig. 5.2a). Similarly MCP-1 levels also increased significantly 8 h after CLP surgery without GR159897 administration compared to that of sham animals (p < 0.001) (Fig. 5.2b). But this increase in MCP-1 levels was not affected significantly by GR159897 administration 1 h after CLP surgery (Fig. 5.2b).

# 5.3.3 Effect of GR159897 treatment on lung cytokine levels in septic mice

Further, I measured the major cytokines, IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6, in lung tissue. Animals injected only with the vehicle showed a significant increase in lung IL-1 $\beta$  levels 8 h after CLP surgery compared to that in sham mice (p < 0.001) (Fig. 5.3a). Administration of GR159897 1 h after CLP procedure failed to affect the lung IL-1 $\beta$  levels (Fig. 5.3a). IL-6 showed a similar pattern of increase in CLP induced sepsis (Fig. 5.3b). The lung IL-6 levels in mice subjected to CLP surgery and injected only with the vehicle 1 h after CLP, were significantly higher compared to that in sham operated group (p < 0.001). GR159897 when injected 1 h after CLP surgery did not significantly change the lung IL-6 levels compared to the corresponding levels in the absence of NK-2R antagonist treatment (Fig. 5.3b).

## **5.4 Discussion**

NK-2R stimulation has been reported to play a role in bronchoconstriction induced by various agents that induce the release of tachykinins (Advenier *et al.*, 1997; Joos and

Fig. 5.2a





Figure 5.2 Effect of GR159897 administration 1 h after CLP on lung MIP-2 (Fig. 5.2a) and MCP-1 (Fig. 5.2b) levels. Mice (n = 6-8 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or GR159897 (0.12 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. 1 h after the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung MIP-2 and MCP-1 levels were determined. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals.

Fig. 5.3a



Fig. 5.3b

IL-6 (Lung) (fold increase over control)



Figure 5.3 Effect of GR159897 administration 1 h after CLP on lung IL-1 $\beta$  (Fig. 5.3a) and IL-6 (Fig. 5.3b) levels. Mice (n = 7-9 in each group) were divided into CLP-operated and sham-operated groups. CLP-operated mice received vehicle (DMSO in PBS, 0.25% v/v) or GR159897 (0.12 mg/kg; 0.25 mg/ml) s.c. 1 h after the CLP. The same surgical procedure as the CLP-operated animals except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. 8 h after the CLP procedure, mice were sacrificed and lung IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 levels were determined. Results shown are the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* p < 0.001 when vehicle-treated CLP animals were compared with sham group animals.

Pauwels 2000). Selective NK-2R antagonists are thought to be beneficial in airway disease (Rizzo *et al.*, 1999). Inhibition of NKA mediated or capsaicin-mediated dyspnea by SR 48968, an NK-2R antagonist, has been demonstrated in guinea pigs (Advenier 1995). SR 48968 also is reported to inhibit cough induced by citric acid or capsaicin (Advenier 1995). In addition, SR 48968 is able to abolish the bronchial hyper-reactivity induced by a citric acid challenge or an ovalbumin challenge in guinea pigs (Advenier 1995). Nonpeptide, long-acting NK-2R antagonists are regarded as suitable experimental tools in humans, especially for a determination of the role of tachykinins in asthmatic patients.

GR159897 is a non-peptide NK-2R antagonist that I selected for the study to analyse the role of NK-2R blocking in polymicrobial sepsis-associated lung injury. Since NK-1R antagonism was found to be beneficial in polymicrobial sepsis and associated lung injury, I further evaluated if SP mediated its pro-inflammatory activity in sepsis via NK-2R, in addition to NK-1R. Administration of GR159897 1 h after CLP failed to reduce MPO levels significantly in septic mice. Also, the chemokines such as MCP-1, MIP-2 and cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 were not affected by NK-2R blocking in sepsis. Tachykinins are known to contract smooth muscles mainly by interaction with NK-2R, while the vascular and pro-inflammatory effects are mediated by NK-1R (Joos *et al.*, 2000). In the absence of GR159897, vehicle treated mice showed symptoms of polymicrobial sepsis with elevated MPO activity and lung chemokine and cytokine levels. Thus it seems probable that pro-inflammatory activity of SP in polymicrobial sepsis is mediated mainly by NK-1R. I did not probe the role of NK-3R as it is not found in the lungs (Lau and Bhatia 2006).

Further studies were performed using *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice.

# CHAPTER 6. *PPTA* GENE DELETION AND POLYMICROBIAL SEPSIS

### **6.1 Introduction**

Gene expression profiling using microarray is a relatively novel approach. Global genome explorations are efficient and feasible tools for understanding the molecular signature of diseases. The aim is to comprehensively analyze various mediators that are differentially expressed in a disease state and visualize the genetic network (Schulze and Downward 2001). This global approach could eventually help understand the complete mechanism involved in the pathogenesis of a disease better. With the help of microarray analysis, researchers can aim to search for diagnostic and therapeutic markers. However, there are few reports of using microarrays to study sepsis *in vivo* (Chung *et al.*, 2006).

It has been shown previously that the pathogenesis of sepsis was delayed in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice and the gene deletion protected against lung injury in sepsis (Puneet *et al.*, 2006). SP is also implicated in various other inflammatory conditions such as acute pancreatitis (Bhatia *et al.*, 2003) and endotoxemia (Ng *et al.*, 2008). To better understand the molecular mechanisms of polymicrobial sepsis and associated lung damage in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice, I employed microarray analysis of pulmonary gene expression. Main focus was on lung injury as respiratory failure is one of the main causes leading to mortality in sepsis. As the lung MPO activity was highest 8 h after CLP (data not shown), lung tissue was collected by sacrificing the mice at this time point. I sought to evaluate the genome-wide tissue-specific differential expression

pattern after the induction of polymicrobial sepsis in *PPTA* knockout mice, with particular focus on chemokines and cytokines. The microarray data was further supported with semi quantitative RT-PCR and ELISA.

## **6.2 Materials and Methods**

#### 6.2.1 Animal Ethics

Reference: Section 2.2

#### 6.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis

 $PPTA^{-/-}$  and wild-type Balb/c male mice (25-30 g) were randomly divided into sham or CLP experimental groups (n > 6 in each group). Polymicrobial sepsis was induced by CLP as explained in **Section 2.3**. The same surgical procedure except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. The animals were sacrificed 8 h after surgery by an i.p. injection of pentobarbitone. Samples of lung were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C for RNA isolation and ELISA. Blood was collected by cardiac puncture, heparinized, centrifuged, plasma removed and stored at -80° C for subsequent measurement.

#### 6.2.3 RNA isolation and quantification

Total RNA from lung tissue was isolated, purified and quantified as explained in detail in **Section 2.13**, with slight modification for microarray experiments. Briefly, tissue was homogenized in 10 ml Trizol in RNase free tube, incubated at room temperature for 5 min and centrifuged for 5 min at 11,750 g, 4° C. The supernatant was mixed with 2 ml chloroform, incubated at room temperature for 3 min and centrifuged for 15 min at 11,750 g, 4° C. 5 ml of the supernatant was mixed with 5 ml of isopropanol, incubated at room temperature for 10 min and centrifuged for 10 min at 11,750 g, 4° C. After discarding the supernatant, the pellets were washed with 1ml 75% ethanol, centrifuged for 5 min at 7500 g, 4° C and the total RNA pellets were subjected to clean-up as explained in **Section 2.13**. Only RNA samples passing the purity and integrity test were used further for microarray and RT-PCR analysis.

#### **6.2.4 Microarray experiments**

GeneChip hybridization and scanning were performed individually for each of the mouse lung sample from the four groups (n = 3 for each group; n = 12 total) according to Affymetrix GeneChip<sup>®</sup> Expression Analysis Technical Manual as mentioned in **Section 2.15**. All the 12 samples were processed simultaneously to avoid batch variations and errors.

#### 6.2.5 Microarray data analysis

Microarray data was analyzed and biological network pathway was created for both *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* and wild-type septic mice as described in **Section 2.16**.

# 6.2.6 Semiquantitative Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

Lung RNA (1 µg) was reverse transcribed and the cDNA was subjected to PCR amplification and analysis as briefed in **Section 2.14** for selected differentially expressed genes. The primer sequences for detection of IL-1 $\beta$ , MCP-1, MIP-2, interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra), MIP-1 $\alpha$ , MIP-1 $\beta$ , interferon inducible protein-10 (IP-10), serum amyloid A3 (SAA3), chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 2 (CCR-2), chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 5 (CCR-5) and 18S gene, optimal annealing temperature, and optimal cycles are shown in **Table 6.1**.

Gene name	Sense primer sequence (5'-3')	Antisense primer sequence (5'-3')	Amplification conditions	No. of amplification cycles
SAA3	AGC CTT CCA TTG CCA TCA TTC TT	AGT ATC TTT TAG GCA GGC CAG CA	94°C 1min; 58°C 1min; 74°C 1min	25
IP10	GTGTTGACATCATTGCCACG	GCTTACAGTACAGAGCTAGG	95°C 30s; 60°C 30s; 45°C 45s	30
MCP1	CCCCACTCACCTGCTGCTACT	CACTGTCACACTGGTCACTCC	95°C 50s; 64°C 50s; 72°C 1min	36
MIP-1a	ACTGCCCTTGCTGTTCTTCTCT	AGGCATTCAGTTCCAGGTCAGTGA	95°C 30s; 61°C 30s; 72°C 30s	33
MIP-1β	CCCTCTCTCTCCTCTTGCTCGT	TTCAACTCCAAGTCACTCATGTACTCA	94°C 30s; 55°C 30s; 72°C 1min	32
MIP-2	GCTGTCAATGCCTGAAGACC	TAGTTCCCAACTCACCCTCTC	95°C 50s; 65°C 50s; 72°C 1min	36
IL-1β	AAGGAGAACCAAGCAACGAC	GAGATTGAGCTGTCTGCTCA	95°C 50s; 63°C 50s; 72°C 1min	34
CCR-2	CACGAAGTATCCAAGAGCTT	CATGCTCTTCAGCTTTTTAC	94°C 30s; 58°C 45s; 72°C 70s	35
CCR-5	TTCCCTGTCATCGCTTGCTCT	CGGATGGAGATGCCGATTTT	94°C 1min; 60°C 1min; 72°C 2min	40
IL-1ra	GACCCTGCAAGATGCAAGCC	CAGGACGGTCAGCCTCTAGT	95°C 20s; 51°C 20s; 72°C 20s	36
18S	GTA ACC CGT TGA ACC CCA TT	CCA TCC AAT CGG TAG TAG CG	95°C 30s; 59°C 30s; 72°C 30s	24

 Table 6.1 Primer sequences and optimal conditions used in PCR analysis

#### 6.2.7 ELISA analysis

For the measurement of cytokine IL-1ra, ELISA kit from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA) was used employing a quantitative sandwich enzyme immunoassay as explained in **Section 2.5** with slight modification. Briefly, standards and samples were pipetted into the microplate wells pre-coated with mouse IL-1ra-specific polyclonal antibody and incubated for 2 h. After washing away unbound substances, an enzyme-linked mouse IL-1ra-specific polyclonal antibody was added to the wells and incubated for 2 h. Following a wash, a substrate solution was added to the wells and incubated for 30 min to yield a blue product that turned yellow when the Stop solution was added. The optical density of each well was determined using a microplate reader set to 450 nm. The intensity of the color measured was proportional to the amount of mouse IL-1ra bound in the initial step. The sample values were then read off the standard curve and corrected for the DNA content of the lung tissue. Lung IL-1ra was expressed as pg/µg of DNA and plasma as pg/ml. The lower limit of detection was 31.25 pg/ml.

#### 6.2.8 Statistics

Differentially expressed genes were analyzed by One-way ANOVA (p < 0.05) for array data to compare differences between the medians of the groups. For RT-PCR and ELISA data, statistical analysis was performed as mentioned in **Section 2.17**.

#### 6.3 Results

#### **6.3.1 Microarray quality control**

Each of the Affymetrix high-density oligonucleotide arrays that I used for lung expression profiling had 45000 probe sets to analyze the expression level of over

39000 transcripts and variants from about 34000 well characterized mouse genes. As the high cost of genomic investigations was a limitation, I used three arrays for each group according to MIAME guidelines (Brazma et al., 2001). All the twelve arrays passed the quality controls included within the arrays such as hybridization controls (bioB, bioC, bioD, and cre), Poly-A controls (dap, lys, phe, and thr), normalization control set and housekeeping/control genes (GAPDH, beta-Actin, transferrin receptor, pyruvate carboxylase). Illustration of the box-whisker plot was done to examine the distribution of data and to ensure proper dynamic range (Fig. 6.1). Data distributions were assessed based on the highest intensity value at saturation. Appropriately similar distribution of data was considered to be of high-technical quality for further analysis. The expression of genes was compared between sham controls and CLP-induced sepsis groups among wild-type and *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. I focused on genes that were either consistently increased or decreased in all sets of experiments. Only those genes whose expressions changed by 2-fold or greater in at least one pair-wise comparison were taken as significant (p < 0.05). These differentially expressed genes were further annotated based on their known biological functions using the Database for Annotation, Visualization, and Integrated Discovery (DAVID). Many of the genes were present in more than one functional class.

#### 6.3.2 Inflammatory gene profile of wild-type septic mice

**Table 6.2** lists majority of the genes altered by CLP in wild-type and *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, grouped under the biological process gene ontology classes of inflammatory response, chemotaxis, leukocyte activation, response to bacterium, regulation of cellular process, signal transduction, cytokine and chemokine mediated signaling pathway. Few others

Fig. 6.1



**Figure 6.1 The box-whisker plot of distribution of normalized intensity values for each sample.** The boxes represent interquartile range, with 75th percentile at the top and 25th percentile at the bottom. The line in the middle of the box represents the 50th percentile (median). Whiskers represent the rest of the distribution, with intensity values beyond 1.5 times the inter-quartile range shown in red. The *x*-axis represents individual microarray, while the *y*-axis represents the normalized intensity values. CLP – cecal ligation and puncture; *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> preprotachykinin-A* knockout.

# Table 6.2 Differentially expressed genes in wild-type and PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> mice 8 h after

cecar ingation and puncture (CEE) f-induced seps	cecal	ligation	and	puncture	(CLP	)-induced	sepsis
--	-------	----------	-----	----------	------	-----------	--------

Gene name	Fold increase/ decrease <sup>b</sup>			
	wild-type CLP	PPTA <sup>-/-</sup> CLP		
	(compared to sham)	(compared to sham)		
inflammatory Response		· · · /		
serum amyloid a 3 <sup>a</sup>	4.21	54.52		
chemokine (c-c motif) ligand 2 <sup>a</sup>	5.52	54.37		
fc receptor, ige, high affinity i, gamma polypeptide	2.30	7.15		
chemokine (c-x-c motif) ligand 10 <sup>a</sup>	5.04	12.58		
chemokine (c-c motif) receptor 1	4.66	15.52		
chemokine (c-x-c motif) ligand 1	5.35	37.74		
interleukin 1 receptor antagonist <sup>a</sup>	6.23	125.25		
chemokine (c-x-c motif) ligand 2 <sup>a</sup>	107.41	114.76		
cd14 antigen	7.93	13.70		
toll-like receptor 13	3.72	5.52		
chemokine (c-c motif) ligand 4 <sup>a</sup>	3.55	17.59		
interleukin 1 beta <sup>a</sup>	6.77	8.85		
selectin, platelet	2.57	12.03		
toll-like receptor 2	4.09	6.09		
complement component 5a receptor 1	3.19	6.50		
tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily, member	2.15	8.14		
1b				
cd28 antigen	1.87	2.56		
chemokine (c-c motif) ligand 3 <sup>a</sup>	13.05	73.16		
toll-like receptor 6	2.18	2.68		
tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily, member	_ c	2.09		
1a				
mitogen activated protein kinase kinase 3	-	2.12		
oxidized low density lipoprotein (lectin-like)	-	5.51		
receptor 1				
orosomucoid 1	-	34.00		
signal transducer and activator of transcription 3	-	2.63		
chemokine (c-c motif) receptor 2 <sup>a</sup>	-	5.26		
chemokine (c-c motif) ligand 22	-	2.83		
Fc receptor, IgG, low affinity iib	-	9.90		
Fc receptor, IgG, low affinity iii	-	6.59		
toll-like receptor 5	-	-2.24 <sup>d</sup>		
toll-like receptor 1	-	3.53		
cd44 antigen	-	3.62		
signal transducer and activator of transcription 5a	-	2.44		
phospholipase a2, group vii (platelet-activating	-	7.59		
factor acetylhydrolase, plasma)				
# Table 6.2 (Continued)

Gene name	Fold increase/ decrease	
	wild-type CLP	<i>PPTA<sup>-/-</sup></i> CLP
	(compared to sham)	(compared to sham)
Chemotaxis		
chemokine (c-c motif) ligand 9	2.27	10.09
s100 calcium binding protein a8 (calgranulin a)	2.68	-
formyl peptide receptor 1	9.01	48.18
chemokine (c-c motif) ligand 17	-	8.49
chemokine (c-c motif) receptor 5 <sup>a</sup>	-	14.45
cysteine rich protein 61	-	-5.25
integrin beta 2	-	3.68
interleukin 16	-	3.71
chemokine (c-c motif) ligand 6	-	3.63
leukocyte activation		
cd80 antigen	3.19	2.60
cd52 antigen	1.92	2.27
interleukin 12a	-	2.61
growth arrest and dna-damage-inducible 45 gamma	-	4.21
fas (tnf receptor superfamily member)	-	4.82
cd40 antigen	-	2.10
response to wounding		
coagulation factor xiii, al subunit	2.12	4.17
gap junction membrane channel protein alpha 1	-	3.25
coagulation factor x	-	17.55
coagulation factor vii	-	2.43
fibrinogen, gamma polypeptide	-	11.57
response to bacterium		
cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide	5.33	40.93
peptidoglycan recognition protein 1	4.44	2.26
lipopolysaccharide binding protein	-	2.46
regulation of cellular process		
protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 11	-2.25	-
matrix metallopeptidase 9	3.48	1.95
mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase 8	4.01	8.26
caspase 4, apoptosis-related cysteine peptidase	-	8.62
heat shock protein 1A	-	-7.87
interferon regulatory factor 1	-	3.25
interferon regulatory factor 7	-	2.63

# Table 6.2 (Continued)

Gene name	Fold increase/ decrease	
	wild-type CLP	PPTA <sup>-/-</sup> CLP
	(compared to sham)	(compared to sham)
signal Transduction		
interleukin 7 receptor	-	9.81
g protein-coupled receptor 35	2.77	6.49
rho family gtpase 1	3.24	8.83
interleukin 1 receptor, type ii	8.97	18.83
g protein-coupled receptor 27	2.24	3.49
interleukin 10 receptor, alpha	2.06	2.53
regulator of g-protein signaling 1	4.64	8.55
suppressor of cytokine signaling 3	4.73	10.67
regulator of g-protein signaling 2	2.36	-
janus kinase 2	-	2.41
interleukin 17 receptor	-	2.61
mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase	-	-15.93
kinase 2		
phospholipase c, delta 3	_	-2.55
chemokine (c-x-c motif) receptor 6	-	2.29
peroxisome proliferator activator receptor delta	-	2.27
sphingosine kinase 1	-	6.67
suppressor of cytokine signaling 2	_	2.27
interleukin 4 receptor alpha	_	4 38
interleukin 8 receptor, heta	_	3 05
neuronilin 1	_	-2 64
metallothionein 1	2.68	5 58
nlasminogen activator, urokinase recentor	2.00	4 42
nhosnhatidylinositol 3-kinase catalytic delta	2.7/	3 39
nolypentide	_	5.57
mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase	_	-2 69
kinase 5	_	-2.09
mitagen activated protein kinase kinase kinase 1		2.83
mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase 6	-	0.08
mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase o	-	9.08
nintogen activated protein kinase o	-	-4.00
noutrophilia grapula protoin	4 70	27.44
	4.70	27.44
response to lungus		11 74
pentraxin related gene	-	11.74
cytokine and chemokine mediated signaling path	way	10.45
colony stimulating factor 2 receptor, beta 1, low-	2.86	10.45
anniny (granulocyte-macrophage)	2.57	(())
ieukocyte immunogiobulin-like receptor,	2.57	0.62
subtamily b (with tm and itim domains), member		
5		4 57
colony stimulating factor 2 receptor, beta 2, low-	-	4.5/
aminity (granulocyte-macrophage)		

Gene name	Fold increase/ decrease	
	wild-type CLP	<i>PPTA<sup>-/-</sup></i> CLP
	(compared to sham)	(compared to sham)
other		
lipocalin 2	2.66	11.97
arginase type II	2.10	5.74
interleukin 1 family, member 9	5.18	19.02
matrix metallopeptidase 8	9.61	12.30
interferon induced transmembrane protein 6	5.61	34.46
s100 calcium binding protein a9 (calgranulin b)	3.19	2.92
inhibitor of dna binding 2	-	3.91
cytokine inducible sh2-containing protein	-	2.01
secretory leukocyte peptidase inhibitor	-	3.76
amphiregulin	-	3.59
interferon induced transmembrane protein 2	-	2.51
mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase 4	-	-3.23
mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein	-	2.36
kinase 3		
mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 14	-	2.60
natriuretic peptide receptor 3	-	3.12

<sup>a</sup> The genes validated by RT-PCR.

<sup>b</sup> Values represent fold-changes in gene expression in wild-type and *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice subjected to CLP-induced sepsis, over corresponding sham-operated mice. All the fold-changes analyzed by GeneSpring<sup>TM</sup> 7.3 software were statistically significant (P <0.05) compared to sham control.

<sup>c</sup> Absence of a value (-) indicates that the fold-change was less than 2. <sup>d</sup> Negative values represent decreased mRNA levels compared to respective sham group values.

*PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>, preprotachykinin-A.* 

of mixed or unknown functions are grouped separately as they are also reported in the literature to be differentially expressed in sepsis. As expected, CLP-induced sepsis in wild-type mice resulted in a significant increase in many of the inflammatory response and chemotaxis genes compared to sham surgery. Some of the chemokine superfamily members that were up-regulated significantly include C-C chemokines (CCL-2, CCL-3, CCL-4, CCL-9), and C-X-C chemokines (CXCL-1, CXCL-2, CXCL-10). In addition, SAA3, IL-1β, CCR-1, TLR-2, s100 calcium binding protein a8 (S100A8) and matrix metallopeptidase (MMP) 8 and 9 were also increased by more than 2-fold in wild-type septic mice compared to sham. It was interesting to note that the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-1ra also showed a greater than six-fold increase after CLP in these mice.

# 6.3.3 Inflammatory gene profile of *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* septic mice

However,  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice also exhibited high expression of inflammatory response and chemotaxis genes 8 h after CLP compared to sham mice. The fold increase was significantly higher compared to that in wild-type mice, especially for the chemokines CCL-2, CCL-3, CCL-4, CCL-9, CXCL-1, CXCL-2 and CXCL-10. Similarly, the expression of SAA3, IL-1 $\beta$ , CCR-1, TLR-2, and MMP-8 increased significantly in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice 8 h after CLP compared to the corresponding fold increase in wild-type mice. Unlike in wild-type mice, S100A8 and MMP-9 in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice did not show more than 2-fold increase after CLP. Further, CCL-6, CCL-17, CCL-22, CCR-2, CCR-5, TLR-1, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase catalytic delta polypeptide were expressed more in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice after the induction of sepsis and this was not seen in wild-type mice after CLP. I also observed much higher increase of IL-1ra gene in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice 8 h after CLP compared to the wild-type mice. Lastly there was a significant down-

regulation of TLR-5 and heat-shock protein 1A only in *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice after the induction of sepsis.

#### 6.3.4 Semiquantitative RT-PCR data

To further validate the microarray results, RT-PCR was carried out. Ten genes were selected whose expression altered by more than 2-fold in septic mice. RNA from individual mouse lung was evaluated for these genes by RT-PCR. 8 h after CLP-induced sepsis, pulmonary gene expression levels of MCP-1 (CCL-2), MIP-1 $\alpha$  (CCL-3), MIP-1 $\beta$  (CCL-4), MIP-2 (CXCL-2), IP-10 (CXCL-10), IL-1  $\beta$ , SAA3 and IL-1ra were increased compared to the corresponding levels in sham operated mice (Fig. 6.2a-h). The elevated mRNA levels were observed in both the wild-type and *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice after sepsis, with a significantly higher increase in the latter. There was no significant change in the expression levels of chemokine receptors, CCR-2 and CCR-5, in septic wild-type mice compared to sham mice (Fig. 6.2i and j). However, a significant up-regulation was observed for both CCR-2 and CCR-5 in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice 8 h after CLP (CCR-2 p < 0.01 and CCR-5 p < 0.05 vs sham) (Fig. 6.2i and j). The mRNA levels evaluated by RT-PCR showed a similar trend to the microarray gene expression data for the chosen 10 genes.

#### 6.3.5 IL-1ra protein levels after sepsis

Further I also measured the protein levels of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-1ra in lung and plasma by ELISA. IL-1ra level was up-regulated after CLP-induced sepsis with similar pattern as the gene expression (**Fig. 6.3**). The increase in lung (**Fig. 6.3a**) and plasma (**Fig. 6.3b**) IL-1ra level was significantly higher in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice after the induction of sepsis (lung: p < 0.001 vs sham; plasma: p < 0.05 vs sham) compared to the corresponding increase in wild-type mice.

Fig. 6.2a



Fig. 6.2b



Fig. 6.2c



Fig. 6.2d







Fig. 6.2f



99









Fig. 6.2i



100

Fig. 6.2j



**Figure 6.2 Pulmonary inflammatory and chemotaxis gene transcripts in wild-type and** *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* **mice.** a. MCP-1, b. MIP-1α, c. MIP-1β, d. MIP-2, e. IP-10, f. IL-1β, g. IL-1ra, h. SAA3, i. CCR-2, j. CCR-5. mRNA levels of these genes in lung were evaluated 8 h after CLP or sham surgery in wild-type and *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice by semiquantitative RT-PCR analysis (expressed as a ratio of band density of the gene to 18S). Mouse 18S was used as a control. Results were expressed as mean ± SEM (n = 6-9 mice per group). *p* values < 0.05 were considered to be significant. CCR - chemokine (C-C motif) receptor; CLP – cecal ligation and puncture; IL – interleukin; IL-1ra – interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; IP-10 - IFN-γ-inducible protein 10; MCP-1 - monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; MIP – macrophage inflammatory protein; *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> preprotachykinin-A* knockout; SAA3 - serum amyloid A3.

Fig. 6.3a



Fig. 6.3b



**Figure 6.3 Protein levels of IL-1ra in wild-type and** *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* **mice.** a. Lung, b. Plasma. IL-1ra levels in lung and plasma were measured 8 h after CLP or sham surgery in wild-type and *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice by ELISA. Results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 6-12 mice per group). *p* values < 0.05 were considered to be significant. CLP – cecal ligation and puncture; IL-1ra – interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> preprotachykinin-A* knockout.

#### 6.3.6 Pathway analysis of differentially expressed genes

Pathway Studio software was used to identify a possible gene network in wild-type and  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice subjected to CLP-induced sepsis using the genes listed in **Table 6.2**. Genes were linked to each other based on the published literature (**Fig. 6.4a and b**). Most of the differentially expressed genes were found to be connected and the few unconnected genes were excluded from the figure. The pathway analysis highlighted significantly higher number of links and interactions and higher expressions in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice among known inflammatory and immune response genes compared to the wild-type mice (**Fig. 6.4a and b**).

#### 6.4 Discussion

It is well known that inflammatory response is an important part of sepsis. During the course of polymicrobial sepsis a range of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine genes is up-regulated which is evident from the Pathway analysis. Although the inflammatory mediators activate leukocyte trafficking to the site of infection to fight the invading pathogens, excessive inflammation could be damaging (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008). At the same time, the host also produces counterbalancing anti-inflammatory mediators (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008) which produced in excess can cause immunosuppression and fatalities (Ashare *et al.*, 2005). Concurrent overexpression of both pro-inflammatory as well as anti-inflammatory cytokines has been reported in the early phase of lethal sepsis (Osuchowski *et al.*, 2006). So far there is a lack of consensus on whether to suppress or boost immunity or to do both at different times as clinical trials of various immunomulators aimed at the inflammatory axis in severe sepsis have failed (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008).







Fig. 6.4b





Figure 6.4 Proposed biological network of differentially expressed genes in sepsis. a. wild-type septic mice, b. PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice. Using Pathway Studio, a pathway network was built for microarray data based on previously reported interactions in the literature. The links and nodes represent literature based findings. Some of the prominent, differentially expressed genes shared in inflammatory and immune response in sepsis were used to create the network. "+" depicts positive regulation/expression; line ending with "- " depicts negative regulation/ expression. Up- and down-regulated genes are indicated in red and green, respectively. IL1RN interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; S100A9 - S100 calcium binding protein A9 (calgranulin B); MMP-8 - Matrix metalloproteinase 8; CAMP - cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide; GRO2 - growth related oncogene 2 (CXCL2); GRO3 - growth related oncogene 3 (CXCL3); MMP-9 - Matrix metalloproteinase 9; S100A8 - S100 calcium binding protein A8 (calgranulin A); CCL4 – chemokine (c-c motif) ligand 4; IL1B – interleukin-1 $\beta$ ; PGLYRP – peptidoglycan recognition protein; CCR1 – chemokine (c-c motif) receptor 1; TLR - toll-like receptor; CCL17 - chemokine (c-c motif) ligand 17; LBP – lipopolysaccharide binding protein; HSP1A – heat shock protein 1A; PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>- preprotachykinin-A knockout.

Chemokines such as MIP-2, MIP-1 $\alpha$  and MCP-1 levels are reported to be increased 8 h after CLP-induced severe sepsis in mice (Walley et al., 1997). These chemokines are chemoattractants to neutrophils and contribute to the host defense (Smith 1994), but in severe sepsis, may also cause mortality (Walley et al., 1997). Elevated serum level of CCL3 was also found in septic patients (Cavaillon et al., 2003). Further, peritoneal CCL6 (Ness et al., 2004) and CCL22 (Matsukawa et al., 2000; Ness et al., 2003) concentrations were elevated in the CLP mouse model of sepsis. The present microarray analysis showed a significantly higher expression of few of the inflammatory genes in *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice after sepsis compared to the wild-type mice. Although gene expression of CCL-2, CCL-3, CCL-4, CCL-9, CXCL-1, CXCL-2 and CXCL-10 were increased in wild-type mice after CLP, which was as expected, the increase was more significant in PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> mice 8 h after sepsis. In spite of the elevated gene expression of pro-inflammatory chemokines, PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> mice are protected against CLP induced sepsis (Puneet et al., 2006). The precise mechanism of protection is not clear yet.

Interestingly, CCL3, CCL6 and CXCL10 have been demonstrated to be protective in sepsis-induced injury and mortality in a murine CLP model (Ness *et al.*, 2004; Ness *et al.*, 2003; Takahashi *et al.*, 2002). CXCL10 (IFN- $\gamma$ -inducible protein 10, IP-10) is a potent antimicrobial chemokine (Yang *et al.*, 2003) but the mechanism of protection is unknown (Ness *et al.*, 2004). However, CCL6 is reported to augment peritoneal macrophage activity and reduce bacterial leak from the gut (Ness *et al.*, 2004). Macrophage-derived chemokine (MDC) (CCL22) also protected mice against CLP-induced death (Matsukawa *et al.*, 2000). CCL17, a Th2 lymphocyte chemoattractant, is thought to regulate the pro-inflammatory type 1 response in CCR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice after CLP-

induced sepsis (Ness *et al.*, 2004). I found a significant increase in CCL-6, CCL-17 and CCL-22 gene exclusively in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice after the induction of sepsis. It is possible that these chemokines provide some protection against pathogens and damage in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice after CLP. Pathway analysis further provides an insight into the complex network of interactions among these pro-inflammatory chemokines.

The role of chemokine receptors in sepsis is not very clear (Ness *et al.*, 2004). Mice lacking CXCR-2 or CCR-1 are reportedly less susceptible to CLP-induced sepsis (Ness *et al.*, 2004; Ness *et al.*, 2003). On the contrary, macrophages expressing CX3CR-1, CCR-2 or CCR-4 have been shown to protect against pathogens due to their bactericidal functions (Ishida *et al.*, 2008). The present microarray data showed a significant increase of more than 2-fold in CCR-2 and CCR-5 gene, only in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice compared to sham, implying bactericidal functions. However, CCR-1 expression in the wild-type and *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice also increased after CLP and the increase was more in the latter. CCL-3 is a known ligand of CCR-1 and CCL-2, CCL-3 and CCL-22 along with their receptors have been observed to enhance antibacterial activities of macrophages (Matsukawa *et al.*, 2000; Takahashi *et al.*, 2002; Matsukawa *et al.*, 1999). Thus the elevated CCL-3-CCR-1 expression seen in the present data could be beneficial in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Cytokines play an important but complex role in sepsis. Activated CD4 T cells secrete cytokines with either inflammatory (type 1 helper T-cell [Th1]) properties (TNF-  $\alpha$ , interferon- $\gamma$ , IL-2), or anti-inflammatory (type 2 helper T-cell [Th2]) properties (IL-4 and IL-10) (Abbas *et al.*, 1996; Opal and DePalo 2000) influenced by the type, size and the site of infection (Abbas *et al.*, 1996). Cytokines are considered both friend and foe in sepsis (Hotchkiss and Karl 2003). Although normal cytokine reactions help to

defend host and eliminate bacteria, overwhelming invasion induces systemic cytokinemia. Successful treatment of sepsis involves cytokine modulation and restriction of the systemic reactions only to the inflammatory foci. However it should be noted that only a small amount of cytokines can defend host and a complete blockade may damage the host (Kato *et al.*, 1995).

The microarray analysis showed that IL-1 $\beta$  increased significantly in both wild-type and PPTA-'-septic mice compared to sham. However, the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-1ra also showed a significant increase after CLP in these mice and the expression was much higher in *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice compared to wild-type mice. Elevated IL-1ra gene expression in wild-type mice after sepsis is consistent with a literature report that IL-1ra mRNA level increased (by 10-fold) 3 to 6 h after CLP and sustained for 18 h (Salkowski *et al.*, 1998). IL-1ra competitively inhibits the binding of IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ to their receptors and thus neutralizing their effects (Bresnihan and Cunnane 1998). Recent clinical trial of neonatal-onset multisystem inflammatory disease showed a promising improvement with IL-1ra treatment (Remick 2007; Goldbach-Mansky et al., 2006). It is believed that anti-inflammatory strategies applied early in patients with a hyper-inflammatory immune response may be life-saving (Hotchkiss and Karl 2003). PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> mice exhibited high expression of IL-1ra early in sepsis along with the hyperinflammatory state, which could partly explain the improvement in survival. High levels of blood IL-1ra are found in septic patients and in animal models of sepsis although the role of IL-1ra in the immunosuppression is not clearly defined (Reddy et al., 2001).

Serum amyloid A3, a major acute phase protein with a role in antibacterial immunity, has been reported to be enhanced by up to 1000-fold in sepsis (Sriskandan and

Altmann 2008). SAA3 is released at the site of injury and LPS-stimulated macrophages show enhanced expression of SAA3 (Meek *et al.*, 1992). In the present data, SAA3 was observed to increase in wild-type and  $PPTA^{-/-}$  septic mice compared to sham, with a higher increase in the knock-out mice, thus providing more antibacterial immunity. S100A8 is a new group of pro-inflammatory proteins expressed by phagocytes in inflammatory diseases (Roth *et al.*, 2003). S100A8 was reported to be up-regulated in the blood samples of severe sepsis patients (Prucha *et al.*, 2004). I found a similar increase in S100A8 in wild-type mice after sepsis. Interestingly, this increase was absent in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  septic mice. Surfactants containing antibacterial substances such as cathelicidins can destroy both Gram-positive and Gram-negative pathogens (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008) and orchestrate a variety of inflammatory and immune responses (Zanetti 2004).  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice showed much higher fold-increase of cathelicidins after sepsis compared to the corresponding wild-type mice.

MMP-8, secreted mainly by neutrophils, is known to contribute to inflammatory cell trafficking and inflammation in asthma (Gueders *et al.*, 2005). However, MMP-8 is also suspected to regulate protective immune functions as it is found to be antiinflammatory in allergic asthma (Gueders *et al.*, 2005). As expected, the microarray data showed a significant up-regulation of MMP-8 gene after sepsis in wild-type mice. But the increase was more prominent in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice, thus possibly providing antiinflammatory protection and neutrophil apoptosis. MMP-9 is a matrix degrading enzyme which is highly expressed at inflammation sites (Grimm *et al.*, 2006). MMP-9 plays a role in the pathogenesis of various chronic inflammatory diseases such as asthma where MMP-9 is up-regulated (Lee *et al.*, 2001; Kelly and Jarjour 2003; Wenzel *et al.*, 2003). MMP-9 is implicated in the recruitment of eosinophils and neutrophils (Lee *et al.*, 2001). Reduced MMP-9 secretion on a molecular level might cause an anti-inflammatory effect (Grimm *et al.*, 2006). *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice did not show more than 2-fold increase in MMP-9 after CLP unlike the wild-type mice implying some beneficial anti-inflammatory effect.

Although TLRs and their downstream signal transduction via PI3K are important in sepsis, I excluded them from this discussion as it is beyond the scope of this thesis to consider all the mediators involved in sepsis. However, I would like to allude to the fact that PI3K activation can lead to survival in sepsis (Cinel and Opal 2009) and the *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice had elevated PI3K gene expression after CLP in the present experiment. Similarly, it is sufficient to mention that the significant down-regulation of heat shock protein 1A in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice (Fig. 4 B) could be associated with beneficial effects as heat shock protein induction before a pro-inflammatory stimulus is reported to be protective but after a pro-inflammatory stimulus it is found to be cytotoxic (Chen *et al.*, 2007).

RT-PCR results for selected differentially expressed genes further validated the data from the microarray analysis. The RT-PCR data showed a similar expression of all the 10 genes evaluated when compared to microarray results. Although the fold-change between the sham control and CLP-induced sepsis mice determined by RT-PCR differed from that found on microarray, the trend of the response was similar between the two methods.

DNA microarray reflects the functional state of the cell, but it is the translated protein that executes the instructions of the genome (White and Salamonsen 2005). Reportedly, less than 50% of the changes at the mRNA level are conveyed to the

protein level and various post-translational modifications alter their function (Schulze and Downward 2001; White and Salamonsen 2005). To evaluate if transcription and translation are coordinately regulated, IL-1ra was quantified in plasma and tissue by ELISA. In line with literature reports of elevated circulating IL-1ra in sepsis (Cavaillon *et al.*, 2003), and consistent with the microarray and RT-PCR data, I found a significant increase in IL-1ra protein level in both wild-type and *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice 8 h after sepsis. It seems prudent to define the inflammatory status on the basis of complete plasma profile and genome data, even if grouping into traditional immunologic categories becomes difficult (Osuchowski *et al.*, 2006).

So far the scientific community does not have an answer for whether the septic patients are hyper-inflammatory or immuno-compromised (Remick 2007). Failed clinical trials have shown that simply blocking inflammatory response may be paid back by an impaired resolution of infection. Instead of targeting any individual mediator that reflects the functional status of sepsis, inflammation should be treated at the right time in the right place. In this perspective this study provides a valuable molecular fingerprint of PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> mice that are protected against mortality in CLPinduced sepsis. This is the first investigation exploring pulmonary gene expression profiles using microarray analysis in PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> mice subjected to CLP-induced sepsis. Elevated levels of pro- and anti-inflammatory gene expression observed in the early stages of sepsis may help in resolving the infection without excessive immunosuppression. Antimicrobial mediators such as CXCL10, SAA3, cathelicidins, that were observed in the present study would further support in maintaining this precarious balance of inflammatory forces. In conclusion, in this study I have shown the gene profile following sepsis and the effect of PPTA gene deletion. This study will

help define the mechanisms by which *PPTA* gene products contribute to lung injury in sepsis.

In addition to the gene expression, I also did simultaneous cytokine protein expression at various time points, as explained in the next chapter.

# CHAPTER 7. PLASMA CYTOKINE PROFILE IN *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> MICE

## 7.1 Introduction

In sepsis, the nature of the insult, the cellular composition and the micro-environment of each organ, influences the extent of local tissue injury (Cavaillon and Annane 2006). Infection, injury and inflammation trigger the release of cytokines that act as immune mediators (Ray *et al.*, 2005; de Jager and Rijkers 2006). These inflammatory proteins are elevated in various disease states such as autoimmune diseases, bowel inflammatory disease and sepsis. It has been well established that cytokine cascades play a major role in the progression of sepsis. Large amounts of cytokines are produced mainly within tissues and released into the systemic circulation to mediate the inflammatory responses in sepsis. Anti-inflammatory mediators predominate systemically to avoid new inflammatory foci, but within the tissues their levels may not always be sufficient to prevent deleterious inflammatory response (Cavaillon and Annane 2006). Thus, in addition to the pathophysiological evaluation of lung tissue, it is important to analyze the cytokine profile in peripheral blood compartment in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice.

Plasma is considered as one of the major sources for measurement of clinical markers in sepsis (Osuchowski *et al.*, 2006). As early diagnosis and treatment are critical in sepsis management, evaluation of plasma cytokines over a time course can provide a window towards a better understanding of the nature and severity of sepsis. Rather than analyzing individual cytokine levels by conventional ELISA, integration of data from simultaneous measurement of multiple cytokines is more likely to be representative of biological processes. In this regard, I used Multiplexed bead-based suspension arrays for the measurement of a set of plasma cytokines in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice subjected to polymicrobial sepsis.

Luminex Multianalyte Profiling (xMAP) technology is widely used for quantification of analytes such as proteins, ligands, DNA and RNA in multiplexed bead-based assays (Kingsmore 2006; Nolan and Mandy 2006). The beads bound with antibodies, oligonucleotides or peptides are run through a Luminex instrument and classified by laser excitation of the internal dyes (Arellano-Garcia *et al.*, 2008). The reporter dye is excited by another laser and the fluorescence proportional to the bound analyte is recorded (Vignali 2000; Ray *et al.*, 2005). High throughput, accuracy, efficiency, sensitivity, simultaneous analyte detection, low cost and time reduction are some of the pros of these liquichips (Vignali 2000; Dupont *et al.*, 2005; Prabhakar *et al.*, 2002; Linkov *et al.*, 2007). In addition, the data collected by xMAP technology has been reported to be comparable to that from ELISA (Dupont *et al.*, 2005).

#### 7.2 Materials and Methods

#### 7.2.1 Animal Ethics

Reference: Section 2.2

#### 7.2.2 Induction of polymicrobial sepsis

 $PPTA^{-/-}$  and wild-type Balb/c male mice (25-30 g) were randomly divided into sham or CLP experimental groups (n = more than 6 in each group). Polymicrobial sepsis was induced by CLP as explained in **Section 2.3**. The same surgical procedure except the cecal ligation and puncture was performed on sham-operated animals. The mice were

sacrificed at various time points (1, 5, 8 and 24 h; n = at least 6 for each time point) after surgery by an i.p. injection of pentobarbitone (**Fig. 7.1**). Blood was harvested through cardiac puncture, heparinized, centrifuged, plasma removed and stored at -80° C for subsequent measurement.

#### 7.2.3 Plasma cytokine profile using bead array

Time-dependent plasma cytokine profile was obtained using Procarta<sup>™</sup> Cytokine kits (Panomics, CA, USA) employing multiplex immunoassays based on xMAP<sup>TM</sup> detection technology developed by Luminex<sup>™</sup> (Luminex Corporation) using Luminex<sup>TM</sup> bead array system. Fluorescently encoded antibody beads that were uniquely detected in a flow cytometer were used and 18 mouse cytokines were evaluated through a sandwich immunoassay (Fig. 7.1). Briefly, 50  $\mu$ l of the antibody beads were added to each well of the pre-wet 96-well filter bottom plate and washed with wash buffer. Assay buffer (75 µl/well), standard and sample (25 µl/well) were added to the pre-designated wells and incubated for 30 min at room temperature on a shaker (500 rpm). After washing, detection antibody (25  $\mu$ l/well) was added and incubated for 30 min at room temperature on a shaker (500 rpm). Streptavidin-PE (50 µl/well) was added to the washed plate and incubated again for 30 min at room temperature on a shaker (500 rpm). Subsequent to another wash, 120 µl/well of the reading buffer was added, placed on a shaker (500 rpm) for 5 min at room temperature and analyzed on Luminex 100 instrument. The median fluorescence intensity of 100 beads per sample per cytokine was used to determine the intensity levels of cytokines. Standard curves were plotted and fitted using a 5-parameter logistic model, from which the sample cytokine concentrations were determined. The bead-analyte associations are given in **Table 7.1** (Procarta<sup>™</sup> Mouse Cytokine Assay kit, Panomics,





**Fig. 7.1 Schematic workflow of multiplex immunoassay.**  $PPTA^{-/-}$  and wild-type Balb/c mice were randomly divided into sham or CLP experimental groups (n = 6-8 in each group). The mice were sacrificed at various time points (1, 5, 8 and 24 h) after surgery and plasma was analyzed for 18 mouse cytokines by a sandwich multiplex immunoassay. The sample cytokine concentrations were determined using standard curves. CLP – cecal ligation and puncture;  $PPTA^{-/-}$  – *preprotachykinin-A* knockout.

Bead <sup>2</sup>	Analyte	
18	IL-1α	
19	IL-1β	
20	IL-2	
21	IL-3	
25	IL-4	
26	IL-5	
27	IL-6	
28	IL-10	
33	IL-12(p40)	
34	IL-12(p70)	
35	IL-17	
36	IL-13	
37	KC	
42	RANTES	
43	IFN-γ	
44	GM-CSF	
45	TNF-α	
47	MIP-1a	
52	EOTAXIN	

Table 7.1 Bead-analyte association-Procarta Mouse Cytokine Assay Kit<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Procarta Mouse Cytokine Assay Kit was used for the assay. Each of the beads was coated with a reagent specific to the analyte given in the table.

<sup>2</sup> Each of the colour-coded tiny beads (microspheres) was given a number to identify the cytokine analyte it represents.

GM-CSF - granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor; IFN- $\gamma$  – interferon- $\gamma$ ; IL – interleukin; KC - keratinocyte-derived chemokine; MIP-1 $\alpha$  - macrophage inflammatory protein-1 $\alpha$ ; RANTES - regulated upon activation normal T cell expressed and secreted; TNF- $\alpha$  - tumor necrosis factor-alpha.

CA, USA). The cytokine concentrations obtained for each group at the different time points were averaged across each replicate set and expressed as pg/ml. The kit sensitivity (Limit of Detection, LOD) was 1 pg/ml/cytokine.

#### 7.2.4 Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed as mentioned in Section 2.17.

## 7.3 Results

*PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> and wild-type mice were sacrificed at 1, 5, 8 and 24 h after sham or CLP surgery and 18 plasma cytokines were analyzed. Among all the cytokines tested (namely CCL11, GM-CSF, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10, IL-12, IL-13, IL-17, IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, CXCL1, CCL3, CCL5, TNF- $\alpha$ ), levels of both pro- (**Fig. 7.2**) and anti-inflammatory (**Fig. 7.3**) cytokines were significantly elevated in the *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> sepsis mice compared to the wild-type mice. IL-2, IL-3, IL-4 and IL-17 levels were below the detection limit of the assay in all the samples.

### 7.3.1 Cytokine profile as a function of time for the sham groups

Mice subjected to sham surgery showed elevated levels of various cytokines at 1 and 5 h after the surgery (P < 0.05) (Fig 7.2 and 7.3). IL-1 $\beta$ , GM-CSF, CCL11, IL-5, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10 and IL-13 were increased in wild-type mice at the early time points studied (Fig 7.2a,g,j,l,m and 7.3a,b respectively). Similarly,  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice showed elevated levels of IL-1 $\beta$ , CCL5, GM-CSF, CCL11, IL-5, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10 and IL-13 (Fig 7.2a,f,g,j,l,m and 7.3a,b respectively) at 1 and 5 h after sham surgery. However the levels were reduced in both  $PPTA^{-/-}$  and wild-type sham groups at the later time points.









Fig. 7.2c























Fig. 7.2j











Fig. 7.2m



**Figure 7.2 Plasma pro-inflammatory cytokine profile in wild-type and** *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* **septic mice.** a. IL-1β; b. IL-6; c. IL-12(p40); d. IL-12(p70); e. CXCL1; f. CCL5; g. GM-CSF; h. TNF-α; i. CCL3; j. CCL11; k. IL-1α; l. IL-5; m. IFN-γ. Cytokine levels in plasma were measured 1, 5, 8 and 24 h after CLP or sham surgery in wild-type and *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* mice by multiplex immunoassay. Results were expressed as mean ± SEM (n = 6 mice per group). *P* values were shown for comparison with corresponding sham group. Symbols were used to denote significant differences between groups as a function of time. Key: Balb/c sham, open bars; Balb/c CLP, outlined diamond bars; *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* sham, dotted bars; *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* CLP, small grid bars. \*P<0.001 when compared to the corresponding normal value; \*\*P<0.05 when compared to the corresponding values of *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* septic mice at different time points; <sup>#</sup>P<0.05 when compared to the corresponding values of *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* septic mice at different time points; CLP, cecal ligation and puncture; GM-CSF, granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor; IL, interleukin; IFN-γ, interferon-γ; *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>*, *preprotachykinin A* knockout; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-α.

Fig. 7.3a



Fig. 7.3b



Figure 7.3 Plasma anti-inflammatory cytokine profile in wild-type and  $PPTA^{-/-}$  septic mice. a. IL-10; b. IL-13. Cytokine levels in plasma were measured 1, 5, 8 and 24 h after CLP or sham surgery in wild-type and  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice by multiplex immunoassay. Results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 6 mice per group). *P* values were shown for comparison with corresponding sham group. Symbols were used to denote significant differences between groups as a function of time. Key: Balb/c sham, open bars; Balb/c CLP, outlined diamond bars;  $PPTA^{-/-}$  sham, dotted

bars; *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> CLP, small grid bars. \*P<0.001 when compared to the corresponding normal value; \*\*P<0.05 when compared to the corresponding values of Balb/c septic mice at different time points; #P<0.05 when compared to the corresponding values of *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice at different time points; CLP, cecal ligation and puncture; IL, interleukin; *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup>, *preprotachykinin A* knockout.

#### 7.3.2 Cytokine profile as a function of time for the Balb/c septic mice

Mice subjected to CLP have been reported to show elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, CXCL2 and TNF- $\alpha$  (Zhang *et al.*, 2007; Puneet *et al.*, 2006; Ertel *et al.*, 1991; Salkowski *et al.*, 1998). Consistently, I found increased plasma IL-6, IL-12(p70), CXCL1, CCL5, GM-CSF, TNF- $\alpha$ , CCL3 and CCL11 levels (Fig. 7.2b,d-j respectively) in Balb/c septic mice (P < 0.05). The elevated levels were apparent by 5 h after CLP for many of the cytokines and continued to remain high even at the 24 h time point (Fig. 7.2). However, CXCL1 and GM-CSF levels showed a reduction at 8 h time point (Fig. 7.2e,g).

Anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 levels were increased in wild-type mice only at 5 and 8 h after CLP (P < 0.001) (Fig. 7.3a). In addition, IL-13 levels showed significant increase only at 8 h after surgery (P < 0.05) (Fig. 7.3b).

# 7.3.3 Cytokine profile as a function of time for the *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice

*PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice also showed an increase in various cytokines over 24 h after induction of sepsis (P < 0.05). A significant elevation was observed for IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-12(p40), IL-12(p70), CXCL1, GM-CSF, TNF- $\alpha$ , CCL3, CCL11, IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-5, IL-10 and IL-13 (**Fig. 7.2a-e,g-l and Fig. 7.3a,b** respectively). However, IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-5 levels were lowered at 8 h after CLP surgery (**Fig. 7.2e,g**).

# 7.3.4 Comparative cytokine profiles for the *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> and wild-type septic mice

Several sets of cytokines showed significantly different patterns across the *PPTA<sup>-/-</sup>* and the wild-type septic mice compared to their corresponding sham control groups.

#### 7.3.4.1 Pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles

Plasma IL-1 $\beta$  levels were elevated more significantly in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice during the later phase of sepsis (8 and 24 h) (P < 0.05 and P < 0.001 respectively) compared to the corresponding wild-type mice (Fig. 7.2a). Levels of IL-6, an important proinflammatory cytokine in sepsis, were increased significantly in wild-type mice at 8 h after CLP (P < 0.05), but the increase was significantly higher in PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice at 5, 8 and 24 h after CLP (P < 0.001) and also when compared to the corresponding increase in wild-type group (Fig. 7.2b). Pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-12(p70), is a heterodimer of IL-12(p40) and IL-12(p35) subunits connected by a disulphide bond that is essential for the biological activity (Cooper and Khader 2007). IL-12(p70) was significantly increased in wild-type mice only at 1 h after CLP (P < 0.01) but the difference was apparent in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  septic mice at 5 h (P < 0.05) (Fig. 7.2d). Levels of IL-12(p40), a component of cytokines IL-12 and IL-23, were higher in PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice at 5, 8 and 24 h after CLP (P < 0.001) (Fig. 7.2c). CXCL1 and GM-CSF levels were also significantly elevated (P < 0.001 and P < 0.05 respectively) in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  septic mice compared to the wild-type septic mice (Fig. 7.2e,g).

Systemic levels of TNF- $\alpha$  were increased significantly more in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice 5 h after CLP (*P* < 0.001) and the increase was apparent upto 24 h post-CLP (*P* < 0.001) (**Fig. 7.2h**). CCL3 protein levels in plasma were also significantly elevated in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice at 5 and 8 h after CLP (*P* < 0.001) compared to the increase in wild-type mice at 8 h (*P* < 0.05), but this increase was reversed by 24 h post-CLP (**Fig. 7.2i**). In contrast, plasma CCL11 levels were elevated to a greater extent in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice upto 24 h after CLP (**Fig. 7.2j**). IL-1 $\alpha$  levels were found to be increased in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice compared to the other groups only at 8 h after CLP (**Fig. 7.2k**). IL-5 plasma levels
were not significantly different between the wild-type and  $PPTA^{-/-}$  septic mice at any of the time points studied except at 24 h (P < 0.05) (Fig. 7.21). Lastly, IFN- $\gamma$  was found to be significantly increased in wild-type septic mice as early as 1 h (P < 0.01) and persisted upto 5 h after CLP, but the increase was not statistically significant in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  septic mice (Fig. 7.2m).

#### 7.3.4.2 Anti-inflammatory cytokine profiles

Levels of IL-10 were increased after CLP in both  $PPTA^{-/-}$  and wild-type mice, but the difference was significant in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice at 5, 8 and 24 h (P < 0.001, P < 0.001 and P < 0.05 respectively) after the surgery (Fig. 7.3a). Similarly, plasma levels of another anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-13, were elevated in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  and wild-type septic mice compared to the sham group, but the increase was more significant for the knock-out mice especially at 5, 8 and 24 h (P < 0.05, P < 0.001 and P < 0.05 respectively) after the induction of sepsis (Fig. 7.3b).

#### 7.4 Discussion

It is interesting to note that the *PPTA* gene deletion in mice contributed to a survival phenotype evidenced by a greater resilience to sepsis (Puneet *et al.*, 2006). However, the mechanism of tolerance and survival at elevated levels of systemic inflammatory cytokines has yet to be established. In the previous section, elevated levels of pulmonary cytokines were seen in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice subjected to polymicrobial sepsis. Although tissue-associated cytokine levels represent the cytokine production more closely, systemic levels also provide a faster and reliable means of measurement, especially in clinical applications. Detectable plasma cytokines are likely to represent the excess of produced mediators which have not been contained within target tissues

or organs. Using a bead-array based platform coupled with a flow-cytometric fluorescent based reader, I performed simultaneous measurement of 18 mouse cytokines using a very small volume (25  $\mu$ l) of plasma per assay. Multiplexed bead-based arrays have been shown earlier to be especially useful for detection of analytes in precious small volume (Liu *et al.*, 2005).

Plasma cytokine time-point data showed that PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> mice subjected to CLP-induced sepsis exhibited elevated levels of both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Indeed, early phase of lethal sepsis is reported to show over-expression of both pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines (Osuchowski et al., 2006). Plasma concentrations of TNF-a, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, soluble cytokine receptors, cytokine receptor antagonists and counter-inflammatory cytokines are known to be elevated in human sepsis (Blackwell and Christman 1996). I found significantly elevated levels of various pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-a, CCL3, IL-1β, IL-6, CXCL1 and CCL11 in PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to the wild-type mice, especially at later time points after induction of sepsis. TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-6 coordinate the initiation of acute phase response in sepsis (Sriskandan and Altmann 2008) that is triggered by the pathogen recognition and is important for survival in sepsis. CCL3, CCL6 and CXCL10 have been demonstrated to be protective in sepsis-induced injury and mortality in a murine CLP model (Ness et al., 2004; Ness et al., 2003; Takahashi et al., 2002). CCL22 also protected mice against CLP-induced death (Matsukawa et al., 2000). In our previous study using PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice, only CCL2 and CXCL2 levels in lung and plasma were analysed by ELISA (Puneet et al., 2006). Although both the chemokines were elevated in PPTA<sup>-/-</sup> and wild-type septic mice, the increase was lower in the former group (Puneet et al., 2006). These two chemokines were believed to act as chemoattractants to

leukocytes and play a role in tissue damage (Puneet *et al.*, 2006). We did not repeat these two chemokines in the present study, but the range of chemokines and cytokines studied showed a significant elevation upto 24 h after induction of sepsis. It is not clear yet as to why genetic deletion of SP, a product of *PPTA* gene, leads to significantly elevated cytokine levels, although it is possible that these pro-inflammatory cytokines are useful in countering the pathogenic invasion in the early phase of sepsis. A significant initial increase in IL-6 and subsequent reduction at a late stage has been reported to protect septic mice (*Z*hu *et al.*, 2009). Multiple mechanisms and mediators could be at play in this scenario which needs to be probed further.

Balance between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators plays an important role in the pathophysiology of sepsis. Anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and IL-13 were also significantly elevated in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice after sepsis. The increase was more significant in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  septic mice compared to the corresponding wild-type mice. It has been reported that anti-inflammatory strategies applied early in patients with a hyper-inflammatory immune response may prove to be life-saving (Hotchkiss and Karl 2003). Inhibition of IL-10 12 h after CLP has been shown to improve survival in mice (Song *et al.*, 1999). Depending on the time of intervention, IL-10 has been reported to be protective or deleterious in sepsis (Latifi *et al.*, 2002). *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> septic mice showed elevated levels of IL-10 at 5 and 8 h after sepsis and a subsequent reduction, both of which could have proved beneficial against mortality.

IL-12(p80), a homodimer of IL-12(p40) has been reported to be an antagonist of proinflammatory IL-12 receptor  $\beta$ 1 (Cooper and Khader 2007). IL-12(p40) is released from various inflammatory cells in response to pathogenic or inflammatory signals (Trinchieri *et al.*, 2003). IL-12(p40) is reported to show both protective and pathogenic immune responses (Cooper and Khader 2007). Interestingly, we found significantly elevated levels of IL-12(p40) in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice compared to the wild type mice after the induction of sepsis. The increase corresponded with the elevation in pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-12(p70) in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  septic mice. However, the significance of this effect is not very clear. The observed levels of IL-12(p40) were in agreement with the reported 50-fold higher IL-12(p40) secretion compared with IL-12p70 in murine shock model (Wysocka *et al.*, 1995). In addition, in the previous section (**Chapter 6**), elevated levels of another anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-1ra, were shown in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice compared to wild-type mice after sepsis. Cytokine receptor antagonists are cytokine-like molecules binding to receptors but without signal transduction (Blackwell and Christman 1996). IL-1ra plasma levels are reported to be elevated both in human volunteers injected with endotoxin as well as patients with severe sepsis, although its function is not clear (Kuhns *et al.*, 1995; Gårdlund *et al.*, 1995).

Although the specific role of anti-inflammatory molecules in sepsis remains undefined, a complex interaction between cytokines and cytokine-neutralizing molecules is assumed to determine the clinical presentation and outcome of sepsis (Blackwell and Christman 1996). In patients with lethal septic shock, the level of secreted antiinflammatory molecules is believed to be insufficient to counter the overwhelming pro-inflammatory mediators (Blackwell and Christman 1996). However, in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice, elevated levels of both the pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators may act simultaneously and help to resolve the infectious assault at the early stages of sepsis without excessively damaging the host tissue; and thus prolong the survival in these mice. Overall data indicates that multiple factors play protective roles in polymicrobial sepsis in *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> mice and render them resistant to microbial infection. The current time-dependent cytokine snapshot represents a rich source of information for further analysis and investigation.

Limited knowledge of the molecular mechanisms in sepsis has in the past led to the failure of various clinical trials of otherwise promising drug molecules from preclinical stages. Recent enabling ways to detect genetic signatures of sepsis and biomarker identification more rapidly and cost-effectively are beginning to provide added insight to both the research and clinical arenas (Cinel and Opal 2009). Finding a "magic bullet" is not more important than evaluating the complete immune response and inflammatory status and tailoring the treatment for individualized therapy in critically ill patients. Toward this end, our multiplexed approach of time-point analysis of cytokines, which are major mediators of sepsis, provides a relevant and valuable platform for further research and discovery and a better diagnostic tool to profile septic patients clinically.

# CHAPTER 8. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

#### 8.1 Concluding remarks

It is evident from the overall data that the neuropeptide SP had a major role to play in polymicrobial sepsis and associated lung injury and its actions were mediated through NK-1R, as summarized in **Fig. 8.1**. As described in Chapter 3, I used the formal approach of blocking the SP actions through NK-1R with SR140333, a specific NK-1R antagonist. The results showed that SR140333 treatment in CLP surgery-induced polymicrobial sepsis in mice had a beneficial role observed 8 h later in terms of lung injury. Pulmonary damage that is generally associated with polymicrobial sepsis was alleviated by blocking the actions of SP via NK-1R. Also there was a lowering of leukocyte infiltration and lung levels of chemokines, cytokines and adhesion molecules that are involved in the propagation of inflammation.

The mechanistic studies in Chapter 4 revealed that the inhibition of SP actions mediated through NK-1R in polymicrobial sepsis, involved the downstream signaling cascade involving PKC $\alpha$  and NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1 transcription factors. Pro-inflammatory signals of SP-NK-1R were carried from the cell surface to the nucleus by these messenger molecules leading to the modulation of various pro-inflammatory mediators in sepsis. There was also a significant down-regulation of NK-1R. Further, to rule out the possibility of SP actions through other NK receptors in sepsis, albeit marginal, the mice were treated with GR159897, a specific NK-2R antagonist as explained in Chapter 5. Inhibition of SP actions via NK-2R did not help in reducing the lung injury

Fig. 8.1



Figure 8.1 Schematic representation of role of SP in polymicrobial sepsis

AP-1 – activator protein-1; CLP – cecal ligation and puncture; NF- $\kappa$ B - nuclear factor kappa B; NK-1R – neurokinin-1 receptor; PKC $\alpha$  – protein kinase C alpha; *PPTA*<sup>-/-</sup> *preprotachykinin-A* knockout.

8 h after induction of polymicrobial sepsis. Thus it is clear that SP activation of NK-1R, but not NK-2R, is important in its pro-inflammatory actions in sepsis.

In addition to the use of pharmacological tools to block neurokinin receptors, gene knock-out mice subjected to polymicrobial sepsis were also studied, as described in Chapter 6, to understand the immunological basis of protection enjoyed by these mice lacking SP.  $PPTA^{-/-}$  and wild type mice were subject to sham or CLP surgery. Pulmonary gene expression profiling showed interesting elevation of both pro- and anti-inflammatory gene in the early stages of sepsis in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and ELISA were used to validate the results for selected differentially expressed genes. Consistent with recent literature reports that conventional division of pro- and anti-inflammatory status does not exist in sepsis, I found an active involvement of both the forces in providing protection to  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice in sepsis. Lastly, multiplexed bead-based suspension arrays were employed for the time-course measurement of a set of plasma cytokines as detailed in Chapter 7. Interesting changes in both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in  $PPTA^{-/-}$  mice in sepsis over time further substantiated the gene analysis data and conclusions.

The combined data implied that SP is one of the major players in polymicrobial sepsis, the immunological disorder which is known to be complicated with various mediators in action at any given time. The study may help in substantiating the therapeutic approach of resolving the infection without excessive immunosuppression as well searching for novel therapeutic interventions to modulate the pro-inflammatory actions of SP-NK-1R better.

### **8.2 Future directions**

Potential scope of the future work in this area is immense as thorough understanding of this critical disorder and tailoring suitable therapy for individual patients may help conquer complications of sepsis and bring down the economic strain on the healthcare systems all over the world. Recommendations for future work are as follows:

- Global genomic analysis of mice treated with SP receptor antagonists by microarray would be a valuable tool to compare the beneficial effects of receptor antagonism with gene deletion.
- Charting out complete cytokine profile of septic mice treated with receptor inhibitors over a 24 – 48 h period can also be considered.
- 3. Study of another *PPTA* gene product NKA in polymicrobial sepsis might be carried out to see if it has any beneficial role in alleviating lung injury in addition to SP.
- 4. Enhancement of SP actions with inhibitors of neutral endopeptidase (NEP) could be a potential approach. NEP, a metalloprotease enzyme, degrades small secreted signaling peptides like SP, and thus inhibition of NEP enhances SP actions.

## **CHAPTER 9. BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Aalto, H., Takala, A., Kautiainen, H., and Repo, H. (2004) Laboratory markers of systemic inflammation as predictors of bloodstream infection in acutely ill patients admitted to hospital in medical emergency. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 23(9): 699-704.
- Abbas, A. K., Murphy, K. M. and Sher, A. (1996). Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes. *Nature* 383(6603): 787-793.
- Adcock, I. M., Peters, M., Gelders, C., Shirasaki, H., Brown, C. R., and Barnes, P. J. (1993) Increased tachykinin receptor gene expression in asthmatic lung and its modulation by steroids. *J. Mol. Endocrinol.* 11: 1-7.
- 4. Advenier, C. (1995) Tachykinin NK2 receptors further characterized in the lung with nonpeptide receptor antagonists. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 73(7): 878-884.
- Advenier, C., Lagente, V., and Boichot, E. (1997) The role of tachykinin receptor antagonists in the prevention of bronchial hyperresponsiveness, airway inflammation and cough. *Eur. Respir. J.* 10(8): 1892-1906.
- Akira, S., and Takeda, K. (2004) Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 4(7): 499-511.
- Alonso, J. R., Caredellach, F., López, S., Casademont J., and Miró, O. (2003) Carbon monoxide specifically inhibits cytochrome c oxidase of human mitochondrial respiratory chain. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 93(3): 142–146.
- 8. Amann, R., Schuligoi, R., Holzer, P., and Donnerer, J. (1995) The non-peptide NK1 receptor antagonist SR140333 produces long-lasting inhibition of neurogenic

inflammation, but does not influence acute chemo- or thermonociception in rats. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 352(2): 201-205.

- Amaral A., Opal S. M., and Vincent, J. L. (2004) Coagulation in sepsis. *Intensive Care Med.* 30(6): 1032-1040.
- Amos, N., Lauder, S., Evans, A., Feldmann, M., and Bondeson, J. (2006) Adenoviral gene transfer into osteoarthritis synovial cells using the endogenous inhibitor IkappaBalpha reveals that most, but not all, inflammatory and destructive mediators are NFkappaB dependent. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 45(10): 1201-1209.
- Angus, D. C., Linde-Zwirble, W. T., Lidicker, J., Clermont, G., Carcillo, J., and Pinsky, M. R. (2001) Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. *Crit. Care Med.* 29(7): 1303-1310.
- Arellano-Garcia, M. E., Hu, S., Wang, J., Henson, B., Zhou, H., Chia, D., and Wong, D. T. (2008) Multiplexed immunobead-based assay for detection of oral cancer protein biomarkers in saliva. *Oral Dis.* 14(8): 705-712.
- Arenzana-Seisdedos, F., Thompson, J., Rodriguez, M. S., Bachelerie, F., Thomas, D., and Hay, R. T. (1995) Inducible nuclear expression of newly synthesized I kappa B alpha negatively regulates DNA-binding and transcriptional activities of NF-kappa B. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 15(5): 2689-2696.
- Ashare, A., Powers, L. S., Butler, N. S., Doerschung, K. C., Monick, M. M., and Hunninghake, G. W. (2005) Anti-inflammatory response is associated with mortality and severity of infection in sepsis. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 288(4): L633-L640.

- Assadi, A., Desebbe, O., Kaminski, C., Rimmelé, T., Bénatir, F., Goudable, J., Chassard, D., and Allaouchiche, B. (2008) Effects of sodium nitroprusside on splanchnic microcirculation in a resuscitated porcine model of septic shock. *Br. J. Anaesth.* 100(1): 55–65.
- Avontuur, J. A., Bruining, H. A., and Ince, C. (1995) Inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis causes myocardial ischemia in endotoxemic rats. *Circ. Res.* 76(3): 418-425.
- Ayala, A., Herdon, C. D., Lehman, D. L., Ayala, C. A., and Chaudry, I. H. (1996)
   Differential induction of apoptosis in lymphoid tissues during sepsis: variation in onset, frequency, and the nature of the mediators. *Blood* 87(10): 4261-4275.
- 18. Bacher, S., and Schmitz, M. L. (2004) The NF-kappaB pathway as a potential target for autoimmune disease therapy. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 10(23): 2827-2837.
- 19. Baeuerle, P. A., and Baichwal, V. R. (1997) NFκB as a frequent target for immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory molecules. *Adv. Immunol.* 65: 111-137.
- Bai, T. R., Zhou, D., Weir, T., Walker, B., Hegele, R., Hayashi, S., McKay, K., Bondy, G. P., and Fong, T. (1995) Substance P (NK1) and neurokinin A (NK2)receptor gene expression in inflammatory airway diseases. *Am. J. Physiol.* 269: L309-L317.
- Baker, C. C., Chaudry, I. H., Gaines, H. O., and Baue, A. E. (1983) Evaluation of factors affecting mortality rate after sepsis in a murine cecal ligation and puncture model. *Surgery* 94(2): 331–335.
- 22. Baluk, P., Bertrand, C., Geppetti, P., McDonald, D. M., and Nadel, J. A. (1995) NK1 receptors mediate leukocyte adhesion in neurogenic inflammation in rat trachea. *Am. J. Physiol.* 268(2): L263-L269.

- Baumgart, K., Radermacher P., and Wagner, F. (2009) Applying gases for microcirculatory and cellular oxygenation in sepsis: effects of nitric oxide, carbon monoxide, and hydrogen sulfide. *Curr. Opin. Anaesthesiol.* 22(2): 168-76.
- Beer, S., Weighardt, H., Emmanuilidis, K., Harzenetter, M. D., Matevossian, E., Heidecke, C. D., Bartels, H., Siewert, J. R., and Holzmann, B. (2002) Systemic neuropeptide levels as predictive indicators for lethal outcome in patients with postoperative sepsis. *Crit. Care Med.* 30(8): 1794-1798.
- Benjamim, C. F., Hogaboam, C. M., and Kunkel, S. L. (2004) The chronic consequences of severe sepsis. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 75(3): 408–412.
- 26. Ben-Neriah, Y., and Schmitz, M. L. (2004) Of mice and men. *EMBO Rep.* 5(7): 668-673.
- Beresford, I. J., Sheldrick, R. L., Ball, D. I., Turpin, M. P., Walsh, D. M., Hawcock, A. B., Coleman, R. A., Hagan, R. M., and Tyers, M. B. (1995) GR159897, a potent non-peptide antagonist at tachykinin NK2 receptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 272(2-3): 241-248.
- 28. Bernard, G. R., Vincent, J. L., Laterre, P. F., LaRosa, S. P., Dhainaut, J. F., Lopez-Rodriguez, A., Steingrub, J. S., Garber, G. E., Helterbrand, J. D., Ely, E. W., and Fischer, C. J. Jr. (2001) Efficacy and safety of recombinant human activated protein C for severe sepsis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 344(10): 699-709.
- 29. Beutler, B. (2002) Toll-like receptors: how they work and what they do. *Curr. Opin. Hematol.* 9(1): 2-10.
- Beutler, B., Milsark, I. W., and Cerami, A. C. (1985) Passive immunization against cachectin/tumor necrosis factor protects mice from lethal effect of endotoxin. *Science* 229(4716): 869-871.

- Bhatia, M. (2003) Tachykinins as therapeutic targets in inflammation. *Curr. Med. Chem.-Anti-Infl. Anti-Allergy Drugs* 2: 19-27.
- Bhatia, M., Brady, M., Zagorski, J., Christmas, S. E., Campbell, F., Neoptolemos, J. P., and Slavin, J. (2000) Treatment with neutralising antibody against cytokine induced neutrophil chemoattractant (CINC) protects rats against acute pancreatitis associated lung injury. *Gut* 47(6): 838-844.
- 33. Bhatia, M., Saluja, A. K., Hofbauer, B., Frossard, J. L., Lee, H. S., Castagliuolo, I., Wang, C. C., Gerard, N., Pothoulakis, C., and Steer, M. L. (1998) Role of substance P and the neurokinin 1 receptor in acute pancreatitis and pancreatitisassociated lung injury. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95(8): 4760-4765.
- Bhatia, M., Slavin, J., Cao, Y., Basbaum, A. I., and Neoptolemos, J. P. (2003) Preprotachykinin-A gene deletion protects mice against acute pancreatitis and associated lung injury. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 284(5): G830-G836.
- Blackwell, T. S., and Christman, J. W. (1996) Sepsis and cytokines: current status.
   *Br. J. Anaesth.* 77(1): 110-117.
- Böhrer, H., Qiu, F., Zimmermann, T., Zhang, Y., Jllmer, T., Männel, D., Böttiger, B. W., Stern, D. M., Waldherr, R., Saeger, H. D., Ziegler, R., Bierhaus, A., Martin, E., and Nawroth, P. P. (1997) Role of NFkappaB in the mortality of sepsis. *J. Clin. Invest.* 100(5): 972-985.
- 37. Boichot, E., Germain, N., Emonds-Alt, X., Advenier, C., and Lagente, V. (1998) Effects of SR 140333 and SR 48968 on antigen and substance P-induced activation of guinea-pig alveolar macrophages. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 28(10): 1299-1305.

- 38. Bossink, A.W., Paemen, L., Jansen, P. M., Hack, C. E., Thijs, L. G., and Van Damme, J. (1995) Plasma levels of the chemokines monocyte chemotactic proteins-1 and -2 are elevated in human sepsis. *Blood* 86(10): 3841-3847.
- Bozza, M., Satoskar, A. R., Lin, G., Lu, B., Humbles, A. A., Gerard, C., and David, J. R. (1999) Targeted disruption of migration inhibitory factor gene reveals its critical role in sepsis. *J. Exp. Med.* 189(2): 341–346.
- Brazma, A., Hingamp, P., Quackenbush, J., Sherlock, G., Spellman, P., Stoeckert, C., Aach, J., Ansorge, W., Ball, C. A., Causton, H. C., Gaasterland, T., Glenisson, P., Holstege, F. C., Kim, I. F., Markowitz, V., Matese, J. C., Parkinson, H., Robinson, A., Sarkans, U., Schulze-Kremer, S., Stewart, J., Taylor, R., Vilo, J., and Vingron, M. (2001). Minimum information about a microarray experiment (MIAME)-toward standards for microarray data. *Nat. Genet.* 29(4): 365-371.
- Bresnihan, B., and Cunnane, G. (1998) Interleukin- 1 receptor antagonist. *Rheum. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 24(3): 615–628.
- Browder, W., Ha, T., Chuanfu, L., Kalbfleisch, J. H., Ferguson, D. A. Jr., and Williams, D. L. (1999) Early activation of pulmonary nuclear factor kappaB and nuclear factor interleukin-6 in polymicrobial sepsis. *J. Trauma* 46(4): 590-596.
- 43. Brown, M. A., and Jones, W. K. (2004) NF-κB action in sepsis: the innate immune system and the heart. *Front. Biosci.* 9: 1201-1217.
- 44. Buras, J. A., Holzmann, B., and Sitkovsky, M. (2005) Animal models of sepsis: setting the stage. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 4(10): 854–865.
- 45. Calandra, T., Bernhagen, J., Metz, C. N., Spiegel, L. A., Bacher, M., Donnelly, T., Cerami, A., and Bucala, R. (1995) MIF as a glucocorticoid-induced modulator of cytokine production. *Nature* 377(6544): 68–71.

- 46. Calandra, T., Echtenacher, B., Roy, D. L., Pugin, J., Metz, C. N., Hültner, L., Heumann, D., Männel, D., Bucala, R., and Glauser, M. P. (2000) Protection from septic shock by neutralization of macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *Nat. Med.* 6(2): 164–170.
- Calandra, T., and Roger, T. (2003) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a regulator of innate immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 3(10): 791-800.
- Calzado, M. A., Bacher, S., and Schmitz, M. L. (2007) NF-kappaB inhibitors for the treatment of inflammatory diseases and cancer. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 14(3): 367-376.
- 49. Castagliuolo, I., Keates, A. C., Qiu, B., Kelly, C. P., Nikulasson, S., Leeman, S. E., and Pothoulakis, C. (1997) Increased substance P responses in dorsal root ganglia and intestinal macrophages during Clostridium difficile toxin A enteritis in rats. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 94(9): 4788-4793.
- 50. Cavaillon, J. M., Adib-Conquy, M., Fitting, C., Adrie, C., and Payen, D. (2003). Cytokine cascade in sepsis. *Scand. J. Infect. Dis.* 35(9): 535-544.
- 51. Cavaillon, J. M., and Annane, D. (2006) Compartmentalization of the inflammatory response in sepsis and SIRS. *J. Endotoxin Res.* 12(3): 151-170.
- Chandra, A., Enkhbaatar, P., Nakano, Y., Traber, L. D., and Traber, D. L. (2006) Sepsis: Emerging role of nitric oxide and selectins. *Clinics (Sau Paulo)* 61(1): 71-76.
- Chang, L., and Karin, M. (2001) Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. *Nature* 410(6824): 37-40.

- Chang, M. M., and Leeman, S. E. (1970) Isolation of a sialogogic peptide from bovine hypothalamic tissue and its characterization as substance P. J. Biol. Chem. 245(18): 4784-4790.
- 55. Chang, M. M., Wu, R., Plopper, C. G., and Hyde, D. M. (1998) IL-8 is one of the major chemokines produced by monkey airway epithelium after ozone-induced injury. *Am. J. Physiol.* 275(3 Pt 1): L524–L532.
- 56. Chavakis, T., Bierhaus, A., Al-Fakhri, N., Schneider, D., Witte, S., Linn, T., Nagashima, M., Morser, J., Arnold, B., Preissner, K. T., and Nawroth, P. P. (2003) The pattern recognition receptor (RAGE) is a counterreceptor for leukocyte integrins: A novel pathway for inflammatory cell recruitment. *J. Exp. Med.* 198(10): 1507–1515.
- Chavolla-Calderón, M., Bayer, M. K., and Fontán, J. J. (2003) Bone marrow transplantation reveals an essential synergy between neuronal and hemopoietic cell neurokinin production in pulmonary inflammation. *J. Clin. Invest.* 111(7): 973-980.
- Shen, B. C., Yu, C. C., Lei, H. C., Chang, M. S., Hsu, M. J., Huang, C. L., Chen, M. C., Sheu, J. R., Chen, T. F., Chen, T. L., Inoue, H., and Lin, C. H. (2004) Bradykinin B2 receptor mediates NF-kappaB activation and cyclooxygenase-2 expression via the Ras/Raf-1/ERK pathway in human airway epithelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 173(8): 5219–5228.
- 59. Chen, X., Ji, B., Han, B., Ernst, S. A., Simeone, D., and Logsdon, C. D. (2002) NF-κB activation in pancreas induces pancreatic and systemic inflammatory response. *Gastroenterology* 122(2): 448-457.

- 60. Chen, Y., Voegeli, T. S., Liu, P. P., Noble, E. G., and Currie, R. W. (2007) Heat shock paradox and a new role of heat shock proteins and their receptors as antiinflammation targets. *Inflamm. Allergy Drug Targets* 6(2): 91-100.
- Chu, H. W., Kraft, M., Krause, J. E., Rex, M. D., and Martin, R. J. (2000) Substance P and its receptor neurokinin 1 expression in asthmatic airways. J. *Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 106(4): 713–722.
- Chung, T. P., Laramie, J. M., Meyer, D. J., Downey, T., Tam, L. H., Ding, H., Buchman, T. G., Karl, I., Stormo, G. D., Hotchkiss, R. S., and Cobb, J. P. (2006) Molecular diagnostics in sepsis: from bedside to bench. *J. Am. Coll. Surg.* 203(5): 585-598.
- Cinel, I., and Opal, S. M. (2009). Molecular biology of inflammation and sepsis: A primer. *Crit. Care Med.* 37(1): 291-304.
- 64. Cohen, J. (2002) The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. Nature 420(6917): 885-891.
- 65. Cooper, A. M., and Khader, S. A. (2007) IL-12p40: an inherently agonistic cytokine. *Trends Immunol.* 28: 33-38.
- 66. Deitch, E. A. (2005) Rodent models of intra-abdominal infection. *Shock* 24 (Suppl. 1): 19–23.
- 67. de Jager, W., and Rijkers, G. T. (2006) Solid-phase and bead-based cytokine immunoassay: a comparison. *Methods* 38(4): 294-303.
- 68. de Jager, W., te Velthuis, H., Prakken, B. J., Kuis, W., and Rijkers, G. T. (2003) Simultaneous detection of 15 human cytokines in a single sample of stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Clin. Diagn. Lab Immunol.* 10(1): 133-139.
- Dempsey, E. C., Cool, C. D., and Littler, C. M. (2007) Lung disease and PKCs. *Pharmacol. Res.* 55(6): 545-59.

- DeRose, V., Robbins, R. A., Snider, R. M., Spurzem, J. R., Thiele, G. M., Rennard, S. I., and Rubinstein, I. (1994) Substance P increases neutrophil adhesion to bronchial epithelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 152(3): 1339-1346.
- Dickerson, C., Undem, B., Bullock, B., and Winchurch, R. A. (1998) Neuropeptide regulation of proinflammatory cytokine responses. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 63(5): 602-605.
- 72. Di Sebastiano, P., Grossi, L., Di Mola, F. F., Angelucci, D., Friess, H., Marzio, L., Innocenti, P., and Büchler, M. W. (1999) SR140333, a substance P receptor antagonist, influences morphological changes in rat experimental colitis. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 44(2): 439-444.
- 73. Dong, C, Davis, R. J., and Flavell, R. A. (2002) MAP kinases in the immune response. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 20: 55-72.
- 74. Dupont, N. C., Wang, K., Wadhwa, P. D., Culhane, J. F., and Nelson, E. L. (2005) Validation and comparison of Luminex multiplex cytokine analysis kits with ELISA: determinations of a panel of nine cytokines in clinical sample culture supernatants. J. Reprod. Immunol. 66(2): 175–191.
- 75. Ea, C. K., Deng, L., Xia, Z. P., Pineda, G., and Chen, Z. J. (2006) Activation of IKK by TNFalpha requires site-specific ubiquitination of RIP1 and polyubiquitin binding by NEMO. *Mol. Cell* 22(2): 245-257.
- 76. Eichacker, P. Q., Natanson, C., and Danner, R. L. (2006) Surviving sepsis-practice guidelines, marketing campaigns and Eli Lilly. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 355:1640-1642.
- Ellaban, E., Bolgos, G., and Remick, D. (2004) Selective macrophage suppression during sepsis. *Cell Immunol.* 231(1-2): 103-111.
- 78. Emonds-Alt, X., Doutremepuich, J. D., Heaulme, M., Neliat, G., Santucci, V., Steinberg, R., Vilain, P., Bichon, D., Ducoux, J. P., Proietto, V., Van Broek, D.,

Soubrie, P., Le Fur, G., and Breliere, J. C. (1993) *In vitro* and *in vivo* biological activities of SR 140333, a novel potent non-peptide tachykinin NK1 receptor antagonist. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 250(3): 403-413.

- English, J., Pearson, G., Wilsbacher, J., Swantek, J., Karandikar, M., Xu, S., and Cobb, M. H. (1999) New insights into the control of MAP kinase pathways. *Exp. Cell Res.* 253(1): 255-270.
- Ertel, W., Kremer, J. P., Kenny, J., Steckholzer, U., Jarrar, D., Trentz, O., and Schildberg, F. W. (1995) Downregulation of proinflammatory cytokine release in whole blood from septic patients. *Blood* 85(5): 1341-1347.
- 81. Ertel, W., Morrison, M. H., Wang, P., Ba, Z. F., Ayala, A., and Chaudry, I. H. (1991) The complex pattern of cytokines in sepsis: Association between prostaglandins, cachectin, and interleukins. *Ann. Surg.* 214(2): 141-148.
- Eskandari, M. K., Bolgos, G., Miller, C., Nguyen, D. T., DeForge, L. E., and Remick, D. O. (1992) Anti-tumor necrosis factor antibody therapy fails to prevent lethality after cecal ligation and puncture or endotoxemia. *J. Immunol.* 148(9): 2724-2730.
- Esmon, C. T. (2000) Introduction: Are natural anticoagulants candidates for modulating the inflammatory response to endotoxin? *Blood* 95(4): 1113–1116.
- 84. Espiritu, R. F., Pittet, J. F., Matthay, M. A., and Goetzl, E. J. (1992) Neuropeptides in pulmonary edema fluid of adult respiratory distress syndrome. *Inflammation* 16(5): 509-517.
- 85. Eulberg, D., Buchner, K., Maasch, C., and Klussmann, S. (2005) Development of an automated in vitro selection protocol to obtain RNA-based aptamers: identification of a biostable substance P antagonist. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33(4): e45.

- 86. Exton, J. H. (1996) Regulation of phosphoinositide phospholipases by hormones, neurotransmitters, and other agonists linked to G proteins. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 36: 481-509.
- Firestein, G. S. (2004) NF-kappaB: Holy Grail for rheumatoid arthritis? *Arthritis Rheum.* 50(8): 2381-2386.
- Foresti, R., Bani-Hani, M. G., and Motterlini, R. (2008) Use of carbon monoxide as a therapeutic agent: promises and challenges. *Intensive Care Med.* 34(4): 649– 658.
- Gårdlund, B., Sjölin, J., Nilsson, A., Roll, M., Wickerts, C. J., and Wretlind, B. (1995) Plasma levels of cytokines in primary septic shock in humans: correlation with disease severity. *J. Infect. Dis.* 172(1): 296-301.
- Ghosh, S., and Karin, M. (2002) Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle. *Cell* 109 Suppl: S81-S96.
- 91. Gibot, S., Massin, F., Cravoisy, A., Barraud, D., Nace, L., Levy, B., and Bollaert,
  P. E. (2007) High-mobility group box 1 protein plasma concentrations during septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* 33(8): 1347–1353.
- Goldbach-Mansky, R., Dailey, N. J., Canna, S. W., Gelabert, A., Jones, J., Rubin, B. I., Kim, H. J., Brewer, C., Zalewski, C., Wiggs, E., Hill, S., Turner, M. L., Karp, B. I., Aksentijevich, I., Pucino, F., Penzak, S. R., Haverkamp, M. H., Stein, L., Adams, B. S., Moore, T. L., Fuhlbrigge, R. C., Shaham, B., Jarvis, J. N., O'Neil, K., Vehe, R. K., Beitz, L. O., Gardner, G., Hannan, W. P., Warren, R. W., Horn, W., Cole, J. L., Paul, S. M., Hawkins, P. N., Pham, T. H., Snyder, C., Wesley, R. A., Hoffmann, S. C., Holland, S. M., Butman, J. A., and Kastner, D. L. (2006)

Neonatal-onset multisystem inflammatory disease responsive to interleukin-1beta inhibition. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 355(6): 581-592.

- 93. Grimm, T., Chovanová, Z., Muchová, J., Sumegová, K., Liptáková, A., Duracková, Z., and Högger, P. (2006). Inhibition of NF-kappaB activation and MMP-9 secretion by plasma of human volunteers after ingestion of maritime pine bark extract (Pycnogenol). J. Inflamm. (Lond). 3: 1.
- 94. Groneberg, D. A., Quarcoo, D., Frossard, N., and Fischer, A. (2004) Neurogenic mechanisms in bronchial inflammatory diseases. *Allergy* 59(11): 1139-1152.
- 95. Gueders, M. M., Balbin, M., Rocks, N., Foidart, J. M., Gosset, P., Louis, R., Shapiro, S., Lopez-Otin, C., Noël, A., and Cataldo, D. D. (2005). Matrix metalloproteinase-8 deficiency promotes granulocytic allergen-induced airway inflammation. *J. Immunol.* 175(4): 2589-2597.
- 96. Harper, M. T., and Poole, A. W. (2007) Isoform-specific functions of protein kinase C: the platelet paradigm. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 35(Pt 5): 1005-1008.
- 97. Harris, H. E., and Raucci, A. (2006) Alarmin(g) news about danger: workshop on innate danger signals and HMGB1. *EMBO Rep.* 7(8): 774–778.
- Harrison, S., and Geppetti, P. (2001) Substance p. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 33(6): 555-576.
- 99. Hastrup, H., and Schwartz, T. W. (1999) Septide and neurokinin A are highaffinity ligands on the NK-1 receptor: evidence from homologous versus heterologous binding analysis. *FEBS Lett.* 399(3): 264-266.
- 100. Hayden, M. S., and Gosh, S. (2004) Signaling to NF-кВ. Genes Dev. 18(18): 2195-2224.

- 101. Hazzalin, C., and Mahadevan, L. C. (2002) MAPK-regulated transcription: a continuously variable gene switch? *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 3(1): 30-40.
- 102. Hierholzer, C., Kelly, E., Tsukada, K., Loeffert, E., Watkins, S., Billiar, T. R., and Tweardy, D. J. (1997) Hemorrhagic shock induces G-CSF expression in bronchial epithelium. Am. J. Physiol. 273(5 Pt 1): L1058–L1064.
- 103. Hildebrand, F., Pape, H. C., Harwood, P., Muller, K., Hoevel, P., Putz, C., Siemann, A., Krettek, C., and van Griensven, M. (2005) Role of adhesion molecule ICAM in the pathogenesis of polymicrobial sepsis. *Exp. Toxicol. Pathol.* 56(4-5): 281-290.
- 104. Ho, W. Z., Lai, J. P., Zhu, X. H., Uvaydova, M., and Douglas, S. D. (1997) Human monocytes and macrophages express substance P and neurokinin-1 receptor. *J. Immunol.* 159(11): 5654-5660.
- 105. Hori, O., Brett, J., Slattery, T., Cao, R., Zhang, J., Chen, J. X., Nagashima, M., Lundh, E. R., Vijay, S., Nitecki, D., Morser, J., Stern, D., and Schmidt, A. M. (1995) The receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) is a cellular binding site for amphoterin. Mediation of neurite outgrowth and co-expression of rage and amphoterin in the developing nervous system. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270(43): 25752–25761.
- 106. Hotchkiss, R. S., Dunne, W. N., Swanson, P. E., Davis, C. G., Tinsley, K. W., Chang, K. C., Buchman, T. G., and Karl, I. E. (2001) Role of apoptosis in Pseudomonas aeruginosa pneumonia. *Science* 294(5548): 1783a.
- 107. Hotchkiss, R. S., and Karl, I. E. (2003). The pathophysiology and treatment of sepsis. N. Engl. J. Med. 348(2): 138-150.

- 108. Hui, Y., Du, J., Tang, C., Bin, G., and Jiang, H. (2003) Changes in arterial hydrogen sulphide (H(2)S) content during septic shock and endotoxin shock in rats. *J. Infect.* 47(2): 155-160.
- 109. Ishida, Y., Hayashi, T., Goto, T., Kimura, A., Akimoto, S., Mukaida, N., and Kondo, T. (2008) Essential involvement of CXCR1-mediated signals in the bactericidal host defense during septic peritonitis. *J. Immunol.* 181(6): 4208-4218.
- 110. Janssens, S., and Tschopp, J. (2006) Signals from within: the DNA-damageinduced NF-kappaB response. *Cell Death Differ*. 13(5): 773-784.
- 111. Jiang, B., Xu, S., Hou, X., Pimentel, D. R., Brecher, P., and Cohen, R. A. (2004)
  Temporal control of NF-κB activation by ERK differentially regulates interleukin1 beta-induced gene expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279(2): 1323-1329.
- 112. Ji, Y., Liu, J., Wang, Z., and Liu, N. (2009) Angiotensin II induces inflammatory response partly via toll-like receptor 4-dependent signaling pathway in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Cell Physiol. Biochem.* 23(4-6): 265-276.
- Johnston, C. A., and Siderovski, D. P. (2007) Receptor-mediated activation of heterotrimeric G-proteins: current structural insights. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 72(2): 219-230.
- 114. Joos, G. F., Germonpré, P. R., and Pauwels, R. A. (2000) Role of tachykinins in asthma. *Allergy* 55(4): 321-337.
- 115. Joshi, A. R., Chung, C. S., Song, G. Y., Lomas, J., Priester, R. A., and Ayala, A.
  (2002) NF-kappaB activation has tissue-specific effects on immune cell apoptosis during polymicrobial sepsis. *Shock* 18(4): 380-386.
- 116. Karin, M., and Ben-Neriah, Y. (2000) Phosphorylation meets ubiquitination: the control of NF-[kappa]B activity. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 18: 621-623.

- 117. Karlsson, S., Pettilä, V., Tenhunen, J., Laru-Sompa, R., Hynninen, M., and Ruokonen, E. (2008) HMGB1 as a predictor of organ dysfunction and outcome in patients with severe sepsis. *Intensive Care Med.* 34(6): 1046-1053.
- 118. Kato, T., Murata, A., Ishida, H., Toda, H., Tanaka, N., Hayashida, H., Monden, M., and Matsuura, N. (1995) Interleukin 10 reduces mortality from severe peritonitis in mice. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 39(6): 1336-1340.
- 119. Kelly, E. A., and Jarjour, N. N. (2003) Role of matrix metalloproteinases in asthma. *Curr. Opin. Pulm. Med.* 9(1): 28-33.
- 120. Kilpatrick, L. E., Sun, S., Mackie, D., Baik, F., Li, H., and Korchak, H. M. (2006) Regulation of TNF mediated antiapoptotic signaling in human neutrophils: role of delta-PKC and ERK1/2. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 80(6): 1512-1521.
- 121. Kimura, S., Goto, K., Ogawa, T., Sugita, Y., and Kanazawa, I. (1984) Pharmacological characterization of novel mammalian tachykinins, neurokinin alpha and neurokinin beta. *Neurosci. Res.* 2(1-2): 97-104.
- 122. King, K. A., Hu, C., Rodriguez, M. M., Romaguera, R., Jiang, X., and Piedimonte, G. (2001) Exaggerated neurogenic inflammation and substance P receptor upregulation in RSV-infected weanling rats. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 24(2): 101–107.
- 123. Kingsmore, S. F. (2006). Multiplexed protein measurement: technologies and applications of protein and antibody arrays. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 5(4): 310–320.
- 124. Kobayashi, M., Tsuda, Y., Yoshida, T., Takeuchi, D., Utsunomiya, T., Takahashi,
  H., and Suzuki, F. (2006) Bacterial sepsis and chemokines. *Curr. Drug Targets* 7(1): 119-134.

- 125. Koon, H. W., and Pothoulakis, C. (2006) Immunomodulatory properties of substance P: the gastrointestinal system as a model. *Ann. N Y Acad. Sci.* 1088: 23-40.
- 126. Koon, H. W., Zhao, D., Zhan, Y., Simeonidis, S., Moyer, M. P, and Pothoulakis,
  C. (2005) Substance P-stimulated interleukin-8 expression in human colonic epithelial cells involves protein kinase Cdelta activation. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 314(3): 1393–1400.
- 127. Kuhl, S. J., and Rosen, H. (1998) Nitric oxide and septic shock. From bench to bedside. *West J. Med.* 168(3): 176-181.
- 128. Kuhns, D. B., Alvord, W. G., and Gallin, J. I. (1995) Increased circulating cytokines, cytokine antagonists, and E-selectin after intravenous administration of endotoxin in humans. *J. Infect. Dis.* 171(1): 145-152.
- 129. Kyriakis, J. M., and Avruch, J. (2001) Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. *Physiol. Rev.* 81(2): 807-869.
- 130. Labarca, C., and Paigen, K. (1980) A simple, rapid, and sensitive DNA assay procedure. *Anal Biochem.* 102(2): 344-352.
- 131. Lai, J. P., Douglas, S. D., and Ho, W. Z. (1998) Human lymphocytes express substance P and its receptor. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 86(1): 80-86.
- 132. Latifi, S. Q., O'Riordan, M. A., and Levine, A. D. (2002) Interleukin-10 controls the onset of irreversible septic shock. *Infect. Immun.* 70: 4441-4446.
- 133. Lau, H. Y., and Bhatia, M. (2006) The effect of CP-96,345 on the expression of tachykinins and neurokinin receptors in acute pancreatitis. *J. Pathol.* 208(3): 364-371.

- 134. Lau, H. Y., Wong, F. L., and Bhatia, M. (2005) A key role of neurokinin 1 receptors in acute pancreatitis and associated lung injury. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 327(2): 509-515.
- 135. Lee, M. R., Duan, W., and Tan, S. L. (2008) Protein kinase C isozymes as potential therapeutic targets in immune disorders. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* 12(5): 535-552.
- 136. Lee, Y. C., Lee, H. B., Rhee, Y. K., and Song, C. H. (2001) The involvement of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in airway inflammation of patients with acute asthma. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 31(10):1623-1630.
- 137. Lenardo, M. J., and Baltimore, D. (1989) NF-kappa B: a pleiotropic mediator of inducible and tissue-specific gene control. *Cell* 58(2): 227-229.
- 138. Levy, M. M., Fink, M. P., Marshall, J. C., Abraham, E., Angus, D., Cook, D., Cohen, J., Opal, S. M., Vincent, J. L., and Ramsay, G. (2003) 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. *Crit. Care Med.* 31(4): 1250-1256.
- 139. Li, N., and Karin, M. (1998) Ionizing radiation and short wavelength UV activate
  NF-kappaB through two distinct mechanisms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.*, 95(22): 13012-13017.
- 140. Liaudet, L., Fishman, D., Markert, M., Perret, C., and Feihl, F. (1997) Lcanavanine improves organ function and tissue adenosine triphosphate levels in rodent endotoxemia. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 155(5): 1643-1648.
- 141. Linkov, F., Lisovich, A., Yurkovetsky, Z., Marrangoni, A., Velikokhatnaya, L., Nolen, B., Winans, M., Bigbee, W., Siegfried, J., Lokshin, A., and Ferris, R. L. (2007). Early detection of head and neck cancer: development of a novel

screening tool using multiplexed immunobead-based biomarker profiling. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 16(1): 102–107.

- 142. Liu, M. Y., Xydakis, A. M., Hoogeveen, R. C., Jones, P. H., Smith, E. O., Nelson, K. W., and Ballantyne, C. M. (2005). Multiplexed analysis of biomarkers related to obesity and the metabolic syndrome in human plasma, using the Luminex-100 System. *Clin. Chem.* 51(7): 1102–1109.
- 143. Lutterloh, E. C., Opal, S. M., Pittman, D. D., Keith, J. C. Jr., Tan, X. Y., Clancy, B. M., Palmer, H., Milarski, K., Sun, Y., Palardy, J. E., Parejo, N. A., and Kessimian, N. (2007) Inhibition of the RAGE products increases survival in experimental models of severe sepsis and systemic infection. *Crit. Care* 11(6): R122.
- 144. Maggio, J. E. (1988) Tachykinins. Annu. Rev. Neurosci.11: 13-28.
- 145. Mantyh, C. R., Gates, T. S., Zimmerman, R. P., Welton, M. L., Passaro, E. P. Jr., Vigna, S. R., Maggio, J. E., Kruger, L., and Mantyh, P. W. (1988) Receptor binding sites for substance P, but not substance K or neuromedin K, are expressed in high concentrations by arterioles, venules, and lymph nodules in surgical specimens obtained from patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 85(9): 3235-3239.
- 146. Mantyh, C. R., Vigna, S. R., Bollinger, R. R., Mantyh, P. W., Maggio, J. E., and Pappas, T. N. (1995) Differential expression of substance P receptors in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 109(3): 850-860.
- 147. Mantyh, C. R., Vigna, S. R., Maggio, J. E., Mantyh, P. W., Bollinger, R. R., and Pappas, T. N. (1994) Substance P binding sites on intestinal lymphoid aggregates

and blood vessels in inflammatory bowel disease correspond to authentic NK-1 receptors. *Neurosci. Lett.* 178(2): 255-299.

- 148. Marshall, J. C., Vincent, J. L., Fink, M. P., Cook, D. J., Rubenfeld, G., Foster, D., Fisher, C. J. Jr., Faist, E., and Reinhart, K. (2003). Measures, markers, and mediators: toward a staging system for clinical sepsis. A report of the Fifth Toronto Sepsis Roundtable, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, October 25-26, 2000. *Crit. Care Med.* 31(5): 1560-1567.
- 149. Martin, G. S., Mannino, D. M., Eaton, S., and Moss, M. (2003) The epidemiology of sepsis in the United States from 1979-2000. N. Engl. J. Med. 348(16): 1546-1554.
- 150. Martin, W. J., Cao, Y., and Basbaum, A. I. (2004) Characterization of wide dynamic range neurons in the deep dorsal horn of the spinal cord in preprotachykinin-a null mice in vivo. *J. Neurophysiol.* 91(5): 1945-1954.
- 151. Marzinzig, M., Nussler, A. K., Stadler, J., Marzinzig, E., Barthlen, W., Nussler, N. C., Beger, H. G., Morris, S. M. Jr., and Brückner, U. B. (1997) Improved methods to measure end products of nitric oxide in biological fluids: nitrite, nitrate, and *S*-nitrosothiols. *Nitric Oxide* 1(2): 177–189.
- 152. Matsuda, M. and Hattori, Y. (2006). Systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS): molecular pathophysiology and gene therapy. *J. Pharmacol. Sci.* 101(3): 189-198.
- 153. Matsukawa, A., Hogaboam, C. M., Lukacs, N. W., Lincoln, P. M., Evanoff, H. L., and Kunkel, S. L. (2000) Pivotal role of the CC chemokine, macrophagederived chemokine, in the innate immune response. *J. Immunol.* 164(10): 5362-5368.

- 154. Matsukawa, A., Hogaboam, C. M., Lukacs, N. W., Lincoln, P. M., Strieter, R. M., and Kunkel, S. L. (1999) Endogenous monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) protects mice in a model of acute septic peritonitis: Cross-talk between MCP-1 and leukotriene B4. *J. Immunol.* 163(11): 6148-6154.
- 155. Mayr, F. B., Spiel, A., Leitner, J., Marsik, C., Germann, P., Ullrich, R., Wagner, O., and Jilma, B. (2005) Effects of carbon monoxide inhalation during experimental endotoxemia in humans. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 171(4): 354–360.
- 156. McLean, P. G., Ahluwalia, A., and Perretti, M. (2000) Association between Kinin B1 receptor expression and leukocyte trafficking across mouse mesenteric postcapillary venules. J. Exp. Med. 192(3): 367-380.
- 157. McMasters, K. M., Peyton, J. C., Hadjiminas, D. J., and Cheadle, W. G. (1994) Endotoxin and tumor necrosis factor do not cause mortality from caecal ligation and puncture. *Cytokine* 6(5): 530-536.
- 158. Meek, R. L., Eriksen, N., and Benditt, E. P. (1992) Murine serum amyloid A3 is a high density apolipoprotein and is secreted by macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 89(17): 7949-7952.
- 159. Mikoshiba, K. (1997) The InsP3 receptor and intracellular Ca2+ signaling. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 7(3): 339-345.
- 160. Miskolci, V., Rollins, J., Vu, H. Y., Ghosh, C. C., Davidson, D., and Vancurova,
  I. (2007) NFkappaB is persistently activated in continuously stimulated human neutrophils. *Mol. Med.* 13(3-4): 134-142.
- 161. Mitchell, R. A., Liao, H., Chesney, J., Fingerle-Rowson, G., Baugh, J., David, J., and Bucala, R. (2002) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) sustains

macrophage proinflammatory function by inhibiting p53: Regulatory role in the innate immune response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 99(1): 345–350.

- 162. Mizuta, K., Gallos, G., Zhu, D., Mizuta, F., Goubaeva, F., Xu, D., Panettieri, R. A. Jr., Yang, J., and Emala, C. W. Sr. (2008) Expression and coupling of neurokinin receptor subtypes to inositol phosphate and calcium signaling pathways in human airway smooth muscle cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 294(3): L523-L534.
- 163. Murthy, K. G., Deb, A., Goonesekera, S., Szabo, C., and Salzman, A. L. (2004) Identification of conserved domains in Salmonella muenchen flagellin that are essential for its ability to activate TLR5 and to induce an inflammatory response in vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 279(7): 5667-5675.
- 164. Nakagawa, N., Sano, H., and Iwamoto, I. (1995) Substance P induces the expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 on vascular endothelial cells and enhances neutrophil transendothelial migration. *Peptides* 16(4): 721-725.
- 165. Ness, T. L., Carpenter, K. J., Ewing, J. L., Gerard, C. J., Hogaboam, C. M., and Kunkel, S. L. (2004) CCR1 and CC chemokine ligand 5 interactions exacerbate innate immune responses during sepsis. *J. Immunol.* 173(11): 6938-6948.
- 166. Ness, T. L., Hogaboam, C. M., Strieter, R. M., and Kunkel, S. L. (2003) Immunomodulatory role of CXCR2 during experimental septic peritonitis. J. Immunol. 171(7): 3775-3784.
- 167. Ng, S. W., Zhang, H., Hegde, A., and Bhatia, M. (2008) Role of preprotachykinin-A gene products on multiple organ injury in LPS-induced endotoxemia. J. Leukoc. Biol. 83(2): 288-295.

- 168. Nishizuka, Y. (1995) Protein kinase C and lipid signaling for sustained cellular responses. *FASEB J.* 9(7): 484-496.
- 169. Nishizuka, Y. (2001) The protein kinase C family and lipid mediators for transmembrane signaling and cell regulation. *Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res.* 25(5 Suppl ISBRA): 3S-7S.
- 170. Nolan, J. P., and Mandy, F. (2006) Multiplexed and microparticle-based analyses:
  quantitative tools for the large-scale analysis of biological systems. *Cytometry A*.
  69(5): 318–325.
- 171. O'Connor, T. M., O'Connell, J., O'Brien, D. I., Bennett, M. W., Goode, T., Burke, L., Bredin, C. P., and Shanahan, F. (2003) Upregulation of neurokinin-1 receptor expression in the lungs of patients with sarcoidosis. *J. Clin. Immunol.* 23(5): 425–435.
- 172. O'Connor, T. M., O'Connell, J., O'Brien, D. I., Goode, T., Bredin, C. P., and Shanahan, F. (2004) The role of substance P in inflammatory disease. J. Cell Physiol. 201(2): 167-180.
- 173. O'Grady, N. P., Tropea, M., Preas, H. L. 2nd, Reda, D., Vandivier, R. W., Banks, S. M. and Suffredini, A. F. (1999) Detection of macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1alpha and MIP-1beta during experimental endotoxemia and human sepsis. *J. Infect. Dis.* 179(1): 136-141.
- 174. Okazaki, Y., and Matsukawa, A. (2009) Pathophysiology of sepsis and recent patents on the diagnosis, treatment and prophylaxis for sepsis. *Recent Pat. Inflamm. Allergy Drug Discov.* 3(1): 26-32.
- 175. Oldham, W. M., Van Eps, N., Preininger, A. M., Hubbell, W. L., and Hamm, H.E. (2007) Mapping allosteric connections from the receptor to the nucleotide-

binding pocket of heterotrimeric G proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 104(19): 7927-7932.

- 176. Opal, S. M. (2004) The nexus between systemic inflammation and disordered coagulation in sepsis. *J. Endotoxin Res.* 10(2): 125–129.
- 177. Opal, S. M., and DePalo, V. A. (2000) Anti-inflammatory cytokines. *Chest* 117(4): 1162-1172.
- 178. Osuchowski, M. F., Welch, K., Siddiqui, J., and Remick, D. G. (2006). Circulating cytokine/inhibitor profiles reshape the understanding of the SIRS/CARS continuum in sepsis and predict mortality. *J. Immunol.* 177(3): 1967-1974.
- Panas, D., Khadour Szabo, F. H., Szabó, C., and Schulz, R. (1998)
  Proinflammatory cytokines depress cardiac efficiency by a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. *Am. J. Physiol.* 275(3 Pt 2): H1016-1023.
- 180. Panta, G. R., Kaur, S., Cavin, L. G., Cortés, M. L., Mercurio, F., Lothstein, L., Sweatman, T. W., Israel, M., and Arsura, M. (2004) ATM and the catalytic subunit of DNA-dependent protein kinase activate NF-κB through a common MEK/extracellular signal-regulated kinase/p90 (rsk) signaling pathway in response to distinct forms of DNA damage. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 24(5): 1823-1835.
- 181. Parent, C., and Eichacker, P. Q. (1999) Neutrophil and endothelial cell interactions in sepsis. The role of adhesion molecules. *Infect. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 13(2): 427-447.
- 182. Park, J. S., Svetkauskaite, D., He, Q., Kim, J. Y., Strassheim, D., Ishizaka, A., and Abraham, E. (2004) Involvement of toll like receptors 2 and 4 in cellular

activation by high mobility group box 1 protein. J. Biol. Chem. 279(9): 7370-7377.

- 183. Parry, G. C., and Mackman, N. (1994) A set of inducible genes expressed by activated human monocytic and endothelial cells contain kappa B-like sites that specifically bind c-Rel-p65 heterodimers. J. Biol. Chem. 269(33): 20823-20825.
- 184. Patacchini, R., Lecci, A., Holzer, P., and Maggi, C. A. (2004) Newly discovered tachykinin raise new questions about their peripheral roles and the tachykinin nomenclature. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 25(1): 1-3.
- 185. Patacchini, R., and Maggi, C. A. (2001) Peripheral tachykinin receptors as targets for new drugs. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 429(1-3): 13-21.
- 186. Patto, R. J., Vinayek, R., Jensen, R. T., and Gardner, J. D. (1992) Carbachol does not down-regulate substance P receptors in pancreatic acini. *Pancreas* 7(4): 447-452.
- 187. Pedersen, K. E., Buckner, C. K., Meeker, S. N., and Undem, B. J. (2000) Pharmacological examination of the neurokinin-1 receptor mediating relaxation of human intralobar pulmonary artery. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 292(1): 319-325.
- 188. Pomerantz, J. L., and Baltimore, D. (2002) Two pathways to NF-kappaB. *Mol. Cell* 10(4): 693-695.
- 189. Prabhakar, U., Eirikis, E., and Davis, H. M. (2002). Simultaneous quantification of proinflammatory cytokines in human plasma using the LabMAP assay. J. Immunol. Methods 260(1-2): 207–218.
- 190. Proulx, F., Toledano, B., Phan, V., Clermont, M. J., Mariscalco, M. M. and Seidman, E. G. (2002) Circulating granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, C-X-C,

and C-C chemokines in children with Escherichia coli O157:H7 associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr. Res.* 52(6): 928-934.

- 191. Prucha, M., Ruryk, A., Boriss, H., Möller, E., Zazula, R., Herold, I., Claus, R. A., Reinhart, K. A., Deigner, P., and Russwurm, S. (2004) Expression profiling: toward an application in sepsis diagnostics. *Shock* 22(1): 29-33.
- 192. Pulverer, B. J., Hughes, K., Franklin, C. C., Kraft, A. S., Leevers, S. J., and Woodgett, J. R. (1993) Co-purification of mitogen-activated protein kinases with phorbol ester-induced c-Jun kinase activity in U937 leukaemic cells. *Oncogene* 8(2): 407-415.
- 193. Pulverer, B. J., Kyriakis, J. M., Avruch, J., Nikolakaki, E., and Woodgett, J. R. (1991) Phosphorylation of c-jun mediated by MAP kinases. *Nature* 353(6345): 670-674.
- 194. Puneet, P., Hegde, A., Ng, S. W., Lau, H. Y., Lu, J., Moochhala, S. M., and Bhatia, M. (2006) Preprotachykinin-A gene products are key mediators of lung injury in polymicrobial sepsis. *J. Immunol.* 176(6): 3813-3820.
- 195. Qin, S., Wang, H., Yuan, R., Li, H., Ochani, M., Ochani, K., Rosas-Ballina, M., Czura, C. J., Huston, J. M., Miller, E., Lin, X., Sherry, B., Kumar, A., Larosa, G., Newman, W., Tracey, K. J., and Yang, H. (2006) Role of HMGB1 in apoptosismediated sepsis lethality. *J. Exp. Med.* 203(7): 1637-1642.
- 196. Quinlan, K. L., Song, I., Naik, S. M., Letran, E. L., Olerud, J. E., Bunnett, N. W., Armstrong, C. A., Caughman, S. W., and Ansel, J. C. (1999) VCAM-1 expression on human dermal microvascular endothelial cells is directly and specifically upregulated by substance P. *J. Immunol.* 162(3): 1656-1661.

- 197. Ramnath, R. D., Ng, S. W., He, M., Sun, J., Zhang, H., Bawa, M. S. and Bhatia, M. (2006) *J. Organ Dysfunction* 2: 80-92.
- 198. Ray, C. A., Bowsher, R. R., Smith, W. C., Devanarayan, V., Willey, M. B., Brandt, J. T., and Dean, R. A. (2005). Development, validation, and implementation of a multiplex immunoassay for the simultaneous determination of five cytokines in human serum. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* 36(5): 1037–1044.
- 199. Reddy, R. C., Chen, G. H., Tekchandani, P. K., and Standiford, T. J. (2001) Sepsis-induced immunosuppression: from bad to worse. *Immunol. Res.* 24(3): 273-287.
- 200. Regoli, D., Drapeau, G., Dion, S., and D'Orléans-Juste, P. (1989) Receptors for substance P and related neurokinins. *Pharmacology* 38(1): 1-15.
- 201. Remick, D. G. (2007). Pathophysiology of sepsis. Am. J. Pathol. 170(5): 1435-1444.
- 202. Remick, D. G., Newcomb, D. E., Bolgos, G. L., and Call, D. R. (2000)
  Comparison of the mortality and inflammatory response of two models of sepsis:
  lipopolysaccharide vs. cecal ligation and puncture. *Shock* 13(2): 110–116.
- 203. Riedemann, N. C., Guo, R. F., and Ward, P. A. (2003) The enigma of sepsis. J. Clin. Invest. 112(4): 460-467.
- 204. Rittirsch, D., Hoesel, L. M., and Ward, P. A. (2007) The disconnect between animal models of sepsis and human sepsis. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 81(1): 137–143.
- 205. Rittirsch, D., Huber-Langm, M. S., Flierl, M. A., and Ward, P. A. (2009) Immunodesign of experimental sepsis by cecal ligation and puncture. *Nat. Protoc.* 4(1): 31-36.
- 206. Rizzo, C. A., Valentine, A. F., Egan, R. W., Kreutner, W., and Hey, J. A. (1999) NK(2)-receptor mediated contraction in monkey, guinea-pig and human airway smooth muscle. *Neuropeptides* 33(1): 27-34.
- 207. Roger, T., David, J., Glauser, M. P., and Calandra, T. (2001) MIF regulates innate immune responses through modulation of Toll-like receptor 4. *Nature* 414(6866): 920–924.
- 208. Roth, J., Vogl, T., Sorg, C., and Sunderkötter, C. (2003) Phagocyte-specific S100 proteins: a novel group of proinflammatory molecules. *Trends Immunol.* 24(4): 155-158.
- 209. Rozengurt, E. (1998) Signal transduction pathways in the mitogenic response to G protein-coupled neuropeptide receptor agonists. J. Cell Physiol. 177(4): 507-517.
- 210. Rozengurt, E. (2007) Mitogenic signaling pathways induced by G proteincoupled receptors. J. Cell Physiol. 213(3): 589-602.
- 211. Sabato, A. F., Santoro, G., Gatti, A., and Serafini, G. (2003) Receptor alterations in burn patients. *Annals of Burns and Fire Disasters* vol. XVI n. 1: 3.
- 212. Salkowski, C. A., Detore, G., Franks, A., Falk, M. C., and Vogel, S. N. (1998) Pulmonary and hepatic gene expression following cecal ligation and puncture: monophosphoryl lipid a prophylaxis attenuates sepsis-induced cytokine and chemokine expression and neutrophil infiltration. *Infect. Immun.* 66(8): 3569-3578.
- 213. Schouten, M., Wiersinga, W. J., Levi, M., and van der Poll, T. (2008) Inflammation, endothelium, and coagulation in sepsis. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 83(3): 536–545.

- 214. Schramek, H. (2002) MAP kinases: from intracellular signals to physiology and disease. *News Physiol. Sci.* 17: 62-67.
- 215. Schulze, A., and Downward, J. (2001) Navigating gene expression using microarrays – a technology review. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3(8): E190-E195.
- 216. Severini, C., Improta, G., Falconieri-Erspamer, G., Salvadori, S., and Erspamer,V. (2002) The tachykinin peptide family. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 54(2): 285-322.
- 217. Shaywitz, A. J., and Greenberg, M. E. (1999) CREB: a stimulus-induced transcription factor activated by a diverse array of extracellular signals. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 68: 821-861.
- 218. Shin, G. S., Lee, B. H., Lee, S., Chung, S. Y., Kim, M., Lim, J., Kim, Y., Kwon, H. J., Kang, C. S., and Han, K. (2003) Monokine levels in cancer and infection. *Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci.* 33(2): 149-155.
- 219. Siegemund, M., Van Bommel, J., Sinaasappel, M., Schwarte, L. A., Studer, W., Girard, T., Vollebregt, K., and Ince, C. (2007) The NO donor SIN-1 improves intestinal-arterial PCO<sub>2</sub> gap in experimental endotoxemia: an animal study. *Acta Anaesthesiol. Scand.* 51(6): 693–700.
- 220. Singleton, K. D., and Wischmeyer, P. E. (2003) Distance of cecum ligated influences mortality, tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6 expression following cecal ligation and puncture in the rat. *Eur. Surg. Res.* 35(6): 486–491.
- 221. Sinnett-Smith, J., Santiskulvong, C., Duque, J., and Rozengurt, E. (2000) [D-Arg(1),D-Trp(5,7,9),Leu(11)]Substance P inhibits bombesin-induced mitogenic signal transduction mediated by both G(q) and G(12) in Swiss 3T3cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275(39): 30644-30652.

- 222. Smith, J. A. (1994) Neutrophils, host defense, and inflammation: a double-edged sword. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 56(6): 672-686.
- 223. Solway, J., and Leff, A. R. (1991) Sensory neuropeptides and airway function. J. Appl. Physiol. 71(6): 2077-2087.
- 224. Song, G. Y., Chung, C. S., Chaudry, I. H., and Ayala, A. (1999) What is the role of interleukin 10 in polymicrobial sepsis: anti-inflammatory agent or immunosuppressant? *Surgery* 126: 378-383.
- 225. Sprong, T., Pickkers, P., Geurts-Moespot, A., van der Ven-Jongekrijg, J., Neeleman, C., Knaup, M., Leroy, D., Calandra, T., van der Meer, J. W., Sweep, F., and van Deuren, M. (2007) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) in meningococcal septic shock and experimental human endotoxaemia. *Shock* 27(5): 482-487.
- 226. Sriskandan, S., and Altmann, D. M. (2008). The immunology of sepsis. J. Pathol. 214(2): 211-223.
- 227. Sundén-Cullberg, J., Norrby-Teglund, A., Rouhiainen, A., Sundén-Cullberg, J., Norrby-Teglund, A., Rouhiainen, A., Rauvala, H., Herman, G., Tracey, K. J., Lee, M. L., Andersson, J., Tokics, L., and Treutiger, C. J. (2005) Persistent elevation of high mobility group box-1 protein (HMGB1) in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock. *Crit. Care Med.* 33(3): 564–573.
- 228. Szabó, C. (2007) Hydrogen sulphide and its therapeutic potential. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 6(11): 917–935.
- 229. Takahashi, H., Tashiro, T., Miyazaki, M., Kobayashi, M., Pollard, R. B., and Suzuki, F. (2002) An essential role of macrophage inflammatory protein

1alpha/CCL3 on the expression of host's innate immunities against infectious complications. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 72(6): 1190-1197.

- 230. Tan, S. L., and Parker, P. J. (2003) Emerging and diverse roles of protein kinaseC in immune cell signalling. *Biochem. J.* 376(Pt 3): 545-552.
- 231. Tang, G. J., Yang, Y. L., and Kou, Y. R. (2002) Involvement of tachykinin NK(1) and NK(2) receptors in changes in lung mechanics and airway microvascular leakage during the early phase of endotoxemia in Guinea pigs. *J. Biomed. Sci.* 9(5): 415-423.
- 232. Trinchieri, G., Pflanz, S., and Kastelein, R. A. (2003) The IL-12 family of heterodimeric cytokines: new players in the regulation of T cell responses. *Immunity* 19: 641–644.
- 233. Trushin, S. A., Pennington, K. N., Carmona, E. M., Asin, S., Savoy, D. N., Billadeau, D. D., and Paya, C. V. (2003) Protein kinase C alpha (PKC alpha) acts upstream of PKC theta to activate IkappaB kinase and NF-kappaB in T lymphocytes. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 23(19): 7068-7081.
- 234. Ulloa, L., and Tracey, K. J. (2005) The "cytokine profile": a code for sepsis. *Trends Mol. Med.* 11(2): 56-63.
- 235. van der Poll, T., and Deventer, S. J. (1999) Cytokines and anticytokines in the pathogenesis of sepsis. *Infect. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 13(2): 413-426.
- 236. Van Schoor, J., Joos, G. F., Chasson, B. L., Brouard, R. J., and Pauwels, R. A. (1998) The effect of the NK2 tachykinin receptor antagonist SR 48968 (saredutant) on neurokinin A-induced bronchoconstriction in asthmatics. *Eur. Respir. J.* 12(1): 17-23.

- 237. Veron, M., Guenon, I., Nenan, S., Emonds-Alt, X., Advenier, C., Lagente, V., and Boichot, E. (2004) Interactions of tachykinin receptor antagonists with lipopolysaccharide-induced airway inflammation in mice. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 31(9): 634-640.
- 238. Viatour, P., Merville, M. P., Bours, V., and Chariot, A. (2005) Phosphorylation of NF-kappaB and IkappaB proteins: implications in cancer and inflammation. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 30(1): 43-52.
- 239. Vignali, D. A. (2000). Multiplexed particle-based flow cytometric assays. J. *Immunol. Methods* 243(1-2): 243–255.
- 240. Villa, P., Sartor, G., Angelini, M., Sironi, M., Conni, M., Gnocchi, P., Isetta, A. M., Grau, G., Buurman, W., van Tits, L. J. H., and Ghezzi, P. (1995) Pattern of cytokines and pharmacomodulation in sepsis induced by cecal ligation and puncture compared with that induced by endotoxin. *Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol.* 2(5): 549-553.
- 241. Vincent, J. L., Zhang, H., Szabó, C., and Preiser, J. C. (2000) Effects of nitric oxide in septic shock. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 161(6): 1781–1785.
- 242. Walley, K. R., Lukacs, N. W., Standiford, T. J., Strieter, R. M., and Kunkel, S. L. (1997). Elevated levels of macrophage inflammatory protein 2 in severe murine peritonitis increase neutrophil recruitment and mortality. *Infect. Immun.* 65(9): 3847-3851.
- 243. Walsh, D. T., Weg, V. B., Williams, T. J., and Nourshargh, S. (1995) Substance P-induced inflammatory responses in guinea-pig skin: the effect of specific NK1 receptor antagonists and the role of endogenous mediators. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 114(7): 1343-1350.

- 244. Wang, T., Hu, Y. C., Dong, S., Fan, M., Tamae, D., Ozeki, M., Gao, Q., Gius, D., and Li, J. J. (2005) Co-activation of ERK, NF-kappaB, and GADD45beta in response to ionizing radiation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280(13): 12593–12601.
- 245. Wei, X. Q., Charles, I. G., Smith, A., Ure, J., Feng, G. J., Huang, F. P., Xu, D., Muller, W., Moncada, S., and Liew, F. Y. (1995) Altered immune responses in mice lacking inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Nature* 375(6530): 408-411.
- 246. Wenzel, S. E., Balzar, S., Cundall, M., and Chu, H. W. (2003). Subepithelial basement membrane immunoreactivity for matrix metalloproteinase 9: association with asthma severity, neutrophilic inflammation, and wound repair. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 111(6): 1345-1352.
- 247. White, C. A., and Salamonsen, L. A. (2005) A guide to issues in microarray analysis: application to endometrial biology. *Reproduction* 130(1): 1-13.
- 248. Wiersinga, W. J., and van der Poll, T. (2007) Is the septic response good or bad? *Curr. Infect. Dis. Rep.* 9(5): 366-373.
- 249. Williams, R., Zou, X., and Hoyle, G. W. (2007) Tachykinin-1 receptor stimulates proinflammatory gene expression in lung epithelial cells through activation of NF-kappaB via a G(q)-dependent pathway. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 292(2): L430-L437.
- 250. Wilson, P. G., Manji, M., and Neoptolemos, J. P. (1998) Acute pancreatitis as a model of sepsis. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 41(Suppl A): 51-63.
- 251. Wisdom, R. (1999) AP-1: one switch for many signals. *Exp. Cell Res.* 253(1): 180-185.
- 252. Wu, C. C., Ruetten, H., and Thiemermann, C. (1996) Comparison of the effects of aminoguanidine and N omega-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester on the multiple

organ dysfunction caused by endotoxaemia in the rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 300(1-2): 99-104.

- 253. Wu, C. J., Conze, D. B., Li, T., Srinivasula, S. M., and Ashwell, J. D. (2006) Sensing of Lys 63-linked polyubiquitination by NEMO is a key event in NFkappaB activation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8(4): 398-406.
- 254. Wysocka, M., Kubin, M., Vieira, L. Q., Ozmen, L., Garotta, G., Scott, P., and Trinchieri, G. (1995) Interleukin-12 is required for interferon-gamma production and lethality in lipopolysaccharide-induced shock in mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25(3): 672–676.
- 255. Xiao, H., Siddiqui, J., and Remick, D. G. (2006) Mechanisms of mortality in early and late sepsis. *Infect. Immun.* 74(9): 5227–5235.
- 256. Yang, D., Chen, Q., Hoover, D. M., Staley, P., Tucker, K. D., Lubkowski, J., and Oppenheim, J. J. (2003) Many chemokines including CCL20/MIP-3α display antimicrobial activity. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 74(3): 448-455.
- 257. Yano, H., Wershil, B. K., Arizono, N., and Galli, S. J. (1989) Substance Pinduced augmentation of cutaneous vascular permeability and granulocyte infiltration in mice is mast cell dependent. *J. Clin. Invest.* 84(4): 1276-1286.
- 258. Yu, M., Wang, H., Ding, A., Golenbock, D. T., Latz, E., Czura, C. J., Fenton, M. J., Tracey, K. J., and Yang, H. (2006) HMGB1 signals through toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 and TLR2. *Shock* 26(2): 174-179.
- 259. Zanetti, M. (2004) Cathelicidins, multifunctional peptides of the innate immunity.*J. Leukoc. Biol.* 75(1): 39-48.

- 260. Zegdi, R., Perrin, D., Burdin, M., Boiteau, R., and Tenaillon, A. (2002) Increased endogenous carbon monoxide production in severe sepsis. *Intensive Care Med.* 28(6): 793–796.
- 261. Zenz, R., Eferl, R., Scheinecker, C., Redlich, K., Smolen, J., Schonthaler, H. B., Kenner, L., Tschachler, E., and Wagner, E. F. (2008) Activator protein 1 (Fos/Jun) functions in inflammatory bone and skin disease. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 10(1): 201.
- 262. Zimmermann, K., Völkel, D., Pable, S., Lindner, T., Kramberger, F., Bahrami, S., and Scheiflinger, F. (2004) Native versus recombinant high-mobility group B1 proteins: functional activity in vitro. *Inflammation* 28(4): 221–229.
- 263. Zhang, H., Hegde, A., Ng, S. W., Adhikari, S., Moochhala, S. M., and Bhatia, M. (2007) Hydrogen sulfide up-regulates substance P in polymicrobial sepsis-associated lung injury. *J. Immunol.* 179(6): 4153-4160.
- 264. Zhang, H., Zhi, L., Moochhala, S., Moore, P. K., and Bhatia, M. (2007) Hydrogen sulfide acts as an inflammatory mediator in cecal ligation and puncture-induced sepsis in mice by upregulating the production of cytokines and chemokines via NF-kappaB. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 292(4): L960-L971.
- 265. Zhang, H., Zhi, L., Moore, P. K., and Bhatia, M. (2006) Role of hydrogen sulfide in cecal ligation and puncture-induced sepsis in the mouse. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 290(6): L1193-L1201.
- 266. Zhang, Y., Lu, L., Furlonger, C., Wu, G. E., and Paige, C. J. (2000) Hemokinin is a hematopoietic-specific tachykinin that regulates B lymphopoiesis. *Nat. Immunol.* 1(5): 392-397.

- 267. Zhao, D., Kuhnt-Moore, S., Zeng, H., Pan, A., Wu, J. S., Simeonidis, S., Moyer, M. P., and Pothoulakis, C. (2002) Substance P-stimulated interleukin-8 expression in human colonic epithelial cells involves Rho family small GTPases. *Biochem. J.* 368(Pt 2): 665–672.
- 268. Zhou, M., Chaudry, I. H., and Wang, P. (2001) The small intestine is an important source of adrenomedullin release during polymicrobial sepsis. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 281(2): R654-R660.
- 269. Zhu, S., Ashok, M., Li, J., Li, W., Yang, H., Wang, P., Tracey, K. J., Sama, A. E., and Wang, H. (2009) Spermine protects mice against lethal sepsis partly by attenuating surrogate inflammatory markers. *Mol. Med.* 15(7-8): 275-282.